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Author’s Note


This memoire written in 7 parts is my own work. Names and places mentioned are fictitious to protect confidentiality under the Data Protection Act 1998.

Part 1 is based on my real life experiences of working in the Healthcare sector, seen by ‘Fresh Eyes’ from a Whistleblower’s perspective. It is an honest and true expression of both the best side and the worse side of how patients are dealt with and treated in healthcare settings. It shows the dedication and professionalism of Doctors, Nurses and Healthcare Assistants. It also exposes the Dark Side of some staff who neglect patient care and in doing so endanger their lives.

Part 2 is based on my experiences of studying Nursing at a University. It shows how Universities and Healthcare staff are able to collaborate to abuse Student Nurses who speak on behalf of the patients and identify malpractices. They can be dishonest and corrupt and can resort to any means to punish students who speak out. They join hands with each other, manipulate the facts, paint a distorted picture of the students and dishonestly lower their grades and report lies with impurity. Unfortunately, biased University Tutors have authority to fail a student on a made up academic grounds and students are left helpless as no one can intervene in their decision however wrong it might be. As a Whistleblower, I faced continuous ongoing discrimination and detriments to my education and work after I identified drug administration errors at a Psychotic Hospital. What the University did to me is exposed in this part of my book. All statements are evidence based.

Part 3 explains how the University dealt with my formal complaint. Again the University staff collaborated with others and tried to cover up corruption and wrong doings of their colleagues. University’s complaint procedures in place are totally ineffective and only used to cover up and show compliance.

Part 4 explains my struggle to get justice as a Whistleblower. Unfortunately, Justice turned a blind eye to the evidence that was presented to the Court of Law. In absence of legal representation, my case was dismissed within 2 days on a plea that the Whistleblowers law came into effect in April 2015 and does not cover my matter retrospectively. Hon Judge disagreed with my plea that I had faced continuous ongoing detriments after Whistleblowing as a Student Nurse.

Part 5 of the book narrates my struggle to approach Office of Independent Adjudicators (OIA) available as a last resort. This struggle took another 10 months to arrive at a disappointing decision yet again. OIA concluded in its outcome that University was responsible for many violations and wrongdoings in their procedures. None of the Fitness to Practice were justified (University applied 3 unjust FTP’s during my studies which can terminate a Nursing career). OIA suggested that the University should apologise and pay £1500 as compensation for my distress. There was no mention of rectifying the wrongs carried out and awarding my Nursing Degree to me. OIA completely ignored its own findings of the University’s dishonesty, the manipulating of my grades, corruption and lies to stop me from qualifying as a Nurse. OIA did not punish the University for its Wrongdoings. An empty apology and £1500 does not equate to the wrongs done, the theft of a Nursing Degree. 

Part 6 includes my last attempt to get help in the light of OIA’s outcome. Armed with OIA’s report, I approached Government Hierarchy, Educational and Placement settings to seek their help and support without success.

Part 7 concludes where I am now. Prior to starting my Nursing studies, I was working in Healthcare Sector as a Specialist Nursery Nurse. I am working as a Healthcare Assistant from the last 7 years and fighting for my Nursing Degree.



Background
I always realised that there were some basic elements of nursing trait in me while fulfilling immediate medical needs of my family.
With a Masters in Public Administration and 15 years of white collar prestigious work experience in Banking and Finance, I got married and moved to UK. Professionally, it was completely a different world where each employer required ‘UK experience’ without giving regard to my extensive work experience. 
Thereafter, I started worked in Childcare Sector for about 3 years. I was assessed and considered ‘Qualified by Experience’ NVQ2 (National Vocational Qualification) and got enrolled on a funded NVQ3 place. I studied and qualified as Nursery Nurse and worked in the main stream school for 6 months to cover maternity leave. I also volunteered at a Supplementary School for 3 years. 
On completion of my contract at the school, I joined National Health Services Complex Needs Children Team as a Specialist Nursery Nurse. I received practical training of various clinical skills to work in the community. My Line Manager was much appreciative of my clinical skills. However, this worked adversely for me amongst some staff when Line Manager appraised my skills and asked others to put more effort.
I applied for a Wider Secondment for Nursing Training and remained unsuccessful due to discretion of the people in authority. Thereafter, I resigned from my full time job with a heavy heart on securing an unconditional place to undertake BSc Nursing at a renowned University.
I enrolled at the University to study Learning Disability Nursing, a full time three year BSc (Hon) Nursing programme leading to registration with the Nursing and Midwifery Council. 
I was keen to learn and borrowed my first bunch of books from the library including Florence Nightingale’s biography and other inspirational writings. At the same time, I started learning from the live lectures of a Medical School posted on social media, with great enthusiasm. I was feeling valued and empowered with this knowledge and the infinite learning opportunities without realising, what was in store for me!
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Abstract

I undertook work placements as part of the University’s Nursing Degree. Each year of study required working at two Placements where students work in Health Services relevant to their studies.  I successfully completed the first 2 Placements and received excellent feedback from the Mentors.  

At the third placement, a Psychotic Hospital, I reported two incidents of medication errors to my Mentor. I was not informed of any corrective measures taken to ensure safety of patients and to facilitate my learning. On the contrary, I experienced difficulties. I also reported this and other instances of wrongdoings to the Trust and the University. Thereafter, I started facing on-going detriment. These included being downgraded and failed in assessments, facing unmeritorious Fitness to Practice, distorting facts in investigation reports to cover-up wrongdoings; misrepresenting facts to the Authorities; distorting my image and reputation and withdrawing any support I would have had, unlawful and humiliating termination of PLO 5 and culminating in not qualifying to practise as a Nurse. 

I made Qualified Disclosure in the Public Interest and sought help from Healthcare and University Staff, Student Unions, Health Education England, Health Advisor, Regulatory Bodies, Voluntary Organisations and Government Hierarchy, but all to no avail. 

None of the above responded to my request to investigate the detriments I faced after whistle blowing. These include, but are not limited, to the following:
Abuse of Neglect, Breach of confidence, Breach of contract, Breach of duty of care, Breach of Nursing regulations, Bullying, Depriving patients of compassionate care, Discrediting of Reputation in Social Circles, Distress, Working extra Hours, Humiliating and Ill Treatment, Injury to Feelings, Injury to Motivation, Injury to Reputation, Injury to Self-actualisation, Injury to Self-esteem, Loss of Health, Loss of Honour, Loss of Income, Loss of Nursing Experience, Loss of Peer Support, Loss of Pride, Loss of Seniority, Loss of Time, Mental Abuse, Mental Torture, Psychological and Physical Abuse, Risk to Secure a Job, Sufferings of Family, Unfair Treatment, Unlawful Actions, Victimisation, and Wastage of Tax Payers Money. 
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Behind Closed Doors

The Nursing Home was busy in the winter month. Families visiting their loved ones filled the halls, alongside the familiar aroma of lunches being prepared for patients. I, a relatively new member of staff, picked up a tray of pureed food for the resident of room 201 on the first floor. The shift in-charge had updated in handover that Gene had not verbalised for the last 3 months, ever since she had been at the nursing home. She also needed full support for eating and drinking. Once I walked into the room, I realised that I'd seen her earlier, when I had come in for the scheduled continence support. The lady was in her mid-sixties with blisters covering her legs.
“Hello! My name is Farida, and I’m here with your lovely Sunday lunch! It is cod fish, creamed potatoes, and custard. Hmmm, smells nice!” I smiled at Gene with empathy in hope of establishing a comfort level with her, making her feel at ease. 

She returned my friendly gesture with a blank look. I ignored the absent reaction and carried on, placing her tray to the side table and sanitizing my hands. I began to feed her at an appropriate pace. I made sure not to rush her meal and I paused to gently wipe her mouth in between. When she was finished, I offered her sips of water from a beaker while talking to her about the framed photographs around her room, allowing her to recover from the exhaustion of yet another meal.
“Wow, Gene, these pictures are so beautiful. Let me wipe these lovely photos for you.”
 I wiped the frames one after another with wet wipes, complementing a photo of her enjoying herself at the beach. As I drew Gene’s attention to the memories surrounding her, her face lit up, and she revealed her once hidden smile. We both visited her past, and were only brought back to the present when a young woman and a gentleman entered the room shutting the door behind them.
“My daughter,” Gene said softly. 
I willed myself to not express my surprise at hearing her speak and invited the two visitors inside. Gene introduced her daughter and son in-law to me, and asked me to turn on the lights in a rather content voice. 
I complied and left the room, all the while contemplating and reflecting OK what had just accrued! 
It had cost nothing to develop a sense of comfort and ease with Gene, except compassion; a strong force that she hadn’t truly felt during the three months of her stay at the nursing home. She had withdrawn her speech, as a protest. 
I made a note to this effect in the Admin Office, and informed the team of my discovery.
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Lifeline
The dining hall of a Nursing Home was decorated with red roses and beautifully wrapped napkins on each table in the winter. A fresh and sunny outside view from the windows was giving it a pleasant look. Shelly, a resident at the Home, was smartly dressed with matching shoes and a hand bag. She anxiously looked towards the corridor at her best friend, Mr Rex, as I wheeled him for the mid-day tea from his room. 
When I was on my lunch break, a sudden ‘lifeline pendant’ alarm went off, giving everyone anxiety for the safety of the residents. Although, I was ‘off duty,’ I left the room out of curiosity as the loud alarm continued to ring. I noticed the office administrator was struggling to open the room of Mr Rex using the emergency key, which apparently was not working. I asked her to call the emergency services or to have somebody climb into the room from outside using a ladder. The administrator, a lady, opted to call the Nursing Home Manager who was not traceable at that time. I returned to the staff room, overwhelmed with thoughts about Mr Rex and perplexed that seemingly no further effort was being made to reach him. The alarm persisted, now buzzing as if it was the norm of Nursing Home.
After a few minutes, I left the staff room again and noted that there was nobody present by the door of Mr Rex. I decided to approach him from the locked door.
 “Hello Rex, can you hear me? This is your friend Farida; we are unable to open the door and need your help. If you can hear me, please come to the door and open it. Hello Rex, can you hear me? Please come to the door. If you are on the floor, please crawl to the door and open it. We need your help.” 
Although I was worried, I still addressed him in a calm voice, stressing each word. After a few minutes, I heard a click and the door slowly opened. Mr Rex was on the floor in his wet black underwear and lifeline pendant around his neck. He was seemingly disoriented and cold and had scratched elbows. I immediately informed the Admin Office and the lady joined me. “Oh, what have you done, Rex?” she asked. I felt this question was quite inappropriate to be put to an unwell and distressed person. I suggested hoisting him onto his bed due to his unstable and traumatised condition: Admin took lead, ignored my suggestion and decided otherwise and hoisted Mr Rex into a chair.
10 minutes later, I heard a ‘thud’ and found Mr Rex on the floor again, this time with a bleeding forehead. 
The admin lady repeated in a monotonous voice: “Oh, what have you done, Rex?’”, as we hoisted him onto the bed. 
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Pink Diary 
I started my early shift in Female Medical ward. Another male student Nurse was also on the same shift. Handover was given by a newly qualified Nurse. 
I noticed blinds were drawn around Bed 5 in my Bay and no update was provided about that particular patient. At the start of my shift, I went to each patient to fulfil their immediate needs. I peeped behind the closed blinds. I saw a female patient with sharp features and blond short hair in her sixties lying on her back. 
She was holding a pink diary on her chest and her breathing was ‘shallow.’ Shocking pink nail paint was chipped off at places. Her table was nearly empty and no supportive equipment, oxygen or observation machine was there. I introduced myself and asked if she had any pain though she seemed far from feeling any pain or answer my question. Her face was indicative of ‘inner peace.’ I stroked her hand gently and assured her: “You will be fine.”
I returned with a heavy heart realising that she was an ‘End of Life’ patient. I felt sympathy for her as her family was not around. 
I started my shift as normal; serving breakfast and supporting the ‘Red Tray’ patients in eating and drinking. Thereafter, I started giving bed bath to each patient under my care.
Around 10:30 hrs, I was a shocked to see that bed 5 had been stripped off and the patient was not there anymore. I anxiously asked a very kind hearted Staff Nurse where the Patient was. She added to my anxiety by confirming that the patient had passed away! I enquired if the family had been informed and the reason why no hand over was given about this patient? 
She replied ‘New Nurses’ are different’ and the one who handed over this morning, considered her a dying patient and left her behind closed blinds ‘to die.’ 
I went to the washroom and cried with regret why I was not there to fill that gap when she was dying, realising that her family was not present by her side. 
I empathised with her death and shivered with the thought of dying in similar circumstances without my loved ones around me to say goodbye. 
Time of her death was recorded different from the actual.
One of the Research Tutors listened to my concerns regarding death of this patient and we both reciprocated with tears in our eyes that there was an immediate need for ‘Compassion in Nursing Practice.’ Tutor suggested and advised me to take up the role of a ‘Care Maker.’
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Luxury Double Room
A lovely couple resided in a luxury double room of a Nursing Home. That day, special arrangements were made for a scheduled family visit. Room was cleaned and deodorised, giving it a vibrant look with fresh flowers in sparkling vases.
The wife, with swollen feet and restricted mobility was successful to get staff’s to her satisfaction. The husband was served with extra dessert of his liking. I attended call buzzer and realised that the husband had been soiled for a long time with dried up pad but still was enjoying his favourite dessert.
Before the family’s arrival, a trained, young support worker was assigned a special task. She played the music and started having a ‘naughty’ conversation with the couple, making some sexy dance moves, by shaking her big boobs everywhere. “We are going to have fun tonight, are you ready baby? Come on dance with me.” Husband danced and wife watched him with a hesitant smile. 
After a while, family entered in the room and looked at Mum and Dad with a surprised smile. Young support worker announced: “We are having a party tonight, having fun baby, come on dance dance dance” and banged hip to hip with husband making a sound of exclamation. 
Family left satisfied after spending some time. 
Soon, the music had gone quiet and was replaced with a continuous, unattended sound of the buzzer, a call to request some basic care needs!!!
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Dementia Patient
I was given a 1-2-1 aggressive patient in Bay 3 bed 1. My Dementia patient, in his late 70’s, with a broken shoulder was admitted in the Hospital for the very first time. There was no previous record of his attendance. Granddaughter brought him in A&E and left. Patient was transferred to a male Medical Ward.
 It was night time and the 6 ft tall very handsome patient was getting up from his bed to ‘lock the doors and turn off the lights’ without realising his own condition or whereabouts. 
I introduced myself and offered the patient a drink. He was very determined to perform his night time routine tasks of checking the doors and turning off the lights. I explained to him that he was in the Hospital because he fell from the stairs at home and broke his shoulder.
I adjusted his bed using bed controls to facilitate him to remain on his back as he was very strong man and was attempting to get up forcefully.
He asked me to help him and also threaten to terminate my services in case of non-compliance: “Pack your bags and look for another house. I will not employ you,” he added. 
Due to his condition, patient was in a continence pad. Checking and changing his pad was challenging. 
By this time, he was getting physically aggressive. I changed my strategy. 
I took him to his past and asked questions: “How old were you when you got married? How old was your wife? What were you wearing? What was colour of your wife’s dress? Where did you meet her? Was it a love marriage? What was the colour of your first car? What was your profession? How many children do you have? What is your favourite holiday place? What is your favourite food? Do you cook?”
He was settled and calm now, completely a different person. He was holding my hand. 
Patient was coming back to present and insisting on checking the doors. I assured him that all the doors were closed and locked and lights were turned off (by this time ward’s lights were turned off). 
Patient said: “I will not renew your contract. I am not employing you. You pack your bags and look for another house.”
A drink was offered but the patient refused. I added: OK I am making myself a cup of tea. I got my tea and sat in a staff chair the middle of the bay, at a distance from patient. His eyes were following me. After few minutes he said: “Where has that lady gone?” Knowing where I was and listening to him. He addressed me: “Can I have a sip of your lovely cup of tea?” 
“Sorry you cannot have mine. I can make you one if you like” I replied.

I offered him a drink and he drank 200mls tea. I checked his pad which was dry as he had no fluid all day and now he just had his first cup of tea. 
It was after mid night when patient started having cat naps. I offered him water and juices and he had couple of sips every time. 
By the morning his pad was wet and he had managed to get some sleep as well.
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Eat England Out
I was given a 1-2-1 night shift with the same Dementia patient with broken shoulder after 3 weeks. 
I was astonished to see him. His bed was tilted to keep him on the bed. He looked drowsy and weak.
My Nurse informed me that the patient had deteriorated very quickly and it will be a big achievement if I am able to support him to sit up by the morning and persuade him to have a few sips of water. Nurse concluded that: “He had given up.”
I was feeling a bit low and sad to hear about the patient. I adjusted his bed to normal position, covered him with blanket and introduced myself, referring to the previous shift I worked with him. He opened his blue eyes and reciprocated holding my hand with a weak grip. 
Patient was given choice of hot drinks and I asked him what he would like to drink. A HCA passing by commented: “Do not give him anything, he will get up and hit staff.” 
Her comment left a big question mark in my mind: “Was patient deprived of eating and drinking?”
I made the patient sit up in the bed, wiped his eyes and face with a towel dipped in warm water. Patient opened his eyes and appreciated my support saying: “Thank you” in a content voice. He was noticing and looking around the bay. 
Patient was given a choice of biscuits and light snacks available in the kitchen. He had couple of biscuits and cup of tea. 
I left some yogurt, juice and fruit pots on the patient’s bed side table. Cheese & crackers and piece of cake were also there. 
I offered patient various food and drinks during the night. Another Nurse passing by commented: Do not give him food. He will eat England out.
By the morning, patient was sitting in his chair with fresh face. 
My Nurse was very pleased with this progress and appreciated my night support for the patient. 
I was reflecting upon the causes of Dementia patients’ quick deterioration after Hospital admission while going home.
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Mum

A female patient lost her Mum who had been admitted in another Hospital. Team was briefed in hand over, explaining that the patient was distressed and tearful. Her daughter broke the news of her Grandmother’s death to her Mum and she took it bravely at the time. 

I paid extra care and answered the buzzer, without showing the patient that I was aware of her situation. However, after midnight, she came to the nursing station in tears and was unable to speak. She gave me a mobile phone, bank card and a message written on a paper and returned to her bed. 

Her note read: You are a very kind Nurse and I only request you to top up my card for £10 using my bank card. I will be highly obliged for this favour.

I showed this message to the Nurse in-charge and went to the patient. I explained my situation and had a therapeutic conversation with her. She broke into tears and explained how she took the news bravely this morning about her mother. However, as she was writing a text message to her friend ‘My Mum died’; it hit her like a brick. 
I consoled her and explained that her Mum was free from the pain and sufferings. She reciprocated saying: “I do agree she is at a better place now, without any misery, but I am not happy the way the Hospital treated my Mum.” She explained how her grandson visited her Mum at 14:00hrs and when he went back at 22:00hrs, there was a new patient on her bed. He enquired about his grandma; the Nurse replied: ‘She had died’ and asked him if he wanted to see her in the Mortuary? The patient was crying and I was empathising with her. She stated that this Hospital was good as compared to the one where her mother had passed away. 

Then she narrated: “One day, she saw 2 dogs being taken to one of the side rooms of this Hospital and wondered what the dogs were doing in the Hospital. The patient on the next bed commented: Someone was dying and the dogs were brought in at the request of the patient to say final goodbyes. Later, when patients were behind the blue blinds and it was very quiet, they heard a trolley going through the ward.” She continued, “How gracefully the Hospital had sent off a dead person, while the other Hospital treated my Mum so badly.” She was very upset and angry about it. 
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I was given a twilight shift to support a patient with Parkinson disease in a 4 beds Bay. There were only two patients at the start of my shift.

Patient on Bed 1 was a new admission. There was no folder around his bed and nothing was recorded on the handover sheet. 

I introduced myself to the patients and started baseline observations. Patient at bed 3 refused observations. Other patient had 4 triggers of low blood pressure, high heart rate, low body temperature and low oxygen saturation level in the body. I informed the Doctor available and Nurse in-charge. Patient was clammy and cold with dry mouth. I covered him with blankets and asked the Nurse about offering him a hot drink. Patient managed to drink a full beaker of warm tea through lots of prompts and encouragement.

Shortly, a young Doctor was there to provide timely intervention. (Patient was being cannulised, meeting the challenge was difficult as his veins were hard to trace). Another Doctor joined the first Doctor and the then the two of them managed to start IV (Intra Venous) fluids. Thereafter, a Senior Doctor arrived to assess the patient and they managed to put additional cannula on the patient’s left arm to run the fluids. The first bag of 1000mls emptied and a second bag was started at the speed of 500mls per hour.  Oxygen was prescribed using a venture mask. Patient was bending his arms close to his chest which was blocking infusion and triggering an alarm. I was motivating and rewarding the patient with empathy and therapeutic communication to keep his arms straight.

Second infusion bag was still half full when I witnessed that the Nurse looking after the bay came in and discarded the half filled infusion bag in the bin and started a new 1000mls bag. She took out its connection from the infusion pump to stop the buzzing of the alarm and pretended that she was running it directly. Now, a fresh infusion bag was in place but it was not running for the rest of the night. Nurse also removed patient’s Venture Mask and put him on a Nasal Cannula. 

I returned from my break around 06:00hrs and noticed that the infusion bag was still full because the patient was bending his arm and infusion was not running. I went to the Nurse and requested if she could connect the infusion bag to the pump machine as it was not working. She replied that she had already checked and tht it was running, which was not true.

I performed baseline observations of the patient and noted the 4 triggers. I informed the Nurse about the triggers and stated again that infusion was not running and I was aware that half of the second bag of 1000mls had been discarded. She was shocked to hear that I knew and immediately started pump infusion at the speed of 250mls per hour.  I managed to encourage the patient to keep both arms straight as he was holding my hand for reassurance and comfort.

The same young Doctor visited in the morning and was stunned to hear the different story from the Nurse. I was unable to tell the truth to the Doctor that as he left last night, patient’s treatment had not been continued due to priority of Nurse’s personal comfort over the patient’s health. This was professional dishonesty.

I literally stood by the patient’s bed for 45 minutes, keeping both his arms at an angle to run the IV fluids successfully and keeping Oxygen Nasal Cannula close to his nostrils as he refused to put it on. 

After 45 minutes I took the observations, his body temp improved from 34 to 34.9; oxygen level slightly improved to 87 and Blood Pressure from 81/54 to 84/56.

I suggested to decision makers that for deteriorating patients, the Nurse in-charge must ensure prompt interventions according to changing condition of patients.
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Washing the Dead

My first experience of giving bath to a deceased female was shocking because of the attitude of the Nurse in charge. 

I knew this lady from before due to her numerous Hospital admissions. Now, both her legs had been amputated due to severity of her diabetes. I prepared the washing bowl with luck warm water and liquid soap. 

The Nurse informed me that she had everything and instructed me to come and lead washing of the deceased. 

I started removing the gown and asked Nurse for a towel before uncovering the body. The Nurse took off the dirty pillow cover and put it on the body. She stayed away from the body and complained about the odour, waving her hand around her nose. I smelled nothing. 

I gave deceased a good wash with soft and gentle hands as, like I myself would like to be washed. 

The Nurse dried the dead body using the dirty gown I had removed because she had brought no towel. I could not believe my eyes what I witnessed!!!
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Five Complaints
I was informed during my night shift that I have to be very careful while dealing with a middle aged female patient who sent 5 complaints to the CEO of the Hospital and some staff were suspended as a consequence.
I knew this patient from my previous shifts because she was going out of the ward often to smoke a cigarette along with other smoker patients.
This time she was very vocal and verbally aggressive while dealing with the staff due to the serious action taken by the Hospital Management following her complaints. 
I was assigned Bay 1 and Bay 2. Despite the fact that I was not working in her bay, she was specifically calling me and giving me instructions to support her and other female patients in her bay. She was playing leading role and was criticising staff including myself. I heard her giving some negative comments about individual staff while talking to the other patients.
Later, I had seen her condition deteriorating and ending up in a side room. She pulled out her cannula while red blood cells were given to her. Side room floor was full of spilled blood.
I reflected and wondered why some of the staff had been suspended without assessing the credibility of the patient’s complaint.
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Challenging Behaviour
I was given a night shift in A&E of the Hospital. Most patients were brought in A&E by the Ambulance staff in response to 999 calls. 
The duty Doctor requested me to support a very aggressive elderly patient with Dementia in one of the cubicles. I was informed that no staff was able to go close to the patient because he was biting, scratching, kicking and punching everyone including Doctors. His medication was dispensed but not administered. 
I put on the gloves to protect my hands and went to the patient: “Hello, my name is Farida. How are you feeling today?” I extended my hand. 
He looked at me and extended his hand. I held his hand and explained that I will be supporting him for the night and will finish my duty at 07.30hrs tomorrow morning. I was providing him extra details to make him interested and distract from displaying negative behaviour. I explained to him the variety of food available in the Hospital kitchen and asked what he would like to eat. Patient had a sandwich, yogurt and a cup of coffee. His medication was administered without any difficulty. He was relaxed and smiling.
I gave him extra pillows to sit up. Cleaned his face with warm wet towel and combed his hair. 
The duty Doctor and staff were very pleased with his progress. 
It is amazing how easy it is to support a challenging patient with the use of effective communication, a bit of care and compassion.  
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Portable Commode
In a rehabilitation ward, a female patient requested a commode with tears in her eyes. I gave her a commode and two more elderly female patients requested for a commode in the same bay. I was wondering why the patients were so desperate to use commode and why they were shaking and sobbing and were in tears.  
3 of the patients used commode and thanked me. One of them kissed my hand while saying thanks.
Later, I discovered the mystery of their strange behaviour. The Nurse in charge and HCA strictly instructed that none of the patients were allowed to use commode. Otherwise they make staff’s life miserable by asking for commode all night. Therefore, only bedpan was to be given to the patients.
I strongly disagreed with their view point. I was stressed while empathising with patients using a hard bedpan digging in their sacrum.
What a pity and how sad, I was ready to give patients the commode but my hands were tied.
This is one of the worst forms of physical and emotional abuse to deny patients rights and dignity due to staff’s comfort.
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Medicine in the Bin
During one of my night shifts in a surgical ward, I noticed that the Nurse looking after the bay was dispensing medication and telling bed bound patients in a monotonous voice: This is your medication, and leaving them without making sure they took the medicine
Most patient’s medication were present on their tables. Some tablets found on the patients beds and on the floor. The Nurse left medication without realising that they needed full support. She did not put any effort to administer medication.
Later, I was left with no choice but to suspect, I reflect and realise that the Nurse left medication intentionally because in her next round she picked up all medications and discarded it in the bin.
This was criminal on part of such staff and the Nurse involved in this incident willingly neglected the patient care.
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Palliative Care 

I was assigned A Bay with 6 beds, a patient from B Bay, side room 1 and a Palliative care patient in side room 2.  
It was reported in hand over that patient in side room 2 had stopped eating and drinking.  
I went to side room 2 and noticed that the female patient was served custard for supper. The “Red Tray” (used for patients who needs full mealtime support) was untouched for the obvious reason that meal time support and assistance had not been provided. 
There was another red tray patient in A Bay with swallowing problem. Pureed meal was delivered and I supported the patient for her supper. 
After finishing with her, I went to support side room 2 but her red tray had been taken away. 
I decided to offer her food from the fridge after consulting my Nurse in charge. Patient ate nearly all of caramel yoghurt and half a pot of pureed pear. 
Patient was talking to me and opted for full lunch and supper for the next day. 
She had 20mls of water with supper and 30mls in the late evening. 

I suggested to the authorities that palliative (terminally ill) and “End of Life” patients should be offered food with assistance as long as they tolerate. 
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Bandage

Handover was given by a the Nurse in charge who explained about the side room patient, a male, 42 years of age, a difficult patient who did not comply with treatment or instructions. Nurse was documenting everything because the patient had complained. I was given a 1-2-1 patient and the Nurse in charge asked me to work in the Middle Bay with 4 beds (One of them was my 1-2-1 patient) and side rooms 1, 2, 3 and 4.  We were 3 HCAs and 3 Nurses working that night. 

Two of the side room patients were infected with C diff (Clostridium difficile) infection. I answered call buzzer from side room 3. The patient requested for a bandage for his dripping surgical stomach wound. I conveyed this to the Nurse. She instructed me to convey to the patient that only one bandage was allowed per day.
 
I went to answer the second call buzzer of SR3. The patient seemed distressed and complained of pain with a request for medication.  Nurse came while I was still there and suggested 3 pain killers to the patient in a harsh manner saying you decide if you need any of them and I will come after 10 min to check. Later, the Nurse explained to us that she went to the patient and he did not respond to her. Therefore, no medication was given.
 
Buzzer sounded again. The patient had taken a shower. No bandage was covering the long surgical scar, clearly showing staples. He showed me the lightly blooded water on towels by pressing the wound gently. The patient requested for a bandage again. He started vomiting with loud gagging, complained of pain and requested medication. I conveyed this to the Nurse but she refused any support. 

I was going back and forth to SR 3 all night. His doctor was informed. Nurse left a trolley by the door of side room 3 with some bandage packs on it. I had a polite word with the patient and explained to him that in case he was indecisive about the pain medication, he should have asked the Nurse to give him any. 

Colostomy bag was attached by the side of Patient’s scar. I was not sure if the fluids were coming from the colostomy site as well.   I informed the Nurse about my conversations.  

Another elderly HCA came after me to answer the next buzzer. Before asking him what he wanted and how we could help, HCA conveyed to the patient that he must not use ladies shower (SR 3 patient had already complained that male shower room stinking). At this point the two of them had an argument. 

As we returned back to the nursing station, the elderly HCA said to me: “Don’t you think he needs to be blown up from his back side?”  I was left speechless.

The buzzer broke silence after mid night. The patient showed his T- Shirt, wet on operation and colostomy site and requested for a bandage. No luck, this request was refused again. 

Patient walked to the nursing station. He showed that his wound was dripping and requested for a bandage. At the same time, whilst passing by the elderly HCA, he said to her: “Sorry for the last night…I apologise.”  HCA ignored him. The patient left and I appreciated him and said to HCA at least he realised and showed a courtesy to apologise. She replied: “I do not accept.”
Buzzer went again and patient asked me to help him to cover the wound using two ladies sanitary pads and scotch tape. I complied and I changed his bed as the sheets were wet with the same dripping. I gave him a fresh jug of water and offered him a hot drink. The patient stated that being in the Hospital was a punishment. He apprised some other Nurses who were nice to him. Finally, the patient managed to catch-up some sleep. This patient had been reported for self-discharge and readmitted again on Consultant’s strict instructions. 

It was an extremely tiring night for me as I was instructed to record hourly Fluid Balance for 5 patients and perform hourly observations for one C diff patient, in addition to routine duties and attending SR 3 without any help from the Nurse. Each urine bottle and colostomy bag contents had to be weighed and recorded on an hourly basis. Continence care was provided without my Nurse’s help to various patients during the night including both soiled C diff patients.
 
It was a very busy time of the morning while I was performing observations, tilts, and emptying catheter bags, giving patients commodes etc. when my Nurse asked me to inform her about triggers of 8 patients, even though this information was recorded on their observation charts.
  
I finished my work at 08:00hrs though shift ended at 7:30hrs. 
 
I proposed to decision makers: I still believe that a web page is the need of the hour to post what we, as HCAs, experience / witness during our shifts. This will go a long way to improve patient care.
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Thirst

I was assigned 1-2-1 night shift with patient on bed 3, reported as displaying aggressive behaviour. I introduced myself to the patient in a calm manner and supported him to meet his needs and settled him in the bed. He was asleep within next 15 minutes. 

Thereafter, I performed night time baseline observations for 5 patients in the Bay. There was another staff assigned 1-2-1 duty with a patient at Bed 6 in the same Bay. He was a male Nurse performing night shift in the capacity of HCA through an agency. 
 
Tilts and continence care was provided with the help of a female HCA. I will call her P for ease of reading. P was loud and harsh with patients and staff. She was addressing me as a ‘Sister,’ a newly qualified Staff Nurse as ‘Aunty’ with her name, and to an elderly Staff Nurse as ‘Grand Ma’.
 
After a little while, P started opening the windows of my bay and tied the blinds with plastic apron. Patients were shivering and complaining about the freezing cold wind blowing in the winter month of January. Extra blankets were given to patients. The newly qualified Nurse commented loudly: “P is having hot flushes” with laughter whilst standing in middle of the bay, administering medication. She did not dare to close the windows or ask anyone to close, despite patients’ hue and cry. 

My 1-2-1 patient was settled and asleep. I asked the Nurse about offering drink to the patient on the next bed who was reportedly refusing oral intake and had a Nasal Gastric tube in place after having a stroke.
 
On getting approval from the Nurse, I had a good conversation with the patient and explained how important it was to keep the system working to help quick recovery- and what happened when we say yes to a drink- and how body sends the message and starts preparing to receive the drink. 

I was very happy when the patient agreed to have a drink and during the night, he showed great progress. He was given thickened juice, tea and coffee, 700mls in total and tolerated all. 

He then had a good night sleep. I informed the Nurse after giving each drink to comply with the protocol.  

In the morning Nurse said to the patient in a light mood: I am very sad you do not drink from me and had drinks from this lovely Nurse.  Ward Sister was amazed with the fluid intake progress.

My 1-2-1 patient was settled and asleep. On Bed 5, a confused patient was assessed by duty Nurse and Senior Night Staff to pass a catheter since there was no urine output. Bladder scanner had been used earlier but staff was unable to determine at what level of urine retention a catheter should be passed using all online resources including Royal Marsden Manual.
  
I had observed that no fluids were offered to the patient and asked the duty Nurse if I could offer him a drink. On affirmation I supported him and he had few thickened drinks. By the morning, his fluid balance was positive and showed normal results. He was successfully passing urine and output was good.

I kept the Nurse informed and weighed continence pads and recorded fluid input / output. I had observed and in doing so determined the cause of patient’s condition.

My 1-2-1 patient was settled and asleep. There was a young patient on Bed 4, and infusion was running for the patient on Bed 1; both were bed bound. I made them drinks as well and all 5 patients had a very settled night with good sleep.
 
Patient on Bed 6 was not offered any drink all night.1-2-1 HCA remained busy with his mobile phone, with head phones on. Nurse in charge offered the patient crushed medication with water in a syringe. Patient was confused and epileptic. In the morning, looking at patient’s fluid balance chart, Nurse enquired about the night time fluids given to the patient. HCA replied: “Patient refused.” 

This was not true. The patient had not been offered any drink during the night. 

In the morning while handover was in progress, Bed 6 patient’s breakfast was served. HCA did not provide patient feeding support. He stood up couple of minutes before end of the shift, picked up a spoon full of porridge and then took it away from patient’s mouth while he looked at the clock. He put down the spoonful without offering it to the patient and left. 

That night HCA P spent most of her time on computer and proudly said to staff: “My sister is looking after my Bay.”

I worked quietly making my own decisions to look after the patients. A feeling of satisfaction was there when I was returning home. 
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Go Back

I was given 1-2-1 night shift with the same patient at bed 3. 

At the start of the shift, I was shocked to see that my patient was stripped off. He was in his continence pad only and displaying verbal and physical aggression. Nothing was around him bedside empty table. Patient’s belongings, including his clothes and shoes were packed and kept away. 

I discovered that the patient wanted to dress up and go home. Therefore he had been stripped off. By whom, I was not informed. The patient was from a neighbouring country and was abusing England for alleged bad treatment by Hospital staff. I witnessed staff passing by were commenting and teasing him by saying: “Go back to your country” which had triggered his condition, creating more challenges for me to keep him safe and calm. To cut the story short, it was a big hue and cry in the bay though he was admitted in the Hospital for support and treatment as a ‘confused patient.’

P (HCA) came in and asked me to do the baseline observations for all the patients in my Bay without realising what I was doing, as my patient was extremely upset. I replied: “I have to settle my 1-2-1patient first.”
 
I put the blinds on and greeted my patient, shook hands and asked: “What happened to my wonderful friend? Let’s dress you up first like a gentleman and then we will have a good chat.” I was communicating whilst dressing him up, appraising his sense of dressing. The patient was smiling and complying with my request. I offered him a drink with some cookies of his liking. He was soon settled and talking to me holding my hand- blinds were off now. 
 
 Whilst I was returning from the kitchen with my patient’s tea, HCA (P) said: “Oh you started again?”   

A night staff member from Site Office was enquiring about 1-2-1 staff. We were two 1-2-1 staff in the bay. Same HCA was given the 1-2-1 shift with the patient on bed 6. 

Now a row started between P and male 1-2-1 HCA. She said: “You have to look after the whole Bay and Farida will work in Bay C and D.” She told him bluntly: “Leave if you cannot do the job, Farida was the one who worked all night yesterday.” 

Some calls were made to the site office by two of them. Male 1-2-1 explained to me about the conversation which took place with site office. P did not like it.  

I was instructed to work in C and D bays. Nurse in charge was very nice and professional. As I was about to complete my observations and tilts, I was asked by P to do the tilts in Bay B as well which I complied.
 
After completing the tasks in C, D and B bays, I offered drinks to my assigned bay patients after asking permission of the Nurse in charge. Patient at bed 5 wet himself and I requested an extra ‘pair of hands’ to change him. P was very angry and harsh and commented loudly: “If you offer them drinks, they will wet the beds.”  

I replied politely: “We cannot deprive them of drinks, just to avoid bed wetting.”

1-2-1 HCA with bed 6 went on his break and I was mindful that the patient had not been offered any drink all night. It was an opportunity for me to save the patient from dehydration whilst covering the break. 

I asked permission of the Nurse to offer drink to the patient and she stated: “It will be a great help as he had none, except a small amount with syringe with medication.”

I explained and motivated the patient to have some drinks, using therapeutic communication with empathy. While adjusting his bed to support drinking and to sit him up right, the patient on bed 5 tried to come out of his bed and both P and the Nurse came to settle him. 

P told me harshly: “Do not give him a drink.”  
I replied in a determined voice: “I made his drink with the permission of my Nurse; do you have any problem with that?”  
P complained to the Nurse and asked her to stop me to offer the patient a drink.
 Although the Nurse was consulted before making a drink, yet she said: “Farida leave the drink till morning if he is asleep.”  Patient was awake and drank 200mls of tea.
 
In the morning, I prepared the breakfast trolley and everyone had their breakfast. I made porridge for the patient on bed 6 with his consent. 

Teams were handing over at the Nursing Station. I started feeding the patient on bed 6 as he had not been offered breakfast by 1-2-1 HCA. 

A morning shift HCA came leaving the handover and asked: “What was the male HCA was doing? And why I was feeding that patient?”  
I explained to the HCA: “If the patient is having breakfast from me then what was the problem?” 
She replied: “No, but it does not look good” and left. Patient had ¾ of porridge and I recorded this in his food chart.  

I believe most Hospital patients deteriorate due to dehydration and lack of meal time support.  The pain of this experience is took a while to heal and I did not book a shift in the whole month following this incident. 



[bookmark: _Toc26875758]
On the Floor

I was given a 1-2-1 night shift with a Dementia patient at bed 6. Care was provided, needs were met and patient was settled to sleep.

I was asked to check BM (Blood glucose Monitoring) for diabetic patients in Bay A, B, C, D and side rooms. I complied.

A patient in D Bay, Bed 3 was a Level 1 pathway palliative care male patient on hourly observations and fluid balance checks. He was having 15 litre oxygen and IV infusions. BP cuff was left on his arm and Sat probe on his finger. I was asked to perform hourly observations for this patient. 

    I noticed that the patient had very sticky eyes which he was unable to open. I asked permission of the Nurse in charge and cleaned his eyes using lukewarm water and gauze. I communicated with him whilst providing care. He opened his eyes for the first time that evening and complied with my polite request not to hold oxygen mask, which was stopping its flow and Sats were dropping. 

    His eyes were following me in the Bay as I empathised with him using therapeutic communication. I placed my chair at an angle to keep an eye on all 6 patients, as the patient on bed 2 was anxious and unsettled with high temperature.

     Patient on bed 3 was settled. The Nurse in charge took over and I proceeded to my break.

      On my return, I passed by the bay to place used linen in the skip. I noticed that bed 3 patient, with 15 litres oxygen and IV fluids running was on the floor. No staff was around. I immediately informed the staff at Nursing Station. 2 Nurses and a HCA settled the patient on his bed, behind closed curtains. They were laughing and chatting while attending the patient. I was not invited for help. When I checked the patient’s Sats (Oxygen Saturation of patient’s blood using a pulse oximeter)   were low which recovered gradually by the morning. The Nurse who took over from me was frequently going out for a cigarette.
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Professional Dishonesty
     
I was the only HCA with 4 Nurses on the night shift. I was instructed to start observations in D Bay. Many of the patients had long standing requests for commodes, change of wet beds, position change and cups of tea etc.

As I met the needs of D bay patients and completed observations, Shift leading Nurse M came and stated: Nurses are stressed in A and B bay, go and do the observations there and I will do the observations in C Bay. I met the patient’s needs and performed baseline observations of A and B bays. 

An Agency Nurse was given C Bay with a “Path 1” palliative patient, on hourly observations. She asked me to perform hourly observations for her patient. She was shocked to know that I was the only HCA for the entire ward. 

I asked M if she had done the observations in C Bay. She replied: I could not find time. ‘Thereafter, I performed observations in C Bay after midnight and thus completed observations in all 4 bays. 
Now M asked me to join her for tilts in D Bay. There were only two patients for tilts but she pretended that 3rd one was on tilts as well. I explained to her that this patient was able to use commode transfer from bed to commode without any help. She took more than one hour to do 2 tilts. M made a frowning face and instructed me to get him commode very reluctantly and left. Patient was in tears and asked me several times to cover him up. He said that he did not want a commode anymore as the Nurse in charge had upset him. I empathised with him and after much assurance he agreed to use a commode. 

Later, M went on her break and I started 2 hourly tilts and hourly observations due in C Bay. I was on my feet from start of my shift for 7 hours when Agency Nurse told me to have a drink. I only had a few sips when she told me to accompany a deteriorating patient for X-ray as the porter had arrived. 

I went for my break. Clocks changed that night and we lost an hour. Another Nurse suggested to M that Farida should do all 4 Bays, morning observations and BM checks. I started observations at 05:00hrs after completing BMs. Some of the patients were asking for urine bottles, bedpan, commode and drinks. 

I completed observations in A Bay and was in the middle of B Bay when M came and asked me: Have you done observations in the side rooms at night? 
I was shocked and extremely angry with her because they were 4 Nurses on duty and they had dumped all the tasks on me. At a normal shift, one HCA is assigned a maximum of 2 bays. 
Still I replied: I was not asked by any of the Nurses to perform side room observations. 
M said: Patient in side room is very angry that no one has done observations. You go, apologise to her and do her obs. 
I was very upset the way I was being treated. I asked her to call the site office as I wanted to talk to them. 
She phoned the site office and stated: Farida started observations at 05:00 and still in B Bay. She refuses to work now. 
Another Nurse joined M and said: She is very slow. 
I asked M: Would you like me to continue or wait for site office staff? 
She replied: Please continue. 

I went to B Bay. Second Nurse came and said: Last patient’s BP which you recorded as low was normal. 
It is my routine that I inform the Nurse straight away when observations show triggers showing abnormal readings. The reality is that some unprofessional and dishonest Nurses do not want HCA’s to report triggers. After I had performed observations and informed the Nurse, I witnessed the Nurse administering medication and serving a hot drink to the patient that would improved her BP. This was my first experience of receiving such comments from a Nurse. I did not argue but felt sad on professional dishonesty. 
 
A staff called S came from the site office. I informed her that M was very unkind and harsh, telling me off and asking to take responsibility of unrealistic amount of work during the whole shift. S appreciated my working in difficult circumstances and apologised for not providing anymore HCAs as staff was short.
 
I completed observations in C and D Bays when my shift ended. I was going home after putting observation machines on charge, M asked: Are you doing observations in side rooms?
I replied: No, and left as 2 of the Nurses were playing on their phones.

While going home, I was thinking about the insensitive behaviour of the Nurses I had worked with and reflected upon the whole experience. I concluded that I could have refused to work alone in such circumstances but decide otherwise because patients care needs to be met.
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Gone

My duty was in the Medical Ward. The shift leading Nurse was very happy to see me as we had worked together previously. The shift went smoothly. There was only one clean Bay and the rest were infected and closed. 

In my Bay, one patient was 1-2-1 and one on CPAP (Continuous Positive Air Pressure). Another patient deteriorated quickly and was put on CPAP. This patient was fine at the start of my shift. I had served him hot drink. He had been sitting in his bed and was very observant of what was going on in the Bay. He had asked some very appropriate and relevant questions about deteriorating patients. His bed was by the window. I partly fastened the blue blinds to keep him calm as he was becoming extremely anxious. I supported him using interactive therapeutic discussion with empathy, asking about his family and his profession. 

I noticed that he was having difficulty in breathing. I immediately monitored his oxygen level using a normal observation machine. His oxygen level was low. The Nurse in charge was informed and she instructed me to put him on 4 litres of oxygen (Due to infection prevention and control, I was not allowed to go out from my bay and the staff working with infected patients was not allowed to come in the bay). The patient improved briefly and then started deteriorating again. Doctors attended the patient and put him on 8 litres and then on 15 litres of oxygen. More than anything, the patient was very anxious to inform his wife about his condition, which was quite alarming for me. The patient was holding my hand for reassurance and support. I was lucky that my other 2 patients were stable.   

It was a struggle all night to keep the patient stable, using medical and emotional support. His condition was still critical. The family was informed in the early hours of the morning. Shortly, 4 members of the patient’s family including his wife were around his bed side.

I greeted the family and offered them hot drinks. The patient generously appraised my support and conveyed to his family that I had looked after him well.  

It was a relief to see that patient was sitting in his bed, talking and interacting with the family when I left.

The following day, I started my night shift in the same ward and the same Bay. I noticed there was a new patient on bed 4 by the window. Immediately my mind worked on 3 quick possibilities; the patient either recovered and was discharged, or the patient had been moved to another ward with more specialised services according to his condition, or.... my mind stopped working on the third possibility. I decided to find out about him.

Sadly, the patient had died that morning after I left. 
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PRN (pro re nata) 

The 1-2-1 night shift was assigned with a confused patient along with 3 Dementia more patients. I completed baseline observations and had brief therapeutic conversations with patients. I settled my patients in bed. 

Around 23:00hrs, my assigned patient started calling for his wife loudly and other patients got up anxiously. In the handover, it had been stated that he misses his wife which triggers his condition. The patient became noticeably aggressive, got up from his bed, threw the objects at the patients and tried to grab them. 

The patient’s condition was triggered because his PRN medication had not been administered by the Nurse. I tried talking to him in a calm manner to motivate him to return to his bed. He was not manageable by me and posted a threat to other patients and myself. 

I summoned help from other staff. The HCA sitting at the Nursing Station did not pay any attention and I had to repeat loudly: Can anyone help me please, I need help. 
While sitting there, the HCA enquired: What? 
I repeated my request: Can you please help me?
She reluctantly got up and said: You are 1-2-1, you Manage him. If you drag him, he will get angry.
I was astonished at her comments and responded: Excuse me, who dragged him?
She ignored my question. 

As I was asking for help, my patient kicked me hard on my back. 

HCA then added: If you will keep on asking for help then how will I work in my bay?’ 
The fact is that I requested help for the first time and it was nearly midnight. 

I had a word with the Nurse in-charge but she herself seemed scared of this HCA, who left for her break and did not return for a good 2 hours until Nurse knocked at her door.  She came out with a frowning face. 

The HCA was not willing to change and tilt the patients.  The Nurse instructed me to defer my break and help in tilting the patients. After giving these instructions, the Nurse went on her break. 

I proceeded to my break and returned. The Nurse in charge, who went on her break before me, had not returned. Another Nurse knocked at her door and after a few more knocks, The Nurse in-charge came out in an angry mood. 

I performed BM checks for all the bays and observations in my Bay. Thereafter, I answered calls from the patients as my 1-2-1 patient was asleep. 

In the morning, patient at bed C3 called me with hand gesture. He held my hand and said: You have done a wonderful job last night, thank you very much!

At 06:00hrs, my 1-2-1 patient was soaking wet but the Nurse decided not to wake him up. I asked my Nurse a few times as time was going by fast and my patient needed to be washed and changed. The Nurse was busy and I made my decision to wake him up. I washed and dressed the patient to get him ready for his breakfast. 
I finished my work at 07:45hrs though officially my shift completed at 07:30hrs. 
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Blood Pressure

I worked in Bay 1 and 4 side rooms. A 40 years old patient at Bed 4 was vomiting with stomach pains and had high BP ranging from 195/111 to 208/125. I immediately informed the Nurse about his high BP when I did his observations. 

I was not happy about the fact that when BP goes abnormally high leaving patients in grave danger, we do not report any trigger on a patient’s observation chart. This condition is not highlighted to alert Doctors. 

This patient was under hourly observations. The patients on bed 1 and bed 2 had 1-2-1 support. My Nurse was on her break and bed 4 patient had persistent high BP. I spoke to the Nurse leading the shift and she gave me a very unprofessional explanation:  Because the patient moves and does like this (she showed with a gesture), that gives the high BP. Check him again. I explained that I had checked on patient’s both arms and he was not moving. She remained busy on computer and paid no attention to me.
  
While going on my break, I requested the HCA to check patient’s BP at 03:00hrs. She replied: I will tell the Nurse to check, she will be back from her break by then.

I returned from my break and enquired from the Nurse if BP had been checked for patient at bed 4. She replied: Yes while playing a colourful game on her mobile phone. 

I was asked to cover the break of 1-2-1 HCA and support the patient on bed 1 who was very unsettled and aggressive. A male HCA had been performing 1-2-1 duty with him. Security was called a few times when patient had tried to walk, dragging catheter bag and dropped stand with massive irrigation infusion on the floor and pushing 1-2-1 away. We had been informed in last night’s hand over that the patient had kicked and hit several staff members.
 
Now, I was 1-2-1 with this patient. He got up from his bed after several attempts. The Nurse asked me to restrain and hold him tight and put him onto his bed with the help of another Nurse. I explained to her that staff were not allowed physically restraining and using force because it was not safe for either staff or the patient. I suggested that calling. Security was the best option. The Nurse insisted on holding patient’s both hands and explained that he was under DOLS (Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards). When we saw the Nurse attempting to push the patient on his bed alone, the two of us helped her and managed to settle the patient on the bed with a great deal of physical effort.  

At 05:00hrs, bed 4 patient’s BP was 208/125. I checked the records and noticed that the Nurse had not performed hourly observations at 03:00 or 04:00hrs. I checked BP on both arms of the patient and recorded accordingly. 
Thereafter, I had a word with the Nurse for the second time about my concerns about the patient’s condition. 
She replied: He must be having high BP from years and see every time his BP was high (as she showed me his observation chart). The Nurse was still playing a game on her mobile. 
I sat next to her and asked: What do we do in this situation? We are not reporting any triggers and BP is abnormally high. 
She did not reply and then I asked her about the patient’s BP medication as I was not happy about the patient’s condition and the Nurse’s attitude. 
The Nurse reluctantly replied: Ok, I will give him next medicine at 06:00hrs. 
I was still not satisfied and asked: When do we call a doctor? 
She then said: Ok, I can call the doctor for advice. 
She spoke to the doctor and informed me: See, the doctor said he will review him at 08:00 hrs.
Later, I saw a male doctor but was not sure whom he visited because I was busy with my side room patients. 

I wrote to decision makers and queried why an abnormally high BP does not generate any trigger on the patient’s observation chart? 

They promised to look into it.


[bookmark: _Toc26875763]
Spitting Unless I Noticed

I was given a 1-2-1 patient and additionally assigned the whole Female Bay with 5 Dementia and one post operation patients.  

I had previously worked with this wonderful shift leading Nurse. As per my norm, I cleaned the tables and tided the bay. Bed 1 patient screamed and spat at the face of one staff who had tried to perform baseline observations receiving splashes of her mouth swab. One staff member had been holding her forcefully while the other checked temperature from her ear.  

Bed 2 patient was unsettled and aggressive. Bed 3 patient had stripped off, her half body was under a single bed sheet and she was soaking wet. Bed 4 patient had a broken leg and mild Dementia. Bed 5 was a post operation patient and asleep with infusion running. Patient at Bed 6 was a diabetic having Dementia. She was very demanding and had been asking for food and drinks all the time. The 1-2-1 staff had informed me in the hand over that bed 6 patient got extremely aggressive if her needs, especially to get commode, were not met quickly even though she was not able to convey this clearly. 

Bed 1, a beautiful lady, was settled holding her yellow soft toy. I introduced myself and complemented her: You are a very beautiful lady. This works well with Dementia patients. 
 
We were informed in handover that most of the patients had not had their dinner that evening. Patient on Bed 2 was settled after having been given an energy drink by my own initiative and consultation with my Nurse. Thereafter, she was given her medication and she slept well during the night. At times, I offered her drinks but she was fast asleep and snoring- though her mouth remained open and dry. 

Patient at Bed 3 had been washed, changed, given a drink and had settled into her bed. Soon, she was fast asleep.  

Patient at Bed 5 was not able to sleep at all. She asked for a bedpan a few times. Her urine output was very low. I explained to her about dehydration and offered her hot and cold drinks.  

Patient at Bed 6 had 2 hot drinks and a couple of cold drinks. I was mindful of her need to use commode. After midnight, a HCA from male bay was sent to support bed 6 patient. I asked the patient if she needed a commode. She was transferred from bed to the commode with our support. There was very good urine output and thereafter the patient fell asleep. 

By now, the patient at bed 1 was friendly with me and we had brief episodes of conversation to build trust and professional relationship. I offered her hot drinks as well. She thanked me for each drink. 

I was aiming to perform her morning observations without extra help, or her screaming or spitting. She was awake but had had frequent cat naps during the night. I explained several times about how to take temperature from ear. I demonstrated it on my ear and showed her the reading in the light of my pocket torch. I explained how a thermometer works, stressing that it will not hurt. Finally, after some persuasion, I successfully took her body temperature very gently. She thanked me. I checked the BP on her leg without any difficulty and was very pleased with this progress.
 
The patient on Bed 4 was due for an operation in the morning. Part of her pre-op form had been completed. She consumed the liquid given for drinking before 06:00hrs. 

I thoroughly enjoyed my night shift working with Dementia patients (which is my dream job) and my Nurse leading the shift complemented: Farida you were absolutely a star, like always. 
 
I was energetic, fresh and enthusiastic as all patients under my care had had a comfortable night unless… I noticed....

The patient at Bed 2 was still asleep at 06:00hrs even though blinds of the bay were off facilitating bright sunlight. I made her a drink as she enjoyed having her drinks last night. I thought that as she has a few sips, I will perform her observations and check if she needs changing. She was on a low bed. I greeted her: Good morning and offered her a drink. She was asleep and snoring. I tried to wake her and sit up using bed controls. I gave her a small sip of drink and it came out of her mouth. 

The morning staff arrived. I went to my Nurse in charge straight away and requested her to check the patient as she did not appear to be her normal self. The Nurse came and talked to the patient. She briefly opened her eyes and slept again. I checked her blood sugar and it was 5.1. I was happy that she had energy drink last night. The Nurse checked the medication she had been given and said: I still need a doctor to check her. The Nurse was checking the patient with a HCA as I finished my shift. 

The Nurse repeated the complements of ‘absolute star’ and I returned home thinking about bed 2 patient. 
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Fighter

I was given a 1-2-1 night shift with a Palliative male patient in a side room. We were warned in the handover that patient flirts with staff therefore we should leave the side room door open and sit at a safe distance.

Doctors had anticipated his “departure” a few months back but his resilience was remarkable and prolonged his respiratory failure. Family was well informed. Wife had given instructions that she was not to be informed till the morning in case he departed during the night. The only son was attending his Dad every day.
 
Wife was present with the patient. I introduced myself and assured night support, offered them hot drinks and left the room.
 
Wife explained that CPAP connecting pipe had detached and dropped on the floor a few times, disrupting oxygen flow. Therefore, patient needed close supervision. Wife left and I took over.
 
Patient in his 70’s with big bright eyes was on 11liters oxygen via CPAP. He was sitting upright in his bed with multiple pillows on his back. Syringe driver was in place and IV fluid was running. His belongings were neatly placed on his table and bedside cupboard. There were many full of life pictures around him. He himself was full of life and did not look like an ‘End of Life’ patient from any angle.

Patient knew his condition and as he experienced difficulty in breathing, he gestured to increase oxygen level. He then ignored everything around him and concentrated on his breathing unless it normalised when he gestured to decrease the oxygen level. His mouth was extremely dry and he asked for water. I removed patient’s CPAP mask and quickly placed it back as soon as patient had couple of sips. 

During the night CPAP connecting tube detached a few times and patient panicked though I was there to fix it.
 
He briefly interviewed me and played some English movie on his iPad. He asked me to bring my chair closer to him and watch the movie with him when it was a scene of a child birth. I apologised and sat close to the entrance door keeping an eye on him and keeping myself busy.

Patient was stable and settled all night. 
It was 06.00hrs when patient’s Sats started dropping suddenly. He was trying hard to improve using his strategy to increase oxygen. It did not work and patient was panicking. His face was red and his eyes were wide open. He gestured me to come closer. He held my hand and made an eye contact. He looked very scared. 

I informed my Nurse about patient’s condition and dropping Sats. Nurse came and administered some IV medications.
 
Nurse stood out of the room and cried while resting with the wall as patient’s Sats dropped to 59%. I was alone in the side room and all staff believed it was his time. 
Patient was grunting and struggling to breathe. He was craving for my support and his eye contact was so strong as if that was keeping him alive. He was holding my hand strongly. I opened the window for fresh air. I was shivering with the feeling of losing him but pretending to be brave while patting his hand. In normal conditions, patient did not like to be patted or to hold hands.

It was 07.15hrs when patient’s Sats started improving and reached to 80%. He looked hopeful now and was struggling to breathe and improve it further. 

Wife and son arrived at 07.40hrs as they had been informed that the patient had deteriorated. His Sats were 88%. Son commented with a smile: You are back man. Again you decided not to go.

The patient was a true fighter. 
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Nightmare 

I was given a 1-2-1 night shift with a Dementia and confused patient who had dripping and soaking bandages on both legs which gave off a strong odour. The patient was sitting in his chair at the start of the shift, had low BP 93/60 and his body temperature was below the normal range. It improved with serving him a milky coffee at 21:30hrs. He was washed, changed and settled in his bed around 22:00 and fell asleep at 22:30hrs. 

The Nurse in charge was informed about condition of the patient’s leg bandages. Two towels had been placed beneath the patient’s legs which were soaking wet within an hour. The towels were replaced with 2 clean continent sheets. I cleaned the sticky floor around the patient’s bed and table thoroughly and also used an air freshener available on his table. 

Another HCA (K) started her 1-2-1 shift in the same Bay with an aggressive Dementia patient.  We worked together and I helped her to settle the patient successfully. Her patient was aggressive and attempting to jump out from the bed and walk around.  After a little while, K was sent to another Bay and I was asked to look after both patients. 

My patient got up. He was aggressive coming out from the bed. I tried my best to motivate the patient to stay in bed without restraining him. His legs were sore and I gently placed them on the bed. Patient at bed 2 got up and I was unable to support both. I summoned help. 

The Nurses and HCAs ignored my request saying: You are 1-2-1. In the meantime, bed 2 patient opened his leg urine bag and sprinkled it all over the bay.  HCA (P), a tall and big girl came and said: If you are unable to manage both, go and work in the Bays. She pushed the patient on his bed like an object and sat by his bed playing with her phone, ignoring the urine everywhere in the bay. I put towels on the wet floor to prevent patients and staff from slipping. I settled my patient who was extremely anxious.
  
Bed 1 patient asked for a hot drink and bed 4 patient asked for a urine bottle while P was playing on her phone. I fulfilled requests of both patients.  

A Nurse came and asked P to come and help her with tilts and changing patient positions. She instructed me to look after both patients and declared that they will not extend me any help. All Nurses and HCA’s were of the same background except one. I told them that if the two patients show aggression and come out from their beds, then I will ask for help. 
 
Around 01:15, the patient at bed 2 started pulling his leg bag and hitting and throwing objects around. I tried to help him. The patient at bed 3 awoke with the noise. I asked help to call security and HCA P refused: No you are 1-2-1.’P came to my 1-2-1 patient with another HCA saying: She cannot do 1-2-1. The patient is soaking wet. She wrapped the patient’s legs with continence sheets putting tape on it which was not appropriate as patient needed proper dressing change.  

I asked my Nurse to call the Site Office, Night Staff. She informed me that she had bleeped them but no one had called. I struggled with the 2 patients putting myself at grave risk as they were physically aggressive, kicking and hitting. 

The new patient at Bed 4 sat outside the bay saying: I cannot stand this noise. He called police and complained that the Hospital will not allow him to go home. The Site office night staff came to sort out the matter. 

I asked the night staff why they had not responded to my Nurse’s request for help. Both denied that anyone from the ward had bleeped them. I informed them that I was having problems to manage 2 aggressive Dementia patients. I asked them what I should do if this happens again. They gave me their security bleep number to call them directly if I needed help.
  
HCA P was a bully, giving dictations to all as though she was managing the ward. Shift leading Nurse was completely ineffective and the rest of the staff ignored my requests because of P.  

I was shattered by the morning. What a nightmare!!! 
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Horrible

Handover was in progress in C Bay. We were 3 HCA’s and 3 Nurses. I was given A Bay, B Bay bed 6, C Bay bed 6 and side room 1 and side room 2 patients.  

A 1-2-1 HCA performed observations in the bay. I removed cups and cleaned tables in all the bays. Then I performed rest of the observations and did the BM checks for all bays. Two of the patients in A Bay had Dementia. One was mobile with frame and was not stable on her feet.  

A side room patient had C-diff (reoccurring) and diarrhoea. My Nurse was a district Nurse and was not very comfortable providing continence care to a soiled C-diff patient. I supported her in the best way and we managed the patient.  The challenge for the two of us was that as we cleaned and changed the patient, she needed to be cleaned again only after a little while. We changed her many times and were exhausted. The Nurse leading the shift was indifferent and not supportive.
  
We had 4 patients on 2 hourly tilts. I started tilts by myself as my Nurse needed to administer medication and complete her nursing notes.  It was a very difficult night for both of us. 

I had a previous shift with this Shift Leading Nurse when she asked me to do one task after another and when it was 01.00hr after midnight I protested that I need to have a 5/10 min break and to have a drink as she was treating me like a machine. Now the same Shift Leading Nurse gave us a very challenging job without extending any support. 

She went to the first break with a HCA. She returned after 02.30 hrs and another 1-2-1 HCA was sent for her break even though the two of us were literally shattered. HCA confirmed that Shift Leading Nurse informed about her break at 02.30hrs. We were not informed of our breaks. This time 3 staff went on break. Shift Leading Nurse was dozing off sitting in the dark, on a soft chair outside nursing station.
 
We were tired and shattered by changing the patient with diarrhoea. 2 staff members returned at 04.00hrs and my Nurse went on her break. I was waiting for HCA to return.  It was 04.05 and Nurse told me to wait for another 5 min. 

I was very concerned about performing the morning tasks of baseline observations, BM checks and tilts on my return from break. The Nurse in-charge was cruel and unprofessional. I had been on my toes from more than 8 hours working with a very demanding patient and time regulations say worker must sent on break after 6 hours.
  
As per Nurse’s advice, after waiting for another 5 minutes, door was knocked 3 times and then HCA came out. 

I was unable to sleep in my break because of the day light, multiple buzzers and extreme exhaustion. 
 
I performed every task and supported my Nurse to administer IV injections to Dementia patients as they are scared of needles and react harshly. 

My Nurse also complained couple of times that Shift Leading Nurse was extremely insensitive and non- supportive. 
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Mental Health 

At 20:30hrs, I started my observations. I approached the patient on bed 3 to check his base line observations. This patient had 1-2-1 Agency support 24/7. I lifted the blanket to place the BP cuff and was shocked to see that he was soaking wet in urine up to his shoulders. This patient had had seizures and was brought to the Hospital unresponsive. He was improving and making progress after admission. 

I was very angry and informed the Agency staff that he must check his patient at all times as he was on IV fluids and, if patient needed changing, he must inform the Nursing Station and ask for help. 
He replied: He was there to check patient’s mental health only and the patient had been changed an hour before. I had started my shift at 19:30hrs and knew that the patient had not been changed. 
He asked me: Are you ready to change him?’ 

I replied: No, I am 1-2-1 with bed 1 patient and additionally performing observations, as extra work. You need to inform the Nurse and ask for help.

I told him that at our Hospital, we were not allowed to leave patients soaking wet and in faeces. I also emphasised that it was his responsibility to ask for help and make sure that his patient was clean and dry at all times. 

1-2-1 called his Agency and complained about me saying: Her name is Farida and I asked her to help and she refused, he then gave his phone to me saying that the Agency staff wants to talk to you. 
I took the phone and explained: My name is Farida Mughal, I am performing 1-2-1 duty in the same bay and whilst checking blood pressure of your patient I noticed that he was soaking wet. I explained to your staff that it is his responsibility to make sure that the patient is clean and dry at all times. I told him to ask for help from nursing station if patient needs changing.
The lady then had a word with the 1-2-1 staff and he changed patient with the help of a regular HCA. 

He finished his shift at 21:00hrs and was replaced by another 1-2-1staff from the same agency. New staff was the same who slept all night while sitting on the patient’s chair on his previous shift which I witnessed. He did the same.

The Nurse looking after the bay completely ignored the fact that he was asleep again. The Patient, Nurse and HCA were of the same ethnic background. 

As I was performing the baseline observations for bed 3, HCA came and started chatting with staff in their own language. I discretely explained to HCA that it is unprofessional and not allowed at work to speak another language especially when there is a 3rd person present. 

My patient was upset as he was short of cigarettes. He asked me to take him outside to smoke half a cigarette and he would save the remaining half for the next morning. 

He had called his neighbour requesting her to buy him 2 packets of cigarettes and a cheap lighter. This had not materialised and, therefore, he was in low spirits.  I suggested to him that he should wait till the morning and see if his friend brings some cigarettes for him. He agreed and settled down to sleep. As his left leg was hurting, he was persuaded to use a walking frame to go to the toilet, which he complied. He asked for pain killers in middle of the night. 

Bed 5 patient was not there as he had been transferred to DOCC (Department of Critical Care) due to further deterioration of his condition.
 
The side room 2 patient passed away during the night. 
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Revived

I was given a night shift in Surgical Assessment Unit. We were 2 HCA’s and 3 Nurses. I was given one bay and side rooms. 

I started my observations and having brief chats with patients as some of them were very much concerned and upset about the one poorly patient by the window.
 
There was a young girl in my bay who was not able to move at all. She requested for commode and change of clothes for the night. She needed full hoisting support. Another HCA and I met her needs which took almost 25 minutes.

Another 86 years old, a very active lady, was asking for her nebuliser without realising the emergency in the bay. 

A new patients on bed 1 (a young independent person) was asking questions about deteriorating condition of bed 4 patient. 
 
The patient on bed 4 was poorly and Doctors, Night Staff and Nurses were working hard to revive him. The Doctors were encouraging the bed 4 patient to keep tablet under his tongue.

I witnessed amazing teamwork by the Hospital staff to save an 88 years old fragile patient. Amazing collaborative care of all professionals revived the patient on bed 4 and the team left as the patient’s condition stabilised. I had a brief chat with the patient who was responding fine, though exhausted. 
 
I made all my patients comfortable by serving them hot drinks, water and giving Hospital socks and gowns as needed. I performed BM’s and checked Ketones for one of my patients, borrowing BM meter from the next ward. 

Bed 4 patient was now ready to be transferred to a porter’s trolley when we discovered that he was flooded and soiled all over. I took over to lead. He was cleaned, changed and sent for X-ray. 

I thoroughly washed his air mattress and everything around the bed including the floor before his return. Windows were opened and air freshener was used to remove the odour as some of the patients were finding it hard to breath.  On his return, we transferred him to his bed and noted that he was soiled again. He was washed and changed with dignity and respect. Nurse looking after my bay was very appreciative and reported to shift leading Nurse in my presence by saying: She is amazing and excellent in providing care to the patients. 

Thereafter, the Nurse asked me many times how we two can work together in future and who she has to request to allocate my shifts with her. 

Shift Leading Nurse went on first break. On her return, she was dozing off sitting behind the computer. 

Bed 4 patient was soiled and washed again. I went on the last break. 
 
I started the observations at 06:00hrs. Shift leading Nurse came in the bay for the first time and extended help to change bed 4 who was soiled again. She was wearing gloves and apron and started changing him. As I finished observations with one of the patients, I went to bed 4 to help the Nurse. There was no skip, yellow bag or laundry bag. The Nurse in charge put the soiled pad on the floor. I got the equipment ready and placed pads and soiled sheets in the proper bags according to the Hospital Infection Prevention and Control Policy. 

I thoroughly enjoyed working this shift because my Nurse was brilliant and we worked well as a team. 
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Hypoglycaemia and Support

I was providing 1-2-1 support for Bed 1 and looking after all 4 patients in the bay.  

I had worked with bed 4 patient in another ward previously where she was having hypoglycaemia and we supported her to maintain BM at a safe level successfully. Tonight, she was having 3/4 recommended juice drinks and still struggling to maintain a stable BM level. Her face was pale. I had a conversation with her and explained how carbohydrates will add to maintaining her condition at a safer level as she was refusing to eat anything. She agreed and I made her a toast with cheese and honey, cup of tea and a pod of jelly.  At this point, she disclosed that she herself was a qualified Nurse and had worked briefly before she got married 50 years ago. 
 
This patient had low blood sugar for the whole night. I politely mentioned to the Nurse how we had successfully supported this patient in another ward.
  
All staff was gossiping while sitting at the Nursing Station for hours, including a porter from the same ethnic background.  I was the only one answering the buzzers and fulfilling the needs of the patients quietly. They supported me when I needed any help or advice after taking their time showing their irritation. 

My Nurse was on her break when I checked the patient’s BM at 04:00hrs and it was 2.1. Shift leading Nurse was immediately informed and the patient was offered a juice drink with lots of encouragement. I offered patient toast with butter and marmalade explaining how it will support in maintaining her BM. At this point, patient at bed 3 was on bedpan and called for assistance. 

I asked a male HCA to make toast with butter and marmalade for my patient as her BM was very low at 2.1. I noticed the HCA was standing by the patient’s bed holding a plate with a toast which was cold without butter. The patient hardly had a couple of bites. 

I spoke to the shift leading Nurse again. She was very indifferent saying juice and toast will take some time to raise her BM level.
  
The Nursing support provided was inadequate to keep the patient safe. 
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Fictitious
   
I was given a 1-2-1 assignment in male bay ward. My Dementia patient was on bed 2, opposite the nursing station. The patient on bed 6 was given another agency 1-2-1 HCA.
 
Patient on bed 1, with a condition of hearing impairment was very observant and showed his annoyance when the observation machine stopped working as it had not been charged.
 
I started my duty in the bay as usual. Other 1-2-1 HCA chose some inappropriate words like: You look very experienced love, where do you normally work Hun? Show me the kitchen darling.
 
After clearing up the tables and tiding up patients extra stuff lying around, I started observations and requested 1-2-1 to perform baseline observations for his patient with NG (Nasal Gastric) tube in place. 
The patient was fragile and needed an explanation of what we do and why with reassurance, especially for taking blood pressure. I noticed that the HCA used medium cuff to check the patient’s blood pressure whereas small cuff was appropriate for him. I walked to the patient, cuff was already inflated and it was about 3 fingers loose from patient’s arm. HCA was writing on patient’s chart. 
The HCA opted for easy solution to put the arm cuff loose and was writing fictitious figures pretending that he actually had performed observations. Observation machine was still working but he had already written fictitious figures on the patient’s chart. 

HCA then started talking about his Nurse wife, 5 children and need to work extra shifts due to financial pressures.

My patient got up and wanted to go home. He was clever enough to press the button on the wall to open the door and went out. He was reassured and brought back to the ward. Soon, he was settled for sleep. 

Early morning, bed 1 patient raised his hand and gestured me to shake hands with him. I instantly reciprocated and shook hands. He held my hand and said: Thank you; you have done a very good job. I thanked him. He then gestured towards the HCA. He waved from far and said: It’s ok thank you. A clear sign of disbelief appeared on the face of bed1 patient. 
 
As we finished our shift, I asked the HCA to come out from the bay and had a word with him. I told him that: The patient on bed 1 was very upset and annoyed. He was awake and had seen us working all night. And in the morning, he wanted to convey his appreciation. Please do not say “No” to any patient in this profession. Just think, we may end up in their place tomorrow and crave to hold hands or say thank you to someone but they refuse. More so, their families are not around to extend their love and support for them. 

HCA said: Yes, yes without any feelings of regret. 

This person has worked most of the Hospital wards performing 1-2-1 duties and does not wear uniform or an ID badge.




[bookmark: _Toc26875771]
Pick and Choose

I looked after a bay of 4 patients in a Medical Ward including my 1-2-1 patient.
  
It was a good start of the shift when Nurse in charge said: Nice to see you Farida because we had worked together previously as a good team. 

She asked me to go to the male patient on bed 5. Another Nurse told me that one HCA had already taken over and started working with the patient and there was no other 1-2-1 patient in the ward. 

The site office was contacted and explained the situation by the Nurse in charge. She requested to have me as 1-2-1 with another challenging patient on Bed 1 Bay 1, which was agreed. I was going to my Bay 1 when the same Nurse said to me: Farida you have to swap with other HCA, in between because it will be too much for her to work with that challenging patient 

This suggestion of swapping was completely insane because my newly assigned patient was asleep and I had some quiet time. 

I started my shift with cleaning and tiding, doing baseline observations and offering patients hot drinks. Around 23:00hrs my patient started throwing objects at me. I maintained my distance and came out from her ‘increased circle of personal space’ which mostly can cause triggers in Dementia patients. I managed to support her and gradually she was settled. At one point of time, she suddenly approached the patient at bed 2 and tried to grab her neck whilst I was performing her 02:00hrs observations. I shouted for help and 2/3 Nurses came immediately to save the patient. 

This was brilliant. 

My patient was settled on her bed within the next hour. After a while, she pushed away the blanket and started stripping off. I noticed that she was breathing heavily with closed eyes, sitting on the edge of the bed. I was standing in close proximity to keep her safe from falling on her face. Shortly she fell asleep. As she was going down on to the bed by involuntary effort, I supported and covered her gently.
 
I asked the other HCA how her shift was. She told me that patient was up all night and had just gone to sleep. HCA went on break and I was sent to cover her. It was extremely unpleasing to see the amount of mess around the patient’s bed and in the bay;
· Pile of cloths on foot stole, half on the floor 
· Urine bottle upside down on the floor 
· Bed at an angle (Not straight) 
· Pads and wipes on the side cupboard with one red Hospital sock hanging down 
· Dirty cups, spoon, empty rappers, dirty cotton wool on the floor
· Used cotton pads with blood on the floor 
· Sleepers scattered here and there 
· Used sick bowl on the floor 

I cleaned up all the mess, folded and put cloths away in the bedside cupboard and tided the bay in few minutes. It was that simple.

The patient got up and went to the toilet with my support. He returned to his bed chatting and had a cup of tea…no problem at all. 

On the opposite side male bay, there was another 1-2-1 HCA. She went to the toilet and I looked after her patient. It was the same there, piles of clutter around the patient’s bed and empty jug of water on his table. This patient was going out quite often for cigarette. 

The Nurse in charge had a word with other Nurse about the HCA’s attitude who was supporting the patient on bed 5 and commented: She chose what she wanted to do and if she is still not happy to work with patients, then she is in a wrong profession.

The HCA went to the staff side room upon her return from her break and started gossiping with a male HCA. My Nurse was covering my patient. The returning HCA did not inform the 3rd HCA, who went on her break and I looked after both bays. 
 
Half an hour passed after 1-2-1 HCA return from her break. At 05:00hrs I asked HCA to come back as I needed to return to my bay and release my Nurse who was working with my 1-2-1 patient. 
HCA asked: Who is covering 3rd HCA? I cannot look after 2 patients.

I was speechless on her attitude!  
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Cows are Beautiful

The Nurse looking after the Bay in a Short Stay Unit was the same who had treated me badly during a previous shift. 
 
1-2-1 assignment was given with bed 1 patient and I looked after the bay of 6 beds.
  
Another HCA was one of my batch mates as we joined together, was given a 1-2-1 shift with patient on bed 4.
 
At the start of the shift, I was given handover from an agency 1-2-1 male HCA without any handover sheet. He just stated: He is fine, no problem, he will sleep till the morning. 
I asked if the continence pad was changed and he affirmed it had. 
I asked about the time and he replied: About 45 min earlier and then left. 

There was not a single recording in the patient’s folder including Fluid Balance chart, 24 hr Clock and Multi-Disciplinary notes.
  
I introduced myself and noticed that patient’s mouth was extremely dry. There was a red jug and thickener on the table but no cup or thickened water was there. 
 
I checked the pad which was soaking wet. I changed the pad and applied cream as the patient’s skin was red.
 
I made 150mls thickened water for my patient and he drank all of it. He was trying to hold the cup and gulp all of it because he was extremely thirsty. I used a spoon and encouraged him to drink at a slower pace due to his swallowing difficulties. 

The regular HCA came and stated: Bay is yours Farida. My own patient was neglected and needed care. I cleaned tables and tided the bay, helped the other 1-2-1 HCA to change her patient. This HCA then put her head phone on and started watching a movie on her phone which I consider extremely unprofessional. 

The staff who wear headphones or earphones do not look up or hear the buzzer. If you go to them, they will remove their headphone with a frowning expression like spoiled children.  What an appalling attitude!
 
The regular HCA came and asked: Have you done the tilts in this bay?  
I replied: Excuse me. What do you mean? I have done my 1-2-1 and helped the bed 4 patient. 

A female patient in side room had been screaming all night and most patients were unable to sleep. Around 02:00hrs, my patient who was unsettled, had 200mls thickened water and settled down to sleep. 

Buzzer for the lady in side room was sounding and I asked the shift leading Nurse if I can answer the buzzer. I was craving to help her because she was a Dementia patient and I knew that I will be able to support her successfully. The Nurse replied that she was going to her as the patient needed a commode which was already in her room. 

I performed morning observations and at 06:45hrs all work was done in my bay. Other HCA with bed 4 kept herself busy with her media entertainment and paid no attention. 

Screams of the lady from side room were the permanent feature now. I went to the shift leading Nurse and asked her permission to support patient in the side room. She happily allowed me.
  
I knocked at the door, entered and introduced myself. The patient took some time to pronounce my name: Teeda, Veeda, Farida. 
It’s a beautiful name, she complimented. 
Your name is beautiful as well, I added. 
Will you help me?’ she asked.
Yes, that is why I am here, and we are already friends: Tell me how can I help? 
Make me sit up, she replied.
I raised the bed and said: I can get more pillows and will make you comfortable. I looked for solutions. 
‘No, you will not come back, she replied.’ She was reluctant for me to go out. 
I reassured her: “My name is Farida and I fulfil my promise, you will see I will be back within 2 minutes. No screaming …only friendly conversation.” I got an assurance from her.
On my return, I knocked on the door and entered the room. Here I am; see I am here to help you and make you comfortable my friend. Lean over, how you feel now?’ I pushed a couple of pillows behind her back and asked.
‘Good’ she replied in a content voice. 
‘Lovely, see I made you sit up as you like.’ 
‘Where is Lesley? Where is my husband? He never lied to me, yesterday he said, he will come back but did not come. Where is he?’  She asked multiple questions in one go.  
I had no answer to her questions and tried to divert her attention. 
‘OK, look at this …your gown is dirty with these stains and a ripped neck …if Lesley sees you like this he will get upset and will ask.. Oh my beautiful wife what is this? Let’s change the gown; I will get a clean one OK? And I am coming back.’ I informed her of my plans to dress her as she was physically aggressive when staff tried to change her gown. 
‘Look what they have done to me,’ she showed me her bruised arms. 
‘You will be fine, these marks will go away,’ I assured her. 
I dressed her with a clean gown: ‘You are ever so beautiful my friend and I can see from your face how much you love Lesley. He is a very lucky man. Would you like a cuppa tea now? I make the best tea in this Hospital’ I added as she was attentive and listening to my therapeutic conversation
‘Only if you will make 2 cups, one for you and drink it with me,’ she gave her decision. 
‘No problem, we will have tea together.’ I respected her wishes. 
I made tea and returned: ‘Here you go, this is your tea in a beaker and this is mine.’ 
‘How’s your tea?’ I asked as she had a first sip. 
‘It’s beautiful’ she commented. 
‘Good, I am glad you like the tea.’
‘Where is Lesley?’’ she asked me again. 
‘You tell me,’ I threw the ball in her court. 
I added: ‘I know my husband, he is at home and waiting to have breakfast with me but I do not know about Lesley: I have not met him; you never introduced him to me.’
‘Why should I, silly cow? ‘ She instantly responded. 
‘Oh my God this is not fair, we are friends and you called me cow’ I reacted. 
‘But cows are beautiful; you know that, aren’t they?’ She consoled me with a beautiful explanation. 
‘Black or brown?’’ I expanded my question enjoying her version. 
‘All, it is mentioned in the Bible as well but you don’t believe in Bible, do you?’ she tried to change the topic. 
’Yes I do’ I confirmed.

The door opened and the Nurse dropped a fluid balance chart for me to fill in and instructed me to perform baseline observations which had been denied by the patient. A HCA came and checked her BM without any problem. Everything was done without a scream. 
 
It was my time to go home when the patient requested; ‘please don’t go, don’t leave me, you are the only one who returned to me, no one comes back, they say they will but…’ 
I explained to her: ‘Listen, I worked all night and I am very tired now. I need to catch up with some sleep and I am hungry as well. I will see you if they will send me in this ward again, Ok you take care’ and left the room, thoroughly enjoying her comment “but cows are beautiful, aren’t they?” 




[bookmark: _Toc26875773]
On His Knees and Medication

I was assigned a 1-2-1 night shift with a patient on bed 6 who was restless, aggressive and extremely unsettled. 

The patient was begging me to help him to go home. It was heart breaking as he kept on pleading by clasping both hands and going on his knees, closing his eyes with tears running down his cheeks. 

He crawled to my chair and gently put his head on ‘arm rest’ and cried. I was heartbroken and tearful to see him in this state. Patient did not even sleep during the night.

The Nurse in charge was not supportive and on the contrary was smiling when I remained unsuccessful in convincing my patient to stay in the ward as he was attempting to leave. 

As I returned from break and opened the main door, my patient pushed the door away and ran out of the ward. He had become extremely aggressive. 

One of the HCAs was busy on computer, I asked her for help but she ignored me. When I summoned help again, she said: You go and leave your linen in skip first. When I returned, my patient was not there. I went out of the ward and found him in the corridors. I was very upset and angry with my co-worker but succeeded in persuading him to return to his bed. 
 
It was nearly morning and I was wondering what had triggered my patient’s condition because he was settled the previous night. Suddenly it occurred to me to check his medication. I checked the drug chart and to my shock, I discovered that he had not been given his night time medication. It was PRN and administered regularly. I took the drug chart to the Nurse and she said it was nearly morning therefore she could not administer the medication. No wonder he was behaving differently.

This incident reminded me of what I had experienced earlier at a Psychotic Hospital where patients were deliberately deprived of their medication and rights to trigger their condition. 
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Emergency

It was my 3rd 1-2-1 assignment in the same ward and with the same patient. It was stated in handed over that patient had an extremely restless and difficult day. I performed my routine tasks while medication was administered by the Nurse. The patient had a hot drink and within the next 15 minutes he was in bed. I looked after my bay. It was a very good shift with collaborative team work. 

There was a female patient in C Bay who spoke loudly most of the time in her own language. I was not sure if I could be of any help because no staff was able to meet her needs due to language barriers. She was walking unsteadily, holding hand of a HCA when I had a word with her and she became attentive towards me. 

HCA asked if I could support her patient to go back to the bed. I took over because my 1-2-1 was asleep and patients in my bay were settled. I supported the patient to go back to her bed with lots of encouragement. She was weak and fragile and her legs kept giving away. At first, I was holding her hand and then I put my arm around her back to support her. 

Other female patients in her bay started making sound of exclamation to see the two of us and were calling the Nurse. I was unaware why they were calling the Nurse but as I made the patient sit on her bed safely, the 3 female patients started clapping saying: Well done, you have done a wonderful job. They explained that two Nurses used to settle her on the bed with great effort. 

The patient used some words from which I got a clue that she was itchy under her legs. I thoroughly cleaned her, applied cream and put a pad. I covered her with blanket and talked to her patting her face gently. The patient was kissing my hands. Within the next 10 minutes she was fast asleep and I returned to my bay.

Thereafter, I received multiple requests from the staff to perform baseline observations and BM checks for the above patient. Her BM was low. She was given recommended juice and fell asleep again. Her BMs dropped to 1.9 in the next check and an emergency was declared. I was called for immediate help. She was given Glucogel for hypoglycaemia. Nurse was giving gel and I was encouraging her to open her mouth and swallow. Doctor was there to cannulise her; another staff was checking her BMs. It all worked beautifully and her BMs recovered to 4.5.

In the morning my 1-2-1 patient got up with beautiful smile. He was explaining his dream over a morning cup of coffee. I loved my shift. 
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I was given a 72 years old female having Dementia. She had been admitted same day and was due for an operation the next morning. She was NBM (Nil by Mouth) from 02:00hrs midnight. 

It was reported in the hand over that patient was displaying aggressive behaviour. The Nursing Home had informed that she was used to wander around all night and go to bed in the early hours of morning.  

The patient’s lips were cracked with dry skin hanging around. She was confused and in pain yet continuously trying to come out of bed without realising that she had a broken hip. 

I introduced myself, explained that I will look after her for the night. I asked about her comfort level and ensured to honour her wishes. I admired her smile. And explained how digestive system stops working if one does not drink. She agreed for a hot drink. By midnight she had a few hot drinks and water. 

It was documented that she had refused her dinner as well. I offered her snacks and she decided to have a yogurt. Her lips were much better now and all the dry skin fell off. She did not show any signs of aggression and I was very pleased with her progress.
 
The shift leading Nurse assigned all female patients medication to one agency Nurse and opted to do tilts with a HCA. This was her work style which I had witnessed in my previous shifts.  She does tilts at start of the shift and keeps herself busy with paper work to avoid doing the tilts due at 02:00hrs and 06:00hrs. 

My patient was settled. At start of the shift, I was instructed to perform baseline observations of my bay of 6 beds. Due to my patient’s broken hip, changing her was a big challenge. As she was having drinks, she needed to be changed few times during the night. She let me remove the pad, and lay a half fresh sheet without any problem. However, I needed extra pair of hands because of patient’s aching broken hip. Agency Nurse came to help me. At one occasion, I requested the Nurse in charge but she kept herself busy and ignored my request. Consequently, I approached the agency Nurse. 

After midnight, I while I was having my snack, Nurse in charge asked: Were you fasting?’ Her body language and tone of voice was critical. 

My patient had IV Paracetamol with great persuasion as she had refused medication and pulled away her cannula. Patient was settled and asleep. 
[bookmark: _Toc26875776]
Sad Face and Happily Married 

My 78 years old, a 1-2-1 patient on bed 5 was NBM (Nil by Mouth) and in the handover it was mentioned that he was having swallowing problems. The teams were not able to place Nasal Gastric tube as it encountered some obstruction. The patient had not eaten any food or taken a drink orally for a few days and as such was on IV infusion.
 
The Nurse in charge was very professional with whom I had worked before. She decided to start oral fluids under supervision. I explained to the patient (who was listening to me with his eyes closed) that I was making him thickened water as his mouth was very dry. I asked his permission to wipe his sticky eyes. He did not react so I gently wiped his face and eyes with warm wet wipes. I made 50mls thickened water and requested the Nurse’s supervision. She gave me the go ahead as she was present in the bay for medication administration. 

I approached the patient and offered him the drink. He opened his eyes and said in a loud and clear voice: Take your sad face away from me. That was a strange comment because I was normally considered as being a ‘smiling and pleasant’ member of staff. I assured him that his wishes will be respected.
 
After a while I approached the patient again. His eyes were still closed and I offered him a cup of tea with assurance that: People say I make the best cup of tea in this Hospital, if I make you one, you can be my judge.
Patient replied: You like praise for yourself? Ok make me one. 
How would you like your tea sir? Do you take sugar? I enquired.
‘Touch of sugar, with milk’, he added. 
I offered him tea and he said: ‘I am not allowed to drink tea unless you have it first, have a sip’, he stated.
‘Sorry I am not allowed to drink from your cup sir; it is not safe as it will contaminate your tea.’ 
He kept on insisting. I thought perhaps he may not trust me and need to make sure that tea was safe to drink as a precaution. So I poured little bit of his tea in another cup and drank it. Patient added: That was quick. Have another one. I complied.
He said: Put it on my table, and closed his eyes again. 

A very independent, educated and intellectual gentleman was admitted on the next bed 4 the same evening. He was noticing and supporting me for my efforts to motivate my 1-2-1 patient to have drinks. 

I asked the new patient: ‘Would you like any drink sir?’
‘Please! I will appreciate a cup of coffee,’ patient replied. 
‘How would you like your coffee sir?’
‘Medium white, with one sugar.’
My 1-2-1 patient opened his eyes and said: ‘I would like the same.’

I made them coffee. My patient had 100mls coffee without thickener and without any difficulty. 
I persuaded him to have another sip and he said: ‘See, you are never been happy, this is your problem. I am not a coffee person but still had some,’ he added. 

I updated my Nurse and she was very pleased with the progress. I changed his pad and patient helped me by turning right and left without any problem.
 
By 23:30hrs I and my 1-2-1 patient were shifted to another ward’s side room. He had quite a few drinks including an energy drink, tea and water without any issues. 

He was ready to have toast with butter and marmalade but the Nurse decided to give him fluids only. 

The patient then started expressing himself: ‘I am feeling good today, I am happy. I worked in Merchant Navy and served there for 18 years. I have a daughter who works around here. I have Dementia, do you know about Dementia? I am an old person; you are half of my age. You are young and you need to look for a younger person for yourself. I am old you will not marry me.’ 

I explained softly: ‘I am happily married and my lovely husband is at home waiting for me. I am here to support you for the night, make you comfortable so that you recover quickly.’
 
I felt uncomfortable when he held my hand firmly, though I gently tried to release it. He looked at my face with his bright and sharp blue eyes, which he preferred to keep closed most of the time at start of the shift. 

Patient ignored the information I conveyed to him about my husband and chose to convey his feelings to marry me. It was like ‘waves’ coming after short intervals. He asked few times as to time my shift will finish and if I was returning back at night. 

He appeared to be in deep thoughts. He was completely calm whilst I provided him personal care. I was going out of the room often to give him more time to reflect.
 
I informed the patient that I was going on my break, handing over to a male HCA. On my return, I offered him energy drink, he grabbed my hand and it was difficult for me to break away. 

I used a technique learned in ‘Break Away’ training. He was completely a different person and a typical ‘Dementia patient.’ I informed my Nurse who had a word with the patient assuring him that Farida was the lady looking after him from start of the night shift. 

Lights were turned on in the room. He apologised. We settled him and moved him in his bed. 

As my Nurse left patient said: I am sorry I opened up last night and you have a husband at home, I am sorry. 

I reassured my support and recorded the incidents in Multidisciplinary notes.  
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I am Sorry
 
I was given night shift on the floor covering bay 3 and bay 4. There were 4 HCAs performing 1-2-1 duty and a male HCA was working on the floor.
  
I had done 3 night shifts as 1-2-1with the patient on bed 2. Male HCA assigned to him started the shift by watching a movie on his iPod and with head phones on. I noticed that the patient had further deteriorated as compared to my last shift with him. Last time he had developed swelling on his left hand and pain in left side of his abdomen. Now his right arm was swollen as well and was extremely tender. 

I greeted him and he recognised me. I informed HCA that banana flavour energy drink was his favourite and he likes jelly and tea with 1 sugar. Jelly and energy drink was already available on his table. 
 
I started shift with serving hot drinks to the patients. HCA was busy with his iPod. I asked the patient for tea, going close to his bedside. He asked for a cup of tea. 

After a few hours I asked if patient had eaten jelly, HCA removed the ear phone and asked the patient: Do you like this one?, showing him a random pot of jelly. Patient ignored him. 

I took the two pots of jelly and asked: ‘Would you like a tropical flavour or lemon & lime?’ 
‘Lemon & lime would be nice’ he replied.
Patient finished the pot of jelly with my support. 

HCA commented: ‘Oh you prefer woman.’

HCA was still busy on his iPod around midnight. I offered the patient energy drink and he drank it. 
 
I realised that someone was soiled in the bay. HCA remained on his iPod and commented: Patient was changed and he is not the one. 

The patient had his hand in his groin area and said: I have not done it. 
I explained to HCA that I want to make sure that the patient was clean and comfortable. 
I checked and found he was soiled. 
HCA said: Oh you did it again? 
Patient apologised: I am sorry. 

In my opinion, attitude of the HCA was unprofessional, unacceptable and an abuse of the system. And it was against the dignity and respect of the patient.
 
I remembered this patient had frequent bowel movement during one of the night shifts with him. He was ever so comfortable and would say: I think my pad is wet, when he wanted me to change him. 

I reported to the Nurse that the HCA in my bay had his head phone on all night which was not a good practice and also conveyed my feedback to Improve Patient Experience. 
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Masturbation

I was assigned a 1-2-1 night shift with a female patient of 87 years old on bed 4. I had worked with her previously. 

I had recorded Multidisciplinary notes for other teams to adapt care. 

All of a sudden, the patient pushed away her sheet and blanket and removed her gown. I explained that she was in Hospital and not at home. Therefore, we need to dress up. 

She had long nails and was having some tantrums which I remembered from my previous shift with her. She closed her eyes and talked to herself, making some noise while putting both her hands on her groin area. I thought that she was in pain due to UTI. This had been witnessed repeatedly at start of the shift. 

My Nurse was in the bay administering medication, when my 1-2-1 patient appeared to have hallucinations. I was instructed to write Multidisciplinary notes for her although causes of hallucinations are different all together. 

The patient appeared to be masturbating vigorously, pushing away her continence pad and using middle finger on her clitoris, making noises and saying: Kisses please, kisses with closed eyes. I pulled the blinds and called the Nurse to witness patient’s behaviour but she refused and asked me to document my observations. 

My 1-2-1 patient was having frequent episodes of this sexual behaviour. I was maintaining her dignity and respect but wondering at the same time that she had not been prescribed any medication for her psychotic condition as she could have easily hurt herself with her long nails. 

She had been on psychotic medication during my previous shift which had been struck off. 

Unfortunately, staff had not reported her behaviour as there was nothing in Multidisciplinary notes about her condition. My own Nurse had opted not to witness patient’s behaviour when requested. 

There must be clear instructions for staff to document any Sexual Behaviour to manage, support and treat patient’s condition to safeguard them from self harm. 
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Hugs, Kisses and Poor Care

I was given a night shift in Assessment Ward. I was working in bays 3 and 4 and side rooms. One of my side room patients had diarrhoea. One critical patient with CPAP in bay 3 was on hourly observations. One patient with learning disabilities was having 1-2-1 HCA who helped me to share work load during the night. Another critical patient with CPAP in bay 4 was on hourly observations. Another poorly patient was on bed 3 in the same bay. 
 
During the hand over, a member of staff informed the team that the son of the patient at bed 3 had asked permission to stay one night. It was mentioned that there were some issues regarding their relationship and safeguarding team had been informed. Permission was granted for the son to stay in the day room and periodically see his Mum during the night. 

As I started observations in bay 4, son and an independent and mobile female patient at bed 4 were seen having an intimate chat exchanging hugs and kisses. After a while, I witnessed bed 4 patient walk to the son sitting by his Mum and repeat the episode of hugs and kisses. Again, the son went to bed 4 patient and repeated the same. Mum was aware what was going on with closed eyes and a disapproved expression of disapproval. 

I informed my Nurse about these incidents. 

Patient on bed 4 was discharged to another ward. Son left immediately after bed 4 patient was moved saying it was difficult for him to stay the night in the day room without giving consideration to his Mum’s critical condition.
  
Mum’s observations were not stable. Body temperature and Sats were low and heart rate was high. I had a good conversation with the patient to motivate her to drink as she was refusing oral intake. She agreed to have a hot drink and had a few sips. 

She was a petite, slim built lady in her 90s and we had a very sophisticated conversation as I changed and repositioned her. She asked if I have children and then she told me that she has 2 boys. 

The patient’s oxygen level dropped further and Nurse was informed. It was becoming more difficult to get Sats due to her low body temperature and cold feet and hands. I rubbed her hands before placing sat probe. She was feeling cold and I wrapped her with few blankets and towel on her head including a blanket from home. 

I suggested that 1 or 2 litres of oxygen may help her. The Nurse leading the shift was called and two Nurses assessed her. They decided not to give her any oxygen as she was not having difficulty in breathing. 

I was a bit surprised and concerned because now her observations were giving very low Sats. The patient was not alert and appeared to be asleep. Nurse pushed away the observation machine and turned off her light to let her sleep. I was the only HCA working in two bays and concentrated on my routine tasks. 

By the morning vital signs of that patient had deteriorated further. I asked my Nurse to inform the Doctor and give patient Oxygen with nasal spec as her Sats were touching 46%.

At this point, Nurse started 2 litres nasal spec oxygen and Doctor was informed. Female Doctor acted promptly and put the patient on 7 litres’ oxygen with balloon mask. When I finished my shift patient’s Sats had improved to 56%. 

‘What a poor Nursing Care, jeopardising a patient’s life,’ I reflected as I was going home!  
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What Have You Done To Me

I worked with the patient on bed 1 and all the patients in D bay and 2 side room patients. One patient was on hourly observations. My Nurse was from an agency. 

Later, patient on bed 1 was added for enhanced observations as her BP and body temperature were low. 

After I served tea, my Nurse asked how I would like to work. I explained that I will start with cleaning tables then observations and then will pair up for tilts. 

She asked me to do tilts first and I agreed. I prepared equipment for tilts and as we completed night care with one patient, my Nurse asked: Can we stop tilts and you start observations as other teams are doing observations first. 
I replied: Whatever is your decision, I am comfortable both ways. 

I started doing observations. While I was doing observations in a side room with a confused Dementia patient who was coming out from her bed, my Nurse came and said: You have to be quick, leave her if it is taking too long, I have done half of my medication, you do her later. 

One bariatric patient was confused and bed bound. Her right leg was affected and her bed was broken. I fixed the bed. She had a few drinks during the night and her pad was still dry. In the morning, I informed my Nurse that despite taking considerable drinks, the patient’s pad was still dry. We decided to offer her a commode as she was refusing passing urine in the pad. The Nurse was rough with her. The patient was screaming and complaining about her tender leg when we transferred her on to commode. 

Nurse was using polite words but visibly handling her with very tough hands. The patient passed urine. This commode was not for bariatric patients and some urine spilled on to the floor. While we helped the patient to go back to her bed, Nurse pulled her affected sore leg with a jerk standing on her right side. Patient screamed loudly, putting her hand on groin and stated: What have you done? 
Nurse replied: I am helping you. 
The patient addressed me and said: See what she has done to me.
To defuse the situation, I replied: She is helping, you are a big girl and she is a big girl, just to relate to her as my Nurse was big and a tall person. 
Nurse reverted to me saying in a harsh tone: Why have you said I am a big girl? You are short it does not mean you do things differently. 
I suggested to the Nurse: Let’s not talk here’ because we were literally on patient’s shoulders in the middle of the bay. 
She said: I am not talking alone, you are talking to me.
 
It was a shocking experience for me as the Nurse was not concerned about the way she was handling the patients and treating me. 
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Wooden Stick and Security

It was a settled night shift as my Dementia and other patients were well hydrated to facilitate a good night’s sleep. My Nurse was nice and I kept adjacent kitchen clean and tidy all night as this comes under HCA duty. There were quite a few transfers of patients in various wards of the Hospital, bed making was frequent as many patients were coming and going during the night. 

All went well until bed 1 patient was triggered to extreme aggression. I was changing a patient on bed 5 and my Nurse was escorting bed 1 patient from toilet to his bed. Patient was using his wooden stick to walk. He dropped a handkerchief on the floor and as the Nurse bent down to pick it up, he hit her with his wooden stick. I had offered this patient cup of tea at night and he had a good night’s sleep.
 
Thereafter, he attempted to hit other patients and staff but it was a near miss. In the process, the patient hit me and my Nurse a few times. Help was summoned and 2 Nurses came from the front. We tried to calm the patient down and offered him a drink. He agreed to have tea and some biscuits but still displayed signs of aggression. I made tea and motivated him to sit. He stood up holding the beaker and spilled it on me and 3 Nurses. 

He pulled out the observation machine which was plugged in for charging. I safely moved machine from his reach. He started pulling bed wires and controls. 

Security was called. One of the porters came to extend immediate help. And finally a security person came and asked me: What would you like me to do with him? I have to do a lot of work. 
I replied: Patient is posing a risk to other patients, staff and property. He looked unhappy and was hardly paying any attention to the patient. 

Security staff was looking out most of the time without facing the patient who was pulling the controls and power wires of his bed. 

A Nurse came from the front and said to the patient: You were fine last night my friend. As this Nurse entered, security person disappeared and then the Nurse also left after a few minutes. 

Patient pulled hand sanitizer along with its metal frame and tried to hit the patient on the next bed. I intervened quickly to save him. My Nurse loudly asked: Is there any security person around? And security person entered from the front bay. 

After a few minutes, security person was talking over the phone, turning his back towards the patient. Suddenly, patient went into the kitchen. The security person followed him angrily as we tried to stop him. 

It was an extremely challenging situation. Both, my Nurse and I were in tears. My Nurse recorded the incident online as per protocol. 
 
This was criminal negligence on part of the security person with this attitude and not fulfilling his duty of care.
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Cats and Dogs

I was given a night shift on the floor. Night staff was asked to volunteer for a confused, wondering mobile patient. I opted and worked as 1-2-1in the middle bay with the patent in his 80s on bed 1. 
 
I took over from agency staff and introduced myself to the patient, a tall and handsome gentleman, smartly dressed in business shoes, sitting in his chair. 

We had a brief chat and he explained about his Chartered Accountancy profession and various places of the world he had visited. I offered him a hot drink, performed observations and explained how important it was to rest at night and get ready for the next morning.

The visit of Patient’s daughter was scheduled for the next day. The patient was reluctant to change and use Hospital gown. I gave him options and by 21:30hrs he was changed with 2 Hospital gowns (1 from the back and 2nd from the front to protect dignity and respect). 

I folded his clothes nicely, showing him where I was putting them in the side cupboard as he wanted his house keys and other belongings in his pocket. I adjusted the bed upright to give him a feel of sitting down due to his anxiety and denial to go to bed. 

There was a new patient on bed 4 and my patient was seeing cats and dogs jumping on his bed. I closed the blinds from two sides and sat outside, I was keeping an eye on my patient and rest of the patients in the bay. Patient on bed 4 was reported to have seizures which had not been diagnosed. My Nurse asked me to keep an eye on him.

Patient on bed 2 was refusing medication. I managed to support him to take his antibiotic and a few thickened drinks during the night, though my own 1-2-1 patient had refused to have his medication.   

All night my patient was up and down from the bed. He was having cat naps in between drinks. By the morning he was in deep sleep and snoring. 

As he got up, I dressed him up, as promised at night.   
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Can we Shake Hands

I was given bay 2 and 4 side rooms.  My last night’s 1-2-1 patient had been moved to bay 3. On his bed was a 29 years old patient with 2 private staff as he would eat pens and objects. He was on post operation hourly observations. Before going to him, I emptied my pockets and removed my name badge. 

Three Doctors performed a procedure for patient on bed 3.  Resultantly, he vomited all over including his face, chin, neck and chest. He had Nasal Gastric tube to excrete stomach contents. Most patients were awake due to the noise. I cleaned the patient and bay and made the patient’s bed.  
   
End of Life patient in side room needed TLC (Tender Love and Care). Patient was having oxygen and IV infusion. Urinary catheter and syringe driver was in place. There was a spray bottle having ‘artificial saliva’ to spray as patient’s mouth dried up. I was informed that patient can be offered thickened fluid if tolerate. 

Latter, I introduced myself to side room patient, cleaned his face and eyes and asked his permission to check his pad and repositioned him. He opened his beautiful eyes and uttered something which I did not understand as his mouth was very dry. 
He was extremely shy and resisting when I tried to check his pad. He was covering his groin area with both hands. 

I explained to him why it was important to make sure that he was dry and clean. Thereafter, he removed his hands and facilitated continence care without any resistance. I made 100mls thickened tea, sat him up right and he drank 75mls tea without any problem. 

His mouth and lips were well hydrated and he was able to close his mouth now. He was speaking to me and asked: Where are my Mum and Dad? I want to see my Dad. 

I left him in a sitting position in his bed for a while and settled him down. Patient was asleep soon. I was able to change his position and applied cream on pressure areas specially sacrum. 

I offered him second thickened tea at 4:00hrs and he consumed 100mls. He appeared more alert now and his reflexes were improving. He asked me a very clever question: Which speciality of Nursing have you done?’ I explained. 

He loudly asked: Can we shake hands?’ I extended my right hand whilst standing on his left side; he held my hand with good grip and slowly took it toward his mouth and kissed it. My eyes were welled up with tears. He then kept holding my hand close to his chest and I was there for good couple of minutes explaining to him that we already were friends and I will come after my break and I was very tired working all night with my patients. He gently let go of my hand. 

I went to my break at 04:30hrs and cried, thinking what I was capable of doing for the patients and what I was deprived off by not awarding me my Nursing Degree. 

Patient’s next day food menu was on his table but not filled out as staff considered that he was not able to tolerate oral intake whereas he had showed his capability of having pureed food.
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Cough Assisting Machine

I was assigned a patient with challenging behaviour. He was refusing drinks and observations and was aggressive with other patients and staff.
 
A HCA was assigned duty in the same bay. She was indifferent and ignored what was going on there. I offered her my food from home which she accepted but still was not interested to pay attention to the patients.

Nurse in charge prepared the Trolley and started serving drinks to the patients with an impressive smile. 

Bed 8 patient was continuously coughing. He was not able to expel phlegm even though he tried, holding sick bowl and tissue all the time. I was concerned about the patient. I discussed this with the Nurse for advice. He, along with another Nurse, came to help patient to cough up and clear his chest. Two of them offered some ‘physiotherapy’ in between patient’s shoulder blades for a good 15 minutes behind the closed blinds. This did not work for the patient and his cough was the same with red face as he was not able to breathe properly.
It was difficult to see the patient in this state and there was no other medical intervention to be offered to the patient. 

I put the Sats probe on patient’s finger to see his oxygen level. This was low. I informed The Nurse and patient was given 1 litre oxygen through nasal cannula. His Sats were not improving. Oxygen was increased and replaced with the venture mask. Sats were up and down and patient was exhausted with coughing. 

The patient was agitated and wanted to take off the mask. I was looking after my patient and rest of the time was supporting bed 8 patients to keep the oxygen mask on, explaining how important it was and involving him in conversation to distract from his condition.
 
Whenever I was attending my patient, bed 8 patient was taking his mask off and his Sats were dropping to 79%. I started having interactive therapeutic communication and discovered that patient was an Electrician living nearby. He had one married daughter with grand children. Patient was complaining of pain in his shoulders due to being in a sitting position for hours  and wanted to lie down which was not possible because of his breathing condition. I placed more pillows behind his shoulders to comfort him.

Nebulisers were given and Doctor was called. Patient had been fine the previous night. The patient told the Doctor that this cough triggered around 18:00hrs. As the patient was having a sip of water, his cough aggravated. Doctor decided to put him under ‘Nil by Mouth’ with the probability that fluids were going into his lungs. 

His mouth was extremely dry due to oxygen and he was begging for a sip of water. I was wetting his lips with the wet gauze with Nurse’s permission. A Portable X Ray machine was brought to the ward and his X-Ray was done in the presence of a night Nurse. 

A lot was happening during the night. And surely, it was a busy night. 

A chest physiotherapist was called and she assisted the patient to cough and clear his chest. He vomited some fluids a few times with flam. Doctors, night Nurses and Multi Dimensional Teams attended and patient’s condition improved by the morning. 

I was thinking about a ‘Cough Assisting Machine’ which was introduced to one of the patients in a community whilst I was working with ‘Complex Needs Children Team’. 

I have not heard about any such machine available in the Hospital and was thinking if the Hospital can buy one?
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Clean, Drinkable Liquid for Human Consumption

I was assigned 1-2-1 night shift with patient at bed 6. Another agency HCA was assigned patient on Bed 5. I changed and settled my patient and offered him a hot drink. 

Patient on bed-5 was having 5 litres of oxygen. He was anxious, restless and was removing oxygen mask all the time.  I supported HCA and in looking after her patient. 

I was making sure that my own patient was safe and settled as he was getting up and asking: Is there any clean, drinkable liquid for human consumption, is anyone listening to my voice. Give me some clean, drinkable water. 

He was on thickened fluids and I made him fresh thickened water. He was consuming 200mls freshly made water nearly every hour and his mouth was still dry. 

My patient often pulled his pad off despite securing it in his pyjamas and blankets and wet himself. His body was itchy and a liquid medication was applied all over including groin area.
  
HCA performed observations on her patient at 02:00hrs and consulted me to help her as patient’s Sats were low, touching to 81%. I asked HCA to inform the Nurse looking after the bay. No one came. Patient’s recommended target Sats were ranging from 92 to 94%. I changed patient’s position, sat him up, fixed the mask and placed Sats probe on his warm finger and then moved it to his big toe. This gradually improved the Sats to 94%. 
 
Agency HCA was on her break and I was looking after bed 5 patient as well. My patient got up and asked for water. I made him fresh thickened water and noticed that bed 5 patient had removed his oxygen mask. 

I went to the Nursing Station, HCA and the Nurse was chatting. I informed them to attend bed 5 patient who had removed his oxygen mask as I was attending my own patient. 5 minutes passed and no one came to support bed 5 patient. I was running back and forth between the 2 patients. I went out again and asked them firmly to attend the patient immediately as the two of them were still chatting. Nurse started staring at me with frowning face and HCA argued that I had not asked them to help but only informed that I was giving water to my patient. I was very disappointed with their attitude. Nurse was the same agency nurse who had argued with me in another ward as to when I had called her a big girl.
 
In the morning the Nurse changed all triggers reported by agency HCA before finish of the shift whilst she administered medication. 

I have noticed a very unpleasing feature of this ward that most of the permanent HCAs sleep openly in the corridors, in bays and at the Nursing Station after returning from their break. 

And if, for any reason, you call them for help or to answer a buzzer, they react badly pulling faces like a spoiled child. No one dares to ask them to get up including Nurses. 
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Clotted Blood 
   
My nephew, niece and her 2 years old daughter from Canada visited me in the month of January. They were on a recreational trip to Europe when my nephew caught a bad flu and the little girl got it from him. 

They monitored the baby during the night as both are Medical doctors. The next day the daughter was lethargic and dehydrated and refusing any oral intake. She was taken to A&E and recommended for admission to administer IV fluids. 

The Doctor started intervention to place a cannula without equipment and blood was all over the floor as he had no tray, sample containers or gauze. He Child was screaming and reacting to the pain. The Mum and Uncle were distressed while holding the child. 

It took longer than usual to start IV fluids. One dose of Ibuprofen was administered and the child was sent to the ward for further assessment. A very kind and professional female Doctor transferred the child to children ward. I and my nephew left around 1:30hrs after midnight.

The toddler was running around by the morning. We were informed that her blood had clotted last night and another blood sample was needed. Mum refused for another blood sample. 

We were discharged in the afternoon as child was eating and drinking fine. 
 
I got feedback from Mum and Uncle that they were very pleased with the Nurses in A&E, all staff and Doctors in assessment unit and children ward except for the Doctor who cannulised her in A&E. 
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Invoice

I got an invoice for £803.00 for the child’s one day stay in the Hospital was surprise to learn how expensive it was to get a basic treatment with overnight stay at a Hospital. 
The child was unwell at my residence and it was my duty to keep her safe. IV intervention was the need of the hour. 
I am confident that I made the right decision at the right time to take her to A&E. 
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Hearse, Tears and No Oxygen

I was assigned 1-2-1 night shift in Assessment Unit with a very anxious Dementia patient at bed 2. The patient had been aggressive the previous night and wanted to leave the ward. His wife and daughter were by his side. 

I introduced myself to the patient and his family and assured them that I will be looking after him for the night, meeting his needs. His wife informed me that they will be leaving shortly as they need to have dinner and were tired. 

The patient did not want the family to leave. He was angry as the family refused to listen to some of his instructions. In my presence, patient repeated: You must arrange a hearse. His daughter started crying and left the bay. 

The patient’s mouth was extremely dry and he was refusing to eat or drink. I persuaded him to have a sip, just to wet the mouth to speak and to be understood by the family. He complied with my request. 

The patient was very angry with his daughter’s reaction and said some harsh sentences to them. I assured the patient: You have the right to convey your wishes. Your daughter loves you very much and it is difficult for her to let this sink in, give her some time and she will be fine.
 
Thereafter, patient was a bit relaxed and his fast breathing settled down.  The family left after assuring the patient that they will come back next morning. His wife gave her mobile number to call her if needed. I assured the family that the patient will be fine. Family informed that they will call at 22:00hrs.  
 
Thereafter, the patient had long chats with me with tears and smiles at times while sharing his memories. He told me that: He got married in 1956 and, how much he loved his wife who was only 19 years old when they got married. They have 2 lovely daughters. He was a Chartered Engineering in Defence Services. 

Then he earnestly requested my help to ‘free his soul.’

He started trusting me to support him with using the urine bottle as he missed it when he opted to use it without help. I changed him with a fresh night suit from home as he hated the Hospital gown. 

The patient’s son in law called to know how he was doing as he had been extremely anxious and aggressive during the previous nights. Patient had not been eating and drinking since last Friday. 

When will I be free? He repeatedly asked me the most difficult questions, time after time: How can you help me? When is the time? How many more days? When will it happen?
 
He asked me what my religion says about death. I answered him in general: ‘Refusing food and drinks was not a solution as it will be painful and create misery for you and your loved ones. Time can come for you, me and anyone without any consideration of illness or health. So, the best approach is to keep your body working, eat, drink and rest. Smile and think about the pleasing gardens, flowers and the places you love. When the time will come, no one will be able to stop it and at the same time one cannot bring that time closer. Now, it is best for you to have a cup of tea and I make the best tea in this Hospital. You will immediately notice the change in your condition.’

We were holding hands and he agreed to have a cup of tea. He had 250mls. His breathing was settled and he clearly conveyed that he was feeling much better.
  
There was another 1-2-1 HCA with bed 5 patient who had a fall couple of nights earlier. We worked together as a team and supported patients in the bay. My patient had cat naps in between. 

The patient passed water in his underwear whilst standing and thought that the urine bottle was in place. He was confused but I took him to his past where his memory was intact as a typical Dementia patient.
   
The patient of bed 1 wanted to talk to me. I introduced myself to the patient who explained that last night he had a fall and hurt his left side ribs. He broke into tears explaining how upset he was with some of the Nurses and a specific Nurse whom he requested to pick his bag up from the floor and she replied: You pick it up and then he fell trying to pick up his bag.

The patient removed his glasses to wipe his face. His tears were literally running down his cheeks. It was heart breaking to see him in this state. I felt for him and controlled my emotions while supporting him. 

He further expressed his intention that the day he will be discharged from the Hospital, he will go straight to his friend in local media and will share his experiences. I was not sure what condition the patient was in but he seemed to have the capacity to take a decision about his treatment. 

As the patient was extremely annoyed with the Nurse, I explained to him about our work distribution with the colour of our uniform. The Nurses administer medication, perform various tests, take blood samples, cannulise, do paperwork, and call the Doctors to assess the patient’s condition and HCA’s meet rest of patients needs. 

A regular HCA was sent to A&E as they were short of staff. We were asked to go on break and coordinate between 2 of us performing 1-2-1 duties in the bay. 

My patient was asleep when I went on my break. I got a strong knock on the door and Nurse leading the shift called me. I went back and my patient was standing by the Nursing Station. He was not aggressive and was asking for a paper and a pen as he wanted to make a ‘referral.’ 

I gave a paper and pen to my patient. He wrote a few words on it, folded and put it in his pocket. The patient was asking that he wanted to speak to the Chief Executive of the Hospital.  

Early in the morning, the Nurse in charge started checking the Emergency resuscitation trolley which is normally checked and verified during the night. 

This was the time for morning tilts and the Nurse working in the next bay was asking my Nurse to help. Normally, the shift leading Nurse extends help in case the staff is short. On the contrary, the shift leading Nurse chose to check the emergency trolley at the most busy time. 

Unfortunately, a note had been left by the day shift Nurse saying that there was no oxygen in emergency trolley which had not been checked all night, risking patients’ life.

I was asked to help the Nurse in next bay to change a soiled patient. The patient was standing by the bed in his pull up pad. Bed sheets were soiled with loose stool. Sheets were removed. Nurse removed patient’s soiled pad and placed it on the bare mattress instead of using yellow bag. I removed the pad and cleaned the mattress. 

The Nurse wiped patient’s bottom only outside the ‘cheeks’ and left the rest pretending that she had cleaned properly. I took over and cleaned the patient. He was left unclean by the Nurse which was harmful for his skin. 
I wondered how system could prevent employing people without compassion in healthcare sector. 
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Big Kiss

I was assigned a night shift with two patients. I offered them hot drinks before sleep and asked what would you like? ‘A big kiss’ he replied. 
We do not offer that in the Hospital Sir. We have tea coffee and hot chocolate on offer, I smiled. He then opted for hot chocolate. 

I changed another patient whilst two of the regular HCA’s were gossiping standing in the bay and ignoring the patient’s needs.
 
A patient requested to change him. I conveyed this to the Nurse. She replied: Please don’t ask me. I have to finish my cup of coffee.
 
The HCA looking after the bay brought a big size cup of coffee and sat down in the bay ignoring the patient who pushed his wet sheet away and pulled his pad. 

I put on protective clothing and asked help from the Nurse and HCA, both refused. Sadly, I took off my apron and gloves and left the patients unattended. 

After 40 minutes, Nurse and HCA changed that patient who was exhausted by then.
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Immunologist

I arrived for my 1-2-1 night shift with bed 2 patient and discovered that an agency HCA had already taken over, with whom I worked previously.
 
Thereafter, I was assigned a confused patient at bed 1. A very smart, educated and sophisticated daughter was present with her patient. I introduced myself. During a brief chat, I was informed that most of the patient’s children were Doctors and he himself was an Immunologist. 

Daughter explained that patient’s needs were specific with details. 
I complied with the instructions and offered the patient a hot drink. I wrote down all the herbal teas flavours. The daughter explained in her native language. He chose Blueberry herbal tea. 

Later, he was hungry, I wrote foods we had and he chose porridge. His daughter left after a couple of hours.

The patient was very particular to know about his vital signs when I performed baseline observations. 

Cleanliness of his table and manner of placing his stuff was his all time requirement. After every use, I was cleaning his table and placing his belongings exactly as he liked.

Patient instructed me to throw away a few cookie packs and chocolate boxes. I kept those in his cupboard without making him aware. He was confused and asking me to get rid of ‘fishes’ he was seeing in front of him.
 
I closed the blinds half way and sprayed his air freshener. He asked me to put some classical music on. I complied and used my iPhone to play the music of his choice. 

The Agency HCA was instructed to perform observations in the bay but he disappeared. He had moved to side room patient (who was also 121 but no one was covering him) to avoid performing the observations.

This HCA was of the same background as of Nurses. I had already reported in my previous feedback about his watching movies with headphones on. He did the same at this shift. He put the white bed sheet on a reclining chair outside the side room and started watching a movie with headphones on. 

I noticed that in all wards Nurses support incompetent, unprofessional agency staff that are from their own background. 

Another female HCA was sent to cover bed 2 patient. She came with an angry face; giving excuse that she does not like 1-2-1 duty. She used this as an excuse for not working during the night.
 
She was asked to perform baseline observations at night. She started observations and performed only two and left her bed 2 patient as she heard that the patient had refused observations previously without making any effort. She left my patient on bed 1 because I was there. 

But why she left rest of the 6 patients in the ward? I do not know. I performed observations for rest of the patients. 

Bed 6 patient was having the condition of COPD (Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease). His Sats had been low and oxygen mask was on. His target Sats were 88-92%. When I checked, his Sats were 98%.
 
Agency Nurse looking after the bay was informed and she stated: We have to maintain his Sats on 88-92% because Doctors will be mad to know about his high Sats as it will poison his blood. 

Oxygen was reduced from 8 litres to 4 litres by the Nurse and patient’s Sats were still 96/ 97% for the next couple of hours. Now oxygen was reduced to 2 litres through nasal cannula. Patient was asleep, window was opened.
 
At one point, his oxygen was turned off because Sats were 96%. Patient was comfortable and his breathing was fine.
 
After sometimes, I noticed patient was sitting on his bed. I went to him. He said he was unable to breath, Nurse was on her break, I put the Sats probe and it was 79%. I placed nasal on 4 litres immediately and informed the other Nurse. Patient picked up on 8 litres.
 
I reflected that how important it was for the Nurses and HCAs to observe and check their patients periodically.
 
I suggested to the authorities that Nurses and regular HCAs must sit in their bays instead of Nursing Station to keep the patients safe. 

Bed 8 patient was removing his oxygen mask and pulling his cannula. He needed 1-2-1 support and Nurses were reluctant to ask 1-2-1 HCA to sit by bed 8 patient and protect him from removing his mask and cannula. 

Now, patient pulled his cannula and the Nurse, very indifferently asked one of the male Nurses to place a new one. 

Male Nurse brought 2 packs of cannula. I asked if it was ok for me to learn through observation and he agreed. I knew this Nurse and had worked with him when he was working as HCA and waiting for his pin to register as a qualified Nurse. 

He sat down on the right side of the patient and looked for the vein taking good time as patient’s veins were difficult to find. He tried first spot which did not work and he discarded the used cannula. He tried a second spot with a new cannula and succeeded.
 
After sometime, patient pulled out the new cannula. The Nurse looking after the patient again requested in a monotonous voice to place a new cannula. The Nurse acted in a ‘robotic manner’ like it was very normal for frequent pulling and placing of cannula which I believe is not the case.

This time, another male Nurse brought one set of cannula. I was observing him from close by. He used the same cannula 3 times on patient’s left arm and 3 times on the right arm without success. Patient’s arms were bleeding by now. 

121 HCA spent all night on her phone and when asked to place the oxygen mask back for bed 8 patient, she did it reluctantly. What a disgrace.

In the morning, I performed observations for all patients before HCA returned from her break. 

She asked what time I will be finishing my shift and informed me that she will finish at 07:00hrs. I enquired how come; night shift starts 19:30 and finish at 07:30hrs.  She replied: No you can tell Bank Office what time you want to finish and I book my shifts till 07:00. She then left before 07:00hrs. 

Out of curiosity, I checked bank off duty sheet and noted that she had booked her shift from 19:30 to 07:30hrs. 

I was thinking about the HCA that she had done observations for only 2 patients at night.  She played with her phone all night and slept using a blanket sitting next to the patient and still lied about her shift.
 
We were about to finish the shift when my 1-2-1 patient asked: Can you free my legs so I can go to the toilet? He was extremely stressed to come out from the bed and refused to use a commode. My Nurse and I checked his pad which was dry. Nurse spoke the same language as the patient and settled him asking me to go home as other staff took over.
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I was assigned a night shift 1-2-1 duty with patient on bed 1 who was confused with the risk of fall e.g. he smoked a cigarette after every half an hour and a 1-2-1 was required to take him out on a wheelchair. 

He was a cheerful person, professionally a journalist and then had joined Police Force as a ‘Crime Scene Detective’ as explained by him. He learned magic in between the two professions. 

He was drinking water and milk only and using toilet frequently.
  
A deteriorating COPD patient was moved to bed 5. He was on 8 litres of oxygen and was having difficulty in breathing. His target Sats were 88-92%. I performed observations and informed the Nurse that patient’s Sats were 97%. She said that was fine because his target Sats were 88-92%.

I knew his Sats were high and 8 litres oxygen was required to be reduced. Patient was complaining about breathing difficulties. He was having cold sweats and often hit his forehead with his hand, I believe due to anxiety. 

The Nurse was not paying him any attention to maintain his oxygen level at the recommended level and said to the patient: Your Sats are fine. How you can say you can’t breathe? You are panicking. Just relax. 

Patient’s heart rate was 107 and he seemed uncomfortable. He was given nebulisers during which his Sats were 88-89%. Doctor was consulted and Nurse informed the patient that Doctor was happy with his Sats. 

Now Sats were 98-99% and his heart rate was increasing. Patient occasionally had cat naps but mostly was unsettled. He had increased difficulty in breathing and his heart rate aggravated to 119. 

Thereafter, patient’s Sats remained 100% for a few hours. I informed the Nurse politely and mentioned that COPD patient had recommended target Sats of 88-92%. Patient was complaining all night that he was not feeling well. 

By the morning his heart rate was 128. Nurse put IV Paracemol. It was administered and blood started coming into the tube. I informed the Nurse and removed the equipment. 

I was surprised to note that 100% Sats for a COPD patient. Doctor and Night Nurse attended the patient while I was on break.
 
There was another unwell patient on bed 3 and an agency HCA was sent for 1-2-1 support. At night, whilst I was there to perform observations, patient’s both eyes were sticky. I requested 1-2-1 to take a tissue and gently wipe the patient’s eyes. 
He replied: I am not allowed to touch him. 
I requested again and he did it half-heartedly. 
This 1-2-1 HCA slept all night on his chair in the corner by the window and no one questioned him. The Nurse from his background once asked him to move away his chair away as she needed to administer IV medication. When she finished, she asked HCA to go back and he slept again.
  
During the night, no patient was tilted or repositioned or checked for wet soiled pads including one patient who was unresponsive after a seizure. 

In the morning I asked 1-2-1 to adjust the patient as his head was on the metal bed side. He replied: You do not know him; I will not touch him and let him sleep. 

This patient was fine when I performed night time observations. Patient looked at me and said: Let me lift my arm when I was placing BP cuff to check his blood pressure. 

I asked 1-2-1 to put pillow underneath his arm which was trapped in between the bed and metal side harnesses. Patient was on IV fluids. In the morning around 07:00hrs Nurse asked HCA if he had checked the patient’s pad and changed?

There was an End of Life patient in side room 2. I changed his pad with a HCA. He was very anxious and said: I am dying. I wanted to offer him TLC but my own bay was busy. 

Early in the morning his family was informed of his deteriorating condition and they were there by his bed side.
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Last Gasps 
 
I was the only HCA working on the floor in a specialised ward. Later an A&E Nurse was sent to perform HCA duty. 

We were informed in handover that a 74 year old patient in side room was under review to withdraw treatment from tomorrow. Family was informed and had agreed. Patient’s Sats were to be maintained at 94-95%.

I started observations and as I reached the door of the side room, I noticed that patient on the bed was not looking good. He seemed like an ‘End of Life’ patient. I approached a Nurse and asked: Do I have to perform observations on this patient? He does not look right to me?
She replied: I don’t know.
Then I asked another Nurse who just started the shift: Is this patient due for regular observations? 
He replied: We do perform observations on everyone and I am not sure who is exempted.

I was not convinced but entered the side room. Patient’s oxygen mask was off and was pulled onto his chin. I placed the mask back. I introduced myself and explained what I was doing. 

The patient’s eyes were open, looking towards the door. He was in semi sitting position and his breathing was shallow. He was cold and clammy as I placed the BP cuff and Sats probe on his finger. 

The observation machine started making a loud alarm as patient’s Sats were 74% and he just closed his eyes softly in front of me. 

His Sats dropped rapidly to 40% and disappeared on my machine. He was gone in front me within seconds. 

I asked Nurse to come and see the patient. He came and noticed there was no breathing. Nurse then went out and patient gasped twice for the last time. 

Nurse returned along with another Nurse and checked the patient, but there was no life. It was 20.14hrs when the patient passed away. Doctor, Night Nurse and patient’s son were informed. The son spent time with his Dad. 

Nurse and I washed and prepared the body for mortuary. There was the sound of a trolley. It came covered with purple quilt and body was taken away. 

We cleaned the room and by mid midnight, there was a new patient on the same bed.



[bookmark: _Toc26875793]Degree in English Literature

In the same ward, a female patient at bed 2 was extremely difficult and annoying. She engaged staff for a long time to support her for simple tasks. 

I was informed that she had already threatened staff to complain to the Chief Executive. This patient was abusing staff and did not let go of any opportunity to do so. 

The patient’s call buzzer sounded. Nurse looking after that bay was already there and needed second staff to transfer patient from bed to commode.

Who is this? Patient asked the Nurse. 
My name is Farida. I replied. 
Are you a Nurse? She asked.
No, I am a HCA. I added.
OK Farida, I have no energy in my legs. Radiology affected me badly. My bottom is sore. I am not able to stand. You put your right hand on my left hand and your left hand on my back.
I complied with her instructions, registering in my mind that which hand to put where. 
As I was becoming confident that I was about to pass first test, she said: Stop, stop, water first. Can I have 3 sips of water? Slowly 1…2..and 3. Can you put my cup where it was and do not change its position as I am not able to see. Are you ready now? Tissue paper please…can you pass me a tissue paper? One more..ok thanks. Are you ready now?  But listen you have to be very gentle and move me slowly. Okay? Which side I am going right or left?  Right! How many steps?

It took us a good 35 minutes to support her to use commode. 

This patient was witnessed moving her limbs freely, when alone, but gave staff a hard time. 

There was a new challenge every time her buzzer sounded. 

I went to check her observations and she asked: Where are you from Farida? Malaysia? Do you have a partner? 
Yes I have a husband.
How is your sex life? She enquired.
Fine, I replied.
You must wear a pretty dress, asks your husband to sit and watch you. You tell him how beautiful you are, dance and shake your boobs and hips…he will then get turned on.

I was 14 when I met my husband, I was a virgin, I got married at the age of 18 and a half and first time tasted orgasm. Do you understand what I mean?
Yes I do. I reluctantly replied.

Then I had my son after one year, second year I had my daughter. My husband went to serve in armed services and I was left with a car and 2 children. 

I decided to go back and complete my education. I did my Degree from London University in English Literature and Drama….then I had an affair with….

I interrupted her: Please accept my apology as I have to perform observations for other patients. 
Ok, thanks for listening to me. She concluded.

At night I supported her to use bed pan and on both occasions changed wet bedding. She was very bossy and wanted me to act like a robot on her instructions. I was exhausted.

When I covered her with a white sheet and 3 blankets, she said: No. Only sheet first and then blankets, one by one. 
I replied: I have covered you properly and there is another patient on commode who is waiting for me. 
She said: OK you go, attend the patient and then come back.
 
What a nightmare.

The layout of this ward was strange. Nursing station was in one corner and Staff room and kitchen in the other. Sluice was at a distant location and treatment room in the forth corner. Pillows and supplies were placed outside the entrance door. I was shattered walking all night. 

Following morning, I slept till noon. 
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TURP

My husband was admitted to the Hospital for TURP (Transurethral Resection of the Prostate) surgery. He returned to the side room of a new ward after surgery. He was awake and in pain. I spent some time with him, provided personal care and went to my night shift duty,
 
Next morning, his blood pressure was low. I asked about last night’s supper and he was not given any. He informed that later, a staff member had asked to make him a sandwich but he was not happy and declined. 

I enquired if he had taken his blood pressure medication which he affirmed. I advised him to stop as his BP was low. He was asked to bring all his medication and have them, unless Doctor advises otherwise. 

I provided personal care to my husband, offered him some juice and water and made him a cup of coffee. His blood pressure went up. He informed that a blood thinning (Heparin) injection in his stomach had been started for 3 days. Irrigation was running.
 
Nurse came to take his blood sample. She tried 3 times with the same needle on left arm and then used a fresh needle for right arm. 
I went to my night shift.
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Heparin and 35mls Water in Balloon

Next day, I returned to my husband after working the night shift. Irrigation had been stopped and a catheter bag was in place; urine output was mixed with blood. 

My husband informed the Nurse that Heparin injection had not been administered in the morning. After a while, a male Nurse came and said that my husband was only prescribed ‘Buscopan’ tablets and nothing else. 

My husband explained that he had this injection on the first day, which was prescribed for twice a day. After persistent follow-up, injection was administered at 13:30hrs and accordingly next injection was planned after midnight. 

Nurse came to remove his catheter bag. By now, there was clear urine visible in the catheter tube. She extracted 10mls water from the balloon inside the bladder and pulled the catheter tube. It did not come out. She pulled harder. My husband screamed but tube still did not come out. She pulled for the 3rd time when I told her to stop and check for more water in the balloon. On my advice, she extracted 2 lots of 10mls and 1of 5mls. It was 35mls all together in the balloon.
 
She caused trauma to my husband and he became distressed as there was more blood coming out in the catheter bag now. I provided him with personal care. 

After a while, he had raised body temperature of 38.7C. He went to toilet to pass urine a couple of times. Third time onwards, he was not able to hold urine. 

My husband was due for discharge that day. Doctors came and prescribed oral antibiotics and informed that they will keep him for another night. 

I was walking to my night shift, thinking about poor care my husband had received. And why he had been prescribed oral antibiotics despite the fact that he was cannulised and could have had an effective medication route.
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Poor Care

In the morning, I returned to my husband who was in a continence pad, exhausted and sleepy. He still was not able to hold urine and output was red with fresh blood. I provided him with personal care. Doctors prescribed him toltoredone tablets 1ml twice a day. This medication had been prescribed by the Urologist 8 months earlier and doze was1 ml per day. My husband was instructed to stop this medication after TURP surgery.
  
At 11:00hrs, Doctors came and informed that my husband was discharged and I could take him home. I packed his bag.

My husband was having a temperature; he was drowsy and was not looking his normal self. I requested the Nurse to send his blood for Sepsis as he was deteriorating. She took the sample and later conveyed to me that the Doctors had asked for blood test in the morning. Infection was confirmed in blood test and his Sodium level was low. 

Nurse was not confident that my husband should be going home in this condition. She specifically mentioned that low sodium level was a concern. She asked one of the doctors and he said: I am not worried about the sodium level; the body will recover by itself. 

He asked to restrict the fluids to 1.5 litres. I spoke to the Doctors and conveyed my concerns about my husband’s raised temperature, not holding urine and more blood in urine, which was clear before catheter was removed. 

Doctor asked me to show him urine, I took the urine bottle to empty it in the commode but to my surprise he took the bottle from my hand looked in and said: it is fine. 

How on earth can one see the colour of urine determining the quantity of blood from a dark urine bottle with a narrow neck?  I was ever so sad to see their professionalism. At the same time, I was worried about the fragile health of my husband who had fever and kidney impairment and the Doctor’s decision to send him home with oral antibiotics. 
 
I asked the Nurse to send my husband’s urine sample for test as amount of blood was not reducing. She took the sample and after a while told HCA to throw the sample because patient was going home. I heard her and requested the Nurse that sample may please be sent for analysis as it will take longer for me to get it done at our local GP’s. She took the urine sample which had been discarded and agreed to send it to the lab. 

We waited a very long time, from 11:00hrs till 16:30hrs for routine procedures to be completed and then discharged.  

Resultantly I got a severe headache. It was a nightmare, and added to my heartache that how patients are treated and how their families feel defected. If this was the care for my husband with my healthcare background, what about those who have no medical knowledge.
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Deterioration
 
My husband was unwell at home after being discharged from the Hospital.  He was in throbbing pain. He was sparingly opening his eyes and was drowsy all the time. I was checking his blood pressure and oxygen level and requesting him to open his eyes and respond to me. I stopped his blood pressure medication as his blood pressure was low. 

He had not had any bowel movement for the last 5 days. No lactulose had been prescribed although he had prostate surgery and constipation remained the biggest side effect. After 5 days, he went to the toilet at 19:00hrs but could not pass. He returned with more pain. Then he tried again at 23:00hrs, no luck. He was screaming with pain and could not sit or lie on the bed. 

At this point, trying to relive him was extremely challenging and painful. After midnight, I called 111 to seek help. They advised me to take my husband to Urgent Care and ask them to see him within 2 hours. 

A very professional and competent Doctor attended my husband. She was shocked to learn how poorly my husband was and had been discharged from the Hospital. The Doctor decided to take immediate intervention using suppositories to relieve him. This worked. Doctor referred him to A&E and wrote a letter to them conveying his condition. 

Immediately, I took my husband to A&E and he was admitted in Assessment Unit. Treatment started with IV fluids, sodium infusion and tablets. He was drowsy and falling asleep most of the time. Staff did not share his lab reports with me and I kept a low profile even though we were entitled to get the copies.
 
I stayed in the Hospital all the time to look after my husband even though I was working night shifts. I was alert and vigilant about the treatment my husband was receiving and rightly so. If I had not been alert, he may have been traumatised once again.
 
Next morning, the Nurse informed me that 4 mls toltoredone was available and she was ordering 3mls to reach 7 mls dose for my husband. I informed her that my husband was only prescribed 1ml BD dose and not 7mls. She went to confirm from the Doctor. On her return, she apologised to me and informed that she misread the dose as Doctor had written 1 like 7. 

I reflected and felt confident on my decision to monitor my husband’s treatment closely. 

My husband was discharged after 3 days on achieving satisfactory targets. 
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A year 3 Student Nurse was performing HCA 1-2-1 night shift duty with side room 2 patient. I was sent to cover her break. There was no record of provided night care. I requested HCA on her return that patient’s care notes may please be completed. Unfortunately, my request was ignored.
 
Later, in the morning, she requested my help to change her patient. Patient’s bed was tilted and raised up. HCA had a clean pad in her hand and went out saying: I forgot to bring yellow bag. 
There were no cleaning wipes either. I was very disappointed to see that the patient was soaking wet.
Have you got wipes? I asked her and she went back to fetch some. HCA went out for the 3rd time to get clean sheets.  

On her return, she turned patient towards herself so that I would have to take the lead. I cleaned and changed the patient.
Thereafter, I had a word with this Year 3 Student Nurse that she was leading the continence care and I was there to help her yet she turned patient’s back towards me to take lead!

I told her that if she will continue doing this on qualifying, she will not make a good Nurse.
She kept quite!
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Cannulisation

I worked on the floor on my night shift in Children Assessment Unit. I was asked by a female Doctor to support her to cannulise a 14 months old male child.
 
I was busy with another patient in the bay; I completed my task and went to the treatment room. Dad was holding a screaming child on the treatment trolley. Another female Doctor was holding child’s leg and this Doctor, sitting in a chair, was looking at child’s right foot.

I put the gloves on, grabbed a chair and released the second Doctor who was supporting the child by holding his leg. 
The Doctor pricked on child’s feet 4 times without success.
 
She was taking time to look for another spot, twisting the feet strongly right and left, and demonstrating herself as being very calm. Child was breathless and screaming due to pain.
  
Doctor let go of the right foot and took hold of the left foot to start all over again. I wiped the blood from the right foot with the gauze and doctor said: It’s ok, there is no blood.  She then said to the Dad: I think we have to pass a NG Tube as child’s veins are not visible. We can give him a break. You can go back to your bed.  

I was hugely relieved as the child was taken out of the treatment room.

After a while, I was asked by another female Doctor to support her to cannulise a 3 years old female child. Doctor asked Mum to sit in a chair and placed the child in a hugging position.  Now child’s right hand was in easy access and her face was away. I held the child’s arm and the Doctor gently pricked and hit the vein. The child did not move as intervention was gentle, precise and painless. 

After mid night, a female staff wearing all blue uniform came and asked me to support her to cannulise the same 14 months old child who had just gone to sleep. 

As the child was placed on treatment trolley by the Dad, he was terrified. I sat on the chair holding child’s left leg, Staff explained to the child that it will be quick one and a little cold whilst she sprayed at one point looking for the vein and next moment she had placed the cannula precisely; the child did not move. Within the next few seconds, she secured the cannula and left. 

Dad was ever so relived.
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Dipping Sats

I was assigned a 1-2-1 night shift in Assessment Unit with the patient on bed 2. 

My patient was an 85 years old female, admitted with pneumonia. She was opening her eyes and speaking clearly with good reflexes. Her Oxygen saturation was unstable and she was on 15 litres of oxygen.
 
It was reported in hand over that Nurses were performing suction to improve her Sats but she complained that it was hurting her. Therefore, they stopped suction. 

When I took over, patient’s son and brother were by her bed side. I offered them drinks. They were worried about the patient and asked about visiting hours as it was close to 20:00hrs and rest of the family members wanted to visit.
 
I explained that they were allowed to visit the patient as patient’s Sats were dipping down. I informed them that any number of family members can visit the patient at any time.
 
As they left, I introduced myself to the patient and explained that I will support her till the morning. She opened her eyes and responded to my greetings.  Her Sats were 87% and gradually dropping. She was on IV antibiotics and fluids.
 
My Nurse and I were very concerned about this patient and informed the Doctors few times about her Sats. Rest of patient’s baseline observations were good except her heart rate as she was struggling to breath.
 
I myself spoke to one the Doctors when Sats dropped down to 80%. He said: It’s okay.

The Nurse informed that the Doctors will make a plan after observing the patient for 24 hours.

After midnight patient was unresponsive to the Doctors and her Sats dipped down to 64%. We repositioned the patient and changed her pad. Her body was cold and clammy. 

The family was informed. They confirmed that no one including the Doctors had spoken to them about patient’s deteriorating condition.
 
Thereafter, a petite, young female Doctor, who had not been seen in the ward before, was deputed to inform the family.
 
It was decided to move the patient in a side room of next ward, so that the family could spend time with her in privacy. As the patient was ready to be moved, her Sats gradually improved to 87%

Thereafter, I was given bed 1 patient for 1-2-1 support who was deteriorating.
 
I went to see my transferred patient in next ward around 05:00hrs and her Sats were 56%.
 
Around 07:15hrs Nurse looking after her informed me that she had passed away.
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I settled my 1-2-1 patient, gave him a drink and provided continence care. His observations improved and triggers decreased. I was serving him various drinks. As I returned from my break, the bed broke down. Patient’s tea was on his table but he could not sit up to drink it. 

Patient was craving for drinks during the night but no one could fix the bed and the concerned department was not informed despite various requests to the Nurse in charge. By the morning, patient’s body temperature and blood pressure were low.

While I was providing care to my 1-2-1 patient, I was called by one of the Nurses asking me to help in the next bay to provide continence care and tilts. 

I informed that I was looking after my 1-2-1 patient and would prefer to work in my own bay. Nurse asked harshly: Who told you that? Besides, haven’t you left your patient to talk to me now? 

I reiterated my reply and returned to my patient. I looked after all the patients in my bay and alerted Nurse accordingly as their baseline observations changed. One patient deteriorated during the night and Doctors were called. Another patient developed 3 triggers by the morning. A new patient was admitted in the bay and one was moved to the next bay. It was a busy shift with 4 closely monitored patients.

My second night shift was with the same 1-2-1 patient. 

The electric bed was still not fixed and patient was bed bound. I was not able to support him to eat and drink as he was lying flat on the bed and it was not safe to eat or drink in that position. 

The air mattress had deflated and only worked for a short while when I tapped it hard and switched it off and on. I requested the Nurse in charge several times to get patient’s bed sorted without success.

Despite all my efforts, no support was extended by the Nurses and I left the patient in the same painful state after the 2nd night.

I was thinking that decision makers should set up an emergency phone service to provide maintenance in such situations.
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Faded Voices

My next shift was assigned with the same female patient with whom I worked previous night. She was a very sophisticated lady in her 80’s. I had a good chat with her. She walked outside the room and I accompanied her. On her return to the room I offered her a hot drink and settled her into the bed. 

As I returned from my break, I was asked to cover another 1-2-1 HCA’s break in the next bay. This patient has wondering all over the bays.

I took over and had a chat with the patient and motivated her to go to bed. She complied. I made her toast with butter and milky tea. She finished eating and slept right after. This was my tried and tested method, a combination of ‘Carbohydrates and Fats’ which helps patients to sleep.
 
Most patients in C bay were asking for help and no one was attending to them. A Nurse was sitting at Nursing Station giving deaf ear to the buzzer and the voices begging for help. The patient at bed 1 was asleep. Patients at bed 2, 3 and 4 were continuously asking for help. 

At 02.00hrs past midnight, the Nurse looking after D bay went to change her patients along with HCA. Thereafter, all the patients were asleep in D Bay and lights were turned off.
 
However, in C Bay there were hue and cry, sobs, tears and voices fading with exhaustion.
The bariatric patient at bed 4 was stuck. Her leg and arm were trapped in between the mattress and metal harness. She was in pain and pleading for help: Oh please help me.
Patient at bed 3 was repeating: Please help me, kind lady. I am soaking wet. Can anybody help me? 
Patient at bed 2 was in tears saying: I am so frightened. Please help me. I cannot move. I am soaking wet. I am very thirsty. Please give me some water. Patient literally started crying.

The Nurse ignored the buzzers and all pleas of the patients as though she heard nothing. I gave the patient a drink. She asked me to change her. She was soaking wet and her bedding was visibly wet. 

After 45 minutes, their voices had faded and bed 3 patient was only able to move her hand in the air to call for help.
 
I was shocked and distressed seeing all this and went to bed 2 patient, assured her that staff will change her soon and stroked her hand gently. 
Then I went to bed 3 patient and informed her that staff will change her soon holding her hand as she was not able to speak any more. 
Then I went to bed 4 patient, adjusted her leg and arm on the bed and covered her properly.
 
Now, the Nurse asked me to go back to my side room.
 
It was obvious that this Nurse had no plans or intention to support or change the helpless patients during the night and postponed all care till the morning. 
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Angry

I was given a bay with 10 patients and 4 side rooms under 3 Nurses. There were also two HCA’s doing 1-2-1 duty in the bay.
 
I did first tilts and changed 2 patients in side rooms with the Nurse looking after them.
 
My Nurse in charge informed me that she will come over to join me to tilt and change 4 bed bound patients she was looking after.
 
She then conveyed that she was going to the blood bank and I had to do the tilts with the help of other HCAs. It was 23:45 when I finished tilts, observations and went to Nursing Station to sit for the first time. 

A male HCA asked me to sort the kitchen out. I tidied up the kitchen, sorting dishes and filling Hydration Station. 

I made myself a hot drink and took my snack out and returned to Nursing Station for the second time. It was 00:45 now. At the same time, one of the Nurses came and instructed me: You are going to your break now.

At 4:00hrs I went to reposition my patients and was shocked to find out from the records that they had not been changed during my break. 

The first patient I checked was soaking wet and soiled with a sore bottom. I asked the help of a Nurse who was sitting in the bay looking after rest of the 6 patients with two 1-2-1 staff. She stood up and went out of the bay without responding to my request. 

I changed my patients with the help of a 1-2-1 HCA and finished at 04:45. I went to Nurse in charge and stated: I am disappointed that no one changed my patients when I was on my break and I am not happy about it. She replied: I was very busy.
 
The Nurse looking after the side rooms tilted her patients every 2 hours with me.

After completing tilts I performed observations. I was asked to check BMs for all the patients.

When I finished the shift, Nurse in charge hugged me and said: Sorry, you must be very angry. 



[bookmark: _Toc26875804]
Go to Mars
 
I was given a 1-2-1 night shift with a confused bed bound patient on bed 6. At The start of the shift, patient’s wife was by his bed side and he appeared to be calm and settled.
 
I introduced myself to the patient and his wife and offered them drinks.
 
Wife left and I noticed a completely different person asking every other minute: Give me a big kiss. Can I see your bums? Can I give a big smack on your bums?’ Nurses and staff informed me that he was flirting with all female staff.  

Patient wet himself every half an hour by pulling his pad down and sprinkling urine all over. Every time I changed him, he opened his bowels with loose motion. It was a hard job to change him and his bedding so often. It was taking me 20 minutes to change him and his bedding. He would be wet again after next 10 minutes.

I sat close to him at an arm’s length and as he tried to put his hand in his pad, I gently stopped him explaining that wetting himself and the bed was not a good idea.
 
Luckily, he listened to my advice and started dosing off. He was confused and spoke loudly all the time saying: Sister please help me. Help, help, help.... 
 When asked: How can I help? 
I want to go to Mars, come with me, he replied.
Please help me … … Come on, give me a kiss…. 
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Let Me Go

At the same shift, we heard Nurse in charge calling for help from one of the side rooms. We rushed to help and noticed that an End of Life female patient was holding a pair of scissors and trying to cut her NG tube.

The patient’s grip was very strong; her voice was clear and forceful: Leave me. She wanted to cut and remove all her life supporting tubes. I explained to the patient and convinced her to let go of the pair of scissors. Patient was taking off her 15 litres oxygen mask as well.
 
Nurse in charge decided to depute me with her for rest of the night. I looked around the patient. There were 5 handmade picture cards with ‘Get well’ messages. Various A4 papers were displayed on the wall with pictures and messages.

I picked up wet wipes and said: Let me give a good wipe to your table. As I started tiding and cleaning the table, I noticed instructions on a spiral writing pad, written in beautiful hand writing which reads: £8550.00 transferred from xxxx bank account to another. 

There was one blank pink colour birthday card for a niece, a round hair brush with locks of patient’s hair as she had chemotherapies, a beautiful pair of reading glasses, a mobile phone, chargers, an iPod, a wallet and hand bag on the table. 

I finished cleaning the table while talking to the patient.
 
I washed my hands and asked her permission to check the pad. I got a towel, wet it with warm water and gently wiped her face, neck, hands, feet, bikini line, arms and under arms. She remained very relaxed with her eyes closed as a baby.

I combed her hair gently standing one side and then on to the other. I was telling her how beautiful she was. She opened her eyes and held my ID card, hanging around my neck to see my name. She adjusted the distance to read it as she was not wearing her glasses. She closed her eyes again.

She was born in the 50s. She had mesmerising big greenish eyes and beautiful soft hands and feet. 

As she gently tried to pull her NG tube and take her oxygen mask off, I explained to her that how precious this life was despite all afflictions and hardships. I was holding her hand and she was listening to me opening her very gripping beautiful eyes. 

Acknowledging her condition, reflexes, observations and voice, it was not believable that she was a Palliative patient. Now we were friends. 

She was calm and settled but as she took off her oxygen mask, her 100% Sats dropped quickly to 65%. I placed her oxygen mask back quickly. She asked time at 01:30hrs and thereafter every few minutes she tried to remove everything. 

I asked her if she wanted to write the birthday card for her niece but she was not interested. She was not eager to have a sip of water unless the Nurse forcefully gave her a drink, taking off her oxygen mask. 
 
Most of the time, I was comforting her by gently stroking her arms and hand.

In the early morning, she was attempting to remove NG tube more strongly and I noticed that the stomach contents had not been excreting anymore even though feed was on.
 
At one point of time she said to me in a very strong and firm voice: Leave my hand, let me go. 

I learnt that her consultant had signed her end of life plan but some of the doctors had refused to sign due to her age. 

It was 6:45hrs when the Nurse was attending her to administer medication. I went to fetch a sick bowl to empty the stomach contents. On my return, I noticed that she had pulled out her NG tube and was very calm and peaceful. 

Thereafter, she went in deep sleep. She was still responding to voice when I finished my shift but her eyes were slightly open, in a different way.
 
I wondered why she was on 15 Lit Oxygen, continuous feed and NG tube in place when she was an end of life patient.

Next night, I started 1-2-1 shift with the same flirting male patient. The wife was by his bed side. Patient appeared stressed and irritated. Wife left and he changed to his normal self. I offered him toast with butter and a hot drink which worked well and he fell asleep.

I learned that the female side room patient I supported the previous night had passed away in the afternoon.
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Sleep

I put my availability on E-Roster but no shift was allocated. So I went to the bank office. Two of us were sent in one ward. Second HCA was a year 2 Student Nurse. I have not seen any worse person in Healthcare than her. She was a nightmare for the patients. I could not believe how a person could choose such a profession if she had no empathy or interest. 

We started in centre bay, there were 6 patients and 2 were having 1-2-1 support. I started with a bed bound patient on bed 6. Bed 5 patient was mobile but unstable on his feet.
 
Student HCA supporting him disappeared at start of the shift. Both patients were coming out from their beds. I was finding it hard to keep both safe. I enquired where the Student HCA was. 
She appeared in the corridor and said she was replying to a text message and stated: Don’t panic. I am here.
 
We were told to look after all 6 patients in the bay. HCA was physically restraining bed 5 patient and he was getting aggressive.
I softly explained: Bed 5 is a confused Dementia patient. They like to have their circle of personal space, so please stand a bit distant from him unless he trusts you. 
I had a polite chat with the patient and he was responding calmly. He had come from an EU and was calling me ‘Senorita’. I made him toast with butter and a cup of tea. Thereafter, he was settled.
 
I changed my 1-2-1 patient, checked bed 5 and bed 4 patient’s and started observations.  Student HCA changed other 3 patients with the male Nurse and told me that he will be her next Mentor. She stayed most of the time out of the bay.
HCA returned and pulled out patient’s chair, picked an extra pillow from bed 2, took off the pillow cover and left it on top of the patient’s side cupboard. She placed a pillow on the chair and covered it with a white bed sheet. HCA sat down, had tea and toast and went out.
 
Bed 3 patient’s BP was low. Nurse asked me to offer him a drink  and check BP after 30 min. I asked the patient and he agreed to have tea and toast with butter. I was adjusting patient’s bed when HCA returned and told me not to give him any food. I explained that his BP was low and Nurse had instructed me to do so. She still stated: I won’t feed him.
Bed 3 patient was soaking wet. I asked HCA to give me hand and she said: Let him sleep, I won’t wake him up. 

It was incomprehensible for me that she would be qualifying as a Registered Nurse shortly. 
HCA went on the first break. I tilted and changed patients at 12:00hrs. She returned and I informed her that she needs to tilt and change patients at 02:00hrs. HCA stated: Yes I know.
 
When I returned from my break, I saw the HCA fast asleep, sitting on the patient’s chair with her face turned towards the wall and the blinds pulled.
 
I was asked to cover break of a 3rd 1-2-1 HCA in female bay. I did tilts in that bay at 4:00hrs. 

At 5:30hrs Student Nurse HCA came to me and asked: Can we start observations now. 
I replied: Yes because we have to do the tilts as well. 

I returned to my bay, HCA was still doing observations. I started tilts and was astonished to learn that she had not done any tilts at 02:00hrs or 04:00hrs. I asked her and she replied: I let them sleep. I informed her that I have done 4:00hrs tilts in female bay and she has to give note in the folders for 2:00hrs and 4:00hrs tilts.
 
I completed tilts for bed 4, 5 and 6 when HCA stated: I have done observations of bed 1, 2 and 6. Now you start rest of the observations and I will do tilts with the Nurse. 

I replied: I am tilting bed 1 patient; you complete observations and then join me for rest of the 2 tilts.
 
HCA took a very long to complete the observations. Bed 3 patient was soiled with a very loose large bowel movement. I changed him all alone and she did not return to help. Bed 2 patient was a high dependency patient and Nurse joined me to change and reposition him.
 
HCA went out and sat on Nursing Station fiddling with computer.  The two patient chairs which HCA had used were still in the middle of the bay with pillow and sheet as we were about to finish our shift.
 
I placed back one chair and told HCA to clear up the second chair. She replied: Don’t worry I am still here. 

Morning staff took over and I left as it was past 07:30hrs.
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Unprofessional
 
Assessment Unit is one of my favourite wards as I find plenty of opportunities to learn about different conditions of patients and it also offers the opportunity to work with some excellent Nurses.

I was given female bays with 2 different Nurses. At the start of the shift, Nurse in charge instructed me to go to another ward and get faecal bags. Ward staff confirmed they did not have any bags.
 
Thereafter, I was asked to escort a patient with a porter (who had some walking difficulties). I was pushing the bed while the porter was walking with a hand on the bed. 

I completed the escorting task and started serving tea in my bays. I cleaned the tables, cleared up the kitchen and performed baseline observations. 

I went to side room 1. Patient had her own carers who informed me that the Nurse had just done the baseline observations.
 
I tilted patients in one bay with my Nurse B. In second bay there was only 1 patient due for tilt. I checked and found the patient was soiled. I informed the Nurse. Patient was unsettled and vomiting. My Nurses decided to defer changing and said: We will change the patient together. 

Instead of waiting for her, I started changing the patient because she was soiled and her bottom was red. At this point, Nurse asked me to give commode to bed 6 patient. I really disliked it as I was in the middle of changing a soiled patient. 

I gave bed 6 patient a commode and restarted…after a little while Nurse again asked me to answer the buzzer of bed 6, that is, to remove the commode. It was unprofessional on her part whilst seeing me doing one job and interrupting me on two occasions. However, I complied. 

Thereafter I went to bay 4 and cleaned 2 beds which had been stripped off and needed deep cleaning. 

I returned to Nursing Station at 00:45. Nurse instructed me to get ready to change a patient. I put on apron and gloves when she said: Don’t forget side room 1, he is on hourly observations. I informed her that I went for routine observations and carer stated that you had done the observations. 

I protested that we are a team and work load must be shared by all. I complained that it was unprofessional on her part to ask me to do another job when I was busy changing a soiled patient which always take priority over other tasks.
 
Nurse in charge remarked: We have to prioritise our work.

Side room 1 patient was having Sepsis and loose motion. During the night, I helped the carer multiple times, but the Nurse ignored it completely.

I had worked with the most wonderful Nurses in this ward previously but on this occasion the Nurse was unprofessional. 
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People, Sunlight and Cat

I was given a 1-2-1 night shift in a side room of a specialised ward. The female patient sat by the window till dark and looked out at people passing by, sun light on opposite building and a cat strolling in the street. There was life outside the window as compared to her room which was quite, dark and gloomy because she preferred the lights turned off.

This was patient’s daily routine. Her legs were swollen and painful due to sitting all day. She was hoisted on to commode with the help of another HCA. Thereafter, I was able to transfer her from commode on to her bed using standing hoist.
 
Patient was in pain but reluctant to eat or drink and hardly had a few sips of water with medication.
 
By early hours of next morning, she had used the bedpan for 7/8 times. On each attempt, urine output was a few drops as she had UTI (Urinary Tract Infection) due to dehydration. 

A male HCA took over in the morning and the patient was very reluctant to use his services. 

She requested staff to provide her a female carer.
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Twisted Balls and a Smack

I started my 1-2-1 shift with a patient on bed 4.
 
A patient on bed 2 started using aggressive language to one of the HCA’s saying: Go away from here, you pulled my tubes and twisted my balls. I will smash your face.
 
HCA stood by the patient’s bed and explained to me: This patient was in another bay and tried to hit me on my face while I was checking his BM. 
She further added pointing a finger towards the patient’s face: Look at his face. He is very bad. Nurse, taking over the bay requested HCA to go to the female side. 

Patient was accusing the HCA: The Blondie pulled my catheter tubes and twisted my balls.

Bed 2 patient was screaming loudly calling Nurses all night: ‘Nurrrrrrrse, Nurrrse, Nuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuurse. His shouting was stressing other patients. 

The patient was accusing the HCA again: She is mocking me. She does not let me sleep. See, she is standing here again. Patient was talking to self with closed eyes. HCA was not there.
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Rip Myself

It was my third night shift with the same bed 4 patient in the same ward. 

At the start of the shift, one of the HCAs asked me if I can do the observations in bay 4 for her. I agreed. She said to other HCA: Oh she is very nice, thank you very much.

The Nurse was standing in the middle of the bay with a skip to change patients. She was waiting for her HCA who had disappeared. After a while, the Nurse asked me: Can you give me a hand to tilt the patients in this bay? 
I replied: I have done the observations, cleaned the tables and changed my 1-2-1 patient. Your HCA should join you for tilts. 
The Nurse then went out.
 
At 22:00hrs, HCA appeared with a skip and asked me a direct question with a clap: Where to start? Him, she pointed towards bed 3 patient.
 
Excuse me, I said: I am not doing the tilts; I have done the observations, cleaned the tables and changed my patient.
 
HCA clapped her hands and said: Come on, Nurse is doing tablets and you have to do tilts with me.

I added: Let me have a word with the Nurse in Charge.

I explained my point to the Nurse in charge. She asked HCA: Is your Nurse busy? Farida’s primary task is to support her 1-2-1 patient. Then, the Nurse started tilts with her HCA. After every few minutes, HCA was texting back on her phone while tilting but the Nurse remained silent.

Bed 2 patient was continuously calling Nurses: I am soiled and it is burning me. 
All right, they don’t fuc..ing come. I will make them work all night. 
Help, Help, Heeeeelp Nurse, Nurse, Nurse. 
My balls are on fire, burning. 
Bloody hell, come on. Do not blame me Nurse because I am going to rip myself. His voice turned into screams. 

HCA was getting ready to change him and said to me pointing at his face: He is horrible; you know what he said about HCA? He is a very bad person.

She joined the Nurse behind the blinds and said to the patient loudly: Oye- how dare you speak to my colleague like this?
I don’t care you buggers, the patient replied. 
The two of them started changing him. 
You are pulling my skin, patient screamed. 
Pooh all the time, HCA added. 
Where are my fuc..ing tubes? Patient was worried about his catheter tube in place. 
Patient: You pulled it. 
HCA: I am not speaking to you, you are rude. 
Patient: Put it back
HCA: Ask me nicely
Patient: Put my pyjamas on
HCA: You don’t need pyjamas at night
Nurse and HCA left the bay when the patient was still screaming for his pyjamas.

I noticed from the previous nights that this patient always slept in his own pyjama suit. I took fresh pyjamas and put them on.
 
Patient was still screaming loudly: What’s it called? I never used it. You put this cream on me. It’s burning and making me sore. 
Nurse, Nurrrrse, Nuuuuuuuuuuurse 
Patient was becoming louder: Is there any other Nurse who can have a look?
Nurrrse Ahhhhhhhhhhhh, I let it go then Nurse. I want to show the cream they used. Is it all right? 
Nurrse, Nurrrrrrrrrrrse, Nuuuuuuuuuuuuuuse. 
They got me down in the bed, its burning. I want to show her my arse. You are with the Blondie. I am having no tablets. You are with the Blondie.

This is an example of how bed-bound and fragile patients are abused and mistreated by some staff.
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£1000, a Cuddle and Sleep Forever

I had a 1-2-1 night shift with the same patient at bed 4.
 
A new patient had been moved from the middle bay with whom I had worked in another ward. In my opinion it was not a wise decision because this patient had a habit of winding up other patients. 

Previous night, this patient had thrown water on one of the patient’s face, who in return had reciprocated. This patient was singing aloud for the rest of the night.

I started my shift with baseline observations of 4 patients in the bay, cleaned the tables, removed cups, filled water jugs and changed my patient. No staff Nurse or HCA came to the bay till 21:50hrs.
 
There was a new 1-2-1 patient on bed 1. I changed him with his 1-2-1 HCA. The regular HCA looking after that bay slid the skip in bay and said: You two have to do the tilts in this bay.

Bed 2 patient was behaving strangely saying: I want to go home. Please send me home. 
Patient asked me: Can you take me home? I will give you £1000. 
He was telling me his address. He added: I want to cuddle Jack, close my eyes and sleep forever. 

Jack was his dog. Two big framed pictures of his dog were on the table close to him.
 
Whilst changing bed 2 patient, Nurse said: Oh see now you are farting on our face 
Patient: Leave me alone fuc..’s sake. Get out from here, for fuc..’s  sake 
Nurse: Lift your head up. 
Patient reacted harshly: F off. 
Nurse: You have been to toilet, we are just cleaning you.
Patient: F off, buggers.
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Julia

I started my 1-2-1 shift with bed 4 patient and performed my routine duties.
 
A male HCA performed 1-2-1 support with bed 1. His patient was settled and he sat next to bed 2 patient who was trying to come out from his bed to go home. His bag was packed and placed on his chair. Patient was comforting himself by looking and touching his bag.
 
The male HCA was forcefully pushing patient’s ulcerated legs back on the bed which made patient verbally and physically aggressive. 

That night I changed all the patients with the male HCA. Bed 2 patient was very calm when two of us changed him. 
 
All night bed 2 patient was calling aloud ‘Julia, Juuuulia, Samuel, Samuel, please take me home; I want to come with you.

During that night, I was going to bed 2 patient to assure my support by patting his forehead and face. 
He never used F word to me during all the shifts which I supported him. Actually this patient was not abusive or aggressive but reacted to mistreatment. 
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I noticed bed 2 patient was nicely dressed and sitting in his chair. His bed was made freshly and a nice looking lady was sitting on the floor, putting her hands on patient’s lap. She was talking to him in a very polite, caring and loving manner. I discovered she was Julia, a friend who used to look after the patient and she was also a social worker.
 
It was becoming dark and Julia was trying to transfer patient on to his bed and leave but the patient was begging her to take him home. It was heart breaking.
 
I had a brief conversation with Julia. She explained that patient’s needs had been assessed recently but the team declined that he has Dementia. She asked my input and I informed her that it seems a ‘behaviour problem’ more than Dementia because I had not noticed any early signs of Dementia during my shifts.

The patient became very anxious and agitated after Julia left.
 
There was a loud commotion amongst bed 1, 2 and my patient on bed 4 till 23:00hrs.

Bed 2 patient was ever so exhausted that he accepted to have injection that night, which had refused at the previous nights, and slept.
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I was assigned a 1-2-1 night shift with bed 1 patient. 

To my surprise, Nurse in charge asked to have complete handover for all 24 patients in the ward. I discovered that it was to punish agency 1-2-1 staff who books the shifts from 07:00hrs till 20:00hrs but normally arrives at 07:30 and leave 19:30hrs when Hospital staff start shift.

My 1-2-1 patient was settled. I started changing my patient with another HCA who was doing 1-2-1 duty with a bed 4 patient. 

As I cleaned his groin area and applied cream, the patient started moving back and forth. I told him to stop and he complied. 

Thereafter, patient was anxious on his bed for a good 40 minutes putting his left hand on his groin area and extending his right hand towards me. 
I felt uncomfortable and a little scared but ignored him as it was his body and his own needs.

In the morning patient was awake, lights were on when I noticed some weird movements. He took his penis out from right side of the pad and started (moving it back and forth) masturbating. 

I told him: Put your things in the pad. I started putting on my gloves. As I moved the blanket away; penis was placed back in the pad and both his hands were on his chest with an innocent face. 

This was a new learning experience for me in dealing with an 85 years old male patient.



[bookmark: _Toc26875815]
Nebuliser and Many Nurses

1-2-1 shifts were adapted to “Enhanced Observation” by the Hospital. I was given enhanced observation with a confused Dementia patient in Bay 2, Bed 2. Patient had a risk of fall.

My bay was situated in front of Nursing Station with 5 patients. The bay in front of Nursing Station normally has critical patients for close observation and quick accessibility. Bed 4 was empty. My patient on bed 2 was having cat naps while sitting in her chair.

I performed my routine duties in the bay by offering hot drinks to able patients, clearing up tables, filling the water jugs and performing baseline observations.  I settled my patient into her bed.

Patient on Bed 3 was having 8 litre of oxygen and hourly observations. I performed hourly observations keeping my own 1-2-1 patient settled and safe.
 
I noticed that the sound of nebuliser of bed 3 patient was strange. I got up and observed the patient closely. She seemed distressed with closed eyes and was struggling to breathe. I discovered that the nebuliser’s tube was detached, lying on the floor. I attached the tube quickly and placed an oxygen probe on patient’s finger. Her Sats were 79%.
 
I informed the Nurse looking after my bay. She was dispensing medication for side room patient and confirmed that she will attend to the patient. 

Patient’s Sats were not improving. I went to the newly qualified Nurse working in Bay 1 and requested her to come and see the patient. She came and replaced the nebuliser with 8 litre oxygen which boosted the patient’s Sats.

A new patient arrived on Bed 4. She was on CPAP (Continuous Positive Air Pressure). The patient was pulling off the oxygen mask constantly. She had a bandage wrapped on her hand to protect the cannula which she was attempting to remove. She was taking off her Hospital gown and pad as though she wanted to get rid of everything supporting her life including her clothes. 

I looked after my bay despite my own 1-2-1 patient’s possessive side who took promise holding my hand that I won’t go to any other patient and will sit by her bed side. She was confused and wondered around during the night. 

In the morning, Duty Night Nurse and my Nurse were having some conversation when Night Nurse stated: We are talking about you young lady. Your Nurse is highly appraising your practice.

My Nurse added: We survived the night because of her. Thank you Farida. Come and work more often with us. 

I felt very emotional to see the appreciation of the compassionate care I provided to the patients.
 
I had a word with Night Nurse about my situation regarding my Nursing Degree and she advised: Never give up Farida. We need many nurses like you.
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Thank You Darling
 
My night shift was allocated in a Bay of 10 patients on the Christmas Eve. 

My Nurse was a young man who had completed his Nursing qualification back home and started his job recently.

There were 5 patients in the Bay at the start of the shift. Bed 1 was empty. 
There was an elderly female patient on bed 2. 
An elderly female patient at bed 3 was refusing to talk to any member of her family over the phone and was having emotional, tearful episodes.
A female patient at bed 4 had a hip replacement. She was diabetic and took plenty of time to walk to the toilet with a high roller frame and one staff’s support. One needed to have extra patience to support her.
Bed 5 patient had Dementia and a broken hip. She was due for operation next morning and was ‘Nil by Mouth’ from 02:00hrs.
Beds 6 and 7 were empty.

I performed my routine tasks and settled patients into their beds after serving them hot drinks. 
 
A 77 year old female was admitted at bed 8. She had a fall with head injury in Nursing Home. She was on observations every 30 minutes and hourly neuro observations.  Her blood pressure was dropping and the last reading was 77/48. She was not responding or opening her eyes at all.

My Nurse straight away decided to contact the duty Doctor and suggested prescribing some IV infusion for the patient.
 
The patient’s blood pressure dropped further. Duty Doctor attended the patient as her condition was deteriorating. Blood pressure was picking up a bit and then again going down. Her body temperature was below the normal range. Her hands were bent inwards. She did not have any food or drink and was on 2 hourly tilts.
 
I introduced myself and talked to the patient, stroking her hair and patting her face gently with plenty of praise that how beautiful she was. I was having some very moving conversation with her and continued: Your husband must have told you how beautiful you are. Your hair cut is lovely. Would you like to see mine? You can see me if you open your beautiful eyes
  
Her face looked a bit calmer after our conversation.
 
I offered her water from a beaker and she started having drops of water. Her throat was moving to let the water go down to her stomach. She literally had 15mls water without any difficulty. 

My Nurse was very pleased with her progress. Thereafter, I explained to the patient how good I was in making tea in this Hospital and informed her that I will make her only half a cup of tea. She had about 75mls of warm tea from a beaker. Her blood pressure slightly improved to 79/48. 

I performed the next observations and explained to her that in a while I will make her toast with butter and a cup of hot chocolate. Again, I elaborated that how nice it smelt: Ummm butter on a toast. 

She ate one full white toast and had 200 mls of hot chocolate without opening her eyes. I was softening small pieces of toast and putting into her mouth though she was not opening her mouth keeping teeth tightly closed. But as I put the mashed butter toast into her lips, she was taking in her mouth. She was chewing and eating every bite properly. She drank the hot chocolate to the last sip. Blood pressure now improved to 100/52 and we were very content and hopeful for her recovery.

A new patient had arrived at bed 6 when I returned from my break. Bed 8 patient was stable though blood pressure was falling to eighties over forties.
 
My Nurse went on his break and informed me that a female Nurse will come to insert urine catheter to bed 6 patient. 

The Nurse was unsuccessful to pass catheter as the anatomy of that patient was very different. The patient in her 80s was traumatised and we decided to stop intervention.

Later, I was pleasantly surprised when my Nurse informed me that he successfully passed the catheter himself to the patient although he stated that he finds it more difficult to pass the catheter for female patients as compared to male.

I suggested to my Nurse to transfer the Blood Pressure cuff of bed 8 patient from her right arm to the left because I noticed that her body temperature was less on right side. Immediately her BP improved. We decided to change the observations from half an hour to an hourly basis for the rest of the night. At 04:00hrs, I informed the patient that I will be making her a delicious hot porridge. I made a full cup of oats porridge, mashed with a spoon adding hot water into it. I added sugar and milk and again mashed to bring it to a smooth texture. I offered it to the patient with a spoon. She was not opening her mouth. The porridge was dripping down the side of her mouth. However, she was licking it. I transferred the porridge in a beaker and she ate all of it. At first, I was offering porridge on an appropriate slow pace and then I put the tip of the beaker in between her front teeth and she was sucking and chewing it at her own pace. 

My Nurse and I worked in the best manner. By the morning, bed 8 patient responded to Nurse’s question by ‘umm’ sound. 

My Nurse was handing over to the morning team when I went to the bed 8 patient and informed her that I will be finishing my shift shortly and asked: Would you like to open your beautiful eyes and see how your friend Farida looks like?” 
She kept her eyes closed and said: Thank you darling, in a very clear voice. 

I informed my Nurse of this progress. What a wonderful shift I had!
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Dossing off

My patient fell asleep without showing any signs of aggression. She had been having hallucinations before sleep, picking and pulling objects from the air and had refused to eat and drink. 
 
The Nurse asked me to check her BM at 01.00hrs as her BM had dropped. I made a fresh milky tea to offer my patient before awakening her for BM checks. I checked the BMs and she drank 200mls tea. 

Two HCA’s were on their phones in Doctors office, which seemed to be a normal routine in the ward. 
 
Thereafter, the Nurse instructed me to check BM of another patient outside my bay, leaving HCAs to continue entertaining and enjoying their phones.  I complied. One of the patients in the other bay asked for a cup of tea whilst HCAs were still having good time in Doctor’s office. 
 
I was looking after my bay and responding to patient’s needs as my 1-2-1 patient was settled.
 
There was a new patient admitted in my bay, I performed observations and offered her drink with friendly chat. 

Nurse came with another request: Do you mind doing observations for bed 20 at 02:00hrs for me?  OK. 

The shift leading Nurse asked my Nurse to go to her break at 01:20hrs for 2 hrs. HCA’s were sent on 2hrs break. I was asked to go on my break at 02:00hrs. I repositioned my patient and performed observations for bed 20 before going to break. 

I asked: How long is my break?
Nurse in charge said: 1 hour 
Are you sure? I asked. 
She asked: How much break you were having here before?’ 
On my reply she said: OK go for 1.30hrs. 
 
I returned at 03:20hrs. I went to the wash room and made myself a hot drink. As I returned, the other Nurse asked me to perform 1-2-1 duty in bay 3. I complied. 

One HCA was already there, whom that Nurse allowed continuing with his sleep. I knew from my previous shift in this ward that he was the same HCA who slept in the Doctor’s office till the morning. 
 
I opened the windows for fresh air, settled the patient, giving him a blanket as he was in a single sheet, offered him drink because his mouth was very dry and he was hallucinating. 

He was asleep within next 30 minutes. Now patients in bay 3 and 4 were asking for hot drinks, water, blanket, sandwiches and biscuits. 
 
One HCA was still asleep in the Doctor’s Office. He slept either sitting with his face towards the wall or behind the computer screen.
  
I requested the Nurse to reposition my 1-2-1 patient. She replied: No need to wake her up. You do her at 06:00hrs. 

I had repositioned my patient at 22:00, 00:00 and 02:00 without any difficulty and now repositioned her quietly without the Nurse’s knowledge at 04:00 without any difficulty and returned back to bed 14. 

At 06:00hrs I asked my Nurse to come and have a look on my patient’s sacrum. This time my patient was aggressive, hitting and screaming as there was no time to explain to her what we were doing. The Nurse’s handling the patient was not gentle.

The kitchen sink was full with cups. I filled and prepared the hydration trolley, cleaned the kitchen and started preparing breakfast trolley when the 2 HCA’s returned at 06:55 and after 5 minutes left.
 
Hand over started at 07:00hrs. 2 HCA’s had already gone home. 
I asked Nurse: Where are the HCA’s.  
She replied. I don’t know, may be in kitchen. 

Sadly, some Nurses behave unprofessionally and dishonestly. 
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Pooh

I was given D and E bays on the floor. There were 3 Nurses, 3 HCA’s and one Student Nurse.
 
In D Bay, Student Nurse was an Enhanced Observer with bed 4 patient. Bed 3 patient was the one I had worked with before. He was 81 year of age having many conditions including bladder cancer, prostate cancer with a bilateral urine extracting bags on his back. 

Patient had loose bowels every 20 minutes. As soon as he done pooh, he put both his hands in it, pushing the pad away and asking to be changed. He messed up the bedding with his hands.
 
Every time we finished changing him, he put his hands again to the next lot of loose pooh. 

I asked my Nurse what stopped Doctors and Nurses to clean patient’s bowels with intervention. Nurse agreed that he definitely needed a good old method like enema to clean his bowels. 

My Nurse and I decided to put gloves on patients hand as pooh was getting stuck in his nails. Nurse decided to sit next to the patient. She suggested that we should prepare a trolley with spare bed sheets, towels, pads, wipes and disposable yellow bags by the patient’s bedside and I complied.
 
During the Night, we changed him multiple times and inspected the skin; his bottom had a broken skin and was bleeding. He had rashes all over the body and his groin area was red. We concluded that as patient open his bowels, it stings the broken skin and he starts screaming with pain and wants us to clean him. 

Nurse decided to use liquid paraffin generously in cleaning and otherwise. During the last wash we had layered his bottom with paraffin and placed some dry wipes to receive pooh without affecting the broken skin. 

It was a huge success as patient slept for an hour. We noticed on the next change that his skin had improved because his broken skin was saved from further deterioration.
 
We discussed and decided that I will be covering the patient during my Nurse’s break and she will cover mine for the patient who was settled and comfortable now. 

Patent was continuously drinking small sips, picking up the beaker from the table as the Nurse was writing her notes. He was feeling relaxed and had a smile on his face and was asking brief questions from the Nurse.
 
My Nurse went on first break and I was getting ready to change the patient as the dry wipes had absorbed the medium amount of loose pooh. We adapted the last pad used by cutting its wrapping parts and putting it flat underneath the patient to expose the body to air.
 
One of the HCA’s, with whom I had experienced 2 episodes of extreme bullying, came and instructed me to go to my break. I informed her that I had already arranged my break with my Nurse that I will go when she will return.
 
HCA asked: Do you want your break? 
I am staying, I replied. 
She went to the Student Nurse and asked her to go to her break. 
HCA returned and said: Go and cover her break with the patient at bed 4. This patient is not 121. You go there.
I need to change my patient, I replied. 
You go there; we know this patient and will change him. She removed patient’s gloves with force and pushed out the trolley banging it against the wall, showing her annoyance. 
I requested her: Please use liquid paraffin.

She closed the blinds and patient started screaming loudly. HCA was talking loud with him without considering the time of the night and that other patients were sleeping in the bay. Most were awakened by the noise.
 
Thereafter, HCA did not change the patient and left him in pooh. He removed his blanket and sheet from above and pulled out the sheet from underneath in a cold night. 

I was sitting with 1-2-1 patient and reflected that the patient had not screamed when we changed him.
 
HCA had often passed harsh comments: I won’t change you. Why you do that? Do you want Nurses to stand all night cleaning you?

At last when patient’s grunting and sobbing reached its height; HCA went to him and closed the blinds. She was demonstrating inappropriate behaviour by talking loudly while the patient was screaming.
 
Following another loud scream, patient said: You are wicked. What have you done to me? Youuuuuu are wickkked!
 
The Nurses in the bay did not pay any attention. 

I put on an apron and went to the screaming patient. He was on his back, wet and littered with pooh though he had bilateral bags placed on his back to extract urine from kidneys. A cannula was on his hand with infusion running and with sore, red bleeding bottom and broken skin.
 
HCA was standing there apparently changing the patient. I offered to help. 
She refused saying: No, no, no, no. you go back and close the blinds. 
I pleaded that patient did not scream when we changed him: Please let me change. 
She refused. 

I was upset because this was an outright abuse. HCA did not use the liquid paraffin as requested.
 
Nurse in Charge came to me and said: We have to work as a team, to cover up HCA’s misconduct.  

What an extreme of hypocrisy.
  
My Nurse returned at that point and concluded that: Patient’s gloves must not be removed and trolley is needed there, ignoring the mistreatment patient had received at the hands of the HCA.  
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Stiff Patient

I started the shift and realised that patient on bed 2 bay 1 was definitely a 1-2-1 patient who needed Enhanced Observation but no staff was assigned to him. He was a confused Dementia patient.
 
Whilst having handover in the bay, I was encouraging the patient to stay in his bed as he kept coming out. 
Patient at bed 1 was having CPAP. 
Patient on bed 3 was having dialysis next morning and was very anxious. 
Patient on bed 4 with tracheotomy needed suction on a regular basis.  
Patient on bed 6, in his forties, with profound learning disabilities was non-verbal. He was soaking wet up to his shoulders. The HCA who finished the shift apologised and asked us to change him.
 
Both the Nurses in Bay 1 and Bay 2 were very professional and good. They changed the patient on bed 6 straightaway.
  
My shift was very busy. I started with serving patient’s hot drinks, filling the water jugs, performing baseline observations and changing the patients who were in continence.
 
I was supporting bed 2 and bed 3 patients.
 
We received new patients at bed 5 bay 1 and bed 5 bay 2. 
Other HCA was very nice and we worked as a team. 

HCA was going on her break while I was answering a call from her Bay 3, bed 3. She briefed me that it was unsafe for the female patient to come out from her bed. She had been given bedpan a little while ago. 

The patient was sitting at the edge of her bed and asked me to take her to the toilet for an urgent need to empty her bowels. I explained that I will bring a portable commode. The patient was transferred from her bed onto the commode without any difficulty. She emptied her bowels with a good output and wiped her bottom at least ten times, cutting and folding the toilet paper in a specific manner. 

I was standing there patiently. 
Finally, it was time to transfer her from commode to the bed. She was not getting up and behaved completely different by moving her feet every time I helped her to stand. This was despite explaining to her to keep the feet closer to the commode and she was saying: I can’t do that. 
Patient was pulling down her Hospital non slippery socks repeatedly. 
I huffed and puffed for about 15 minutes and then called other staff for help. Nurse and I literally put her down on the bed as she was refusing to move. 
After couple of hours Nurse noticed that she was walking alone from her bed to the sink in the bay without any difficulty. 

While we were transferring the lady from the commode to her bed, we heard a patient screaming loudly. I discovered that he was my bay 1, bed 6 patient who was wet and refusing to help staff to change him. My bay 1 Nurse and the Nurse in charge were there. Patient was screaming and spitting on to his left side. This patient with profound learning disabilities had a stiff body, turned hands and a stiff neck. He was not spitting towards any staff but the spit was going to his own left shoulder and on to his pillow. At this time the Nurse in charge asked him to stop spitting and then she said: I cannot do this, and left.
 
I took over with my Nurse, wiped his nose, shoulder and pillow with a towel and apologised saying: I am sorry if anything upset you. 

At the back of my mind was the fact that he had been left wet and unattended for a long time, which might have upset him. He was still spitting and now flam had blood from his throat. 

We remained unsuccessful to change him although he was a little bit calmer but his condition had been triggered again. I came to his right side and asked my Nurse to give me some time alone with him. 

I was talking empathetically with him and he let me change the wet bed sheet half way and to place the pad when my Nurse joined me and we completed the task while praising him.
 
My Nurse was concerned and said she never saw bed 6 patient like that. At the same time patient on bed 3 was getting angry with the Nurse. He was asking her to give him nebuliser, and then blaming her that she was giving him many nebulisers. The Nurse, very professionally explained to the patient that he was prescribed 3 sets of nebulisers which take time to administer. 

Bed 1 patient asked me to tell the Nurse that he needs his 22:00hrs medication. Nurse gave him nebuliser and he started arguing that the Nurse who finished shift at 19:30hrs had already given him nebuliser. Nurse informed that this particular nebuliser was due at 22:00hrs. All Nurses sign the box on drug chart after administering medication. This nebuliser was not due when the earlier Nurse finished her shift and there was no record on the drug chart. Still the patient was dissatisfied and insisted that he already had the nebuliser.
 
My Nurse was upset as she was facing many challenges in her bay which was not usual. She asked me to support those patients as they were getting angry without any reason.

My Nurse called the Doctor on duty and discussed about patient on bed 6 who was still spitting. I went to the Doctor in DoCC (Department of Critical Care) to get prescription of a small dose of ‘Haloperidol’ which she agreed with the Nurse. Doctor discussed patient’s condition with me. She prescribed the medication. She asked to consider giving patient IV Paracetamol and anti sickness if he was still spitting. Patient was given IV Parcetamol and settled down. 

In the morning, we started doing tilts and changing patients. I performed baseline observations, blood sugar checks, emptied catheter bags and then served patients morning tea and coffee. 

It was an extremely demanding and busy night. I returned home in snow and sleets and slept for 9 hours.  
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Feverish and Sick 

I started my night shift at 19:30hrs. I was assigned Bay 1 and Bay 2. Shift started as normal. I performed routine tasks of:
· - Baseline observations
· - Hot drinks to patients
· - Cleared up the tables
· - Filled water jugs
· - Transferred a patient to a ward
· - Cleaned and made 2 beds in the bay
· - Triaged a patient in waiting area
· - Filled  the stocks on trolleys and glove compartments
·  - Cleared and tided kitchen, dishes in dishwasher
· - Prepared and filled Hydration trolley, placed it in the ward 
· - Settled my patients and turned off lights 
It was 24:00hrs when I felt feverish and sick. I checked my temperature and it was 37.7. I was dizzy. My body was aching, especially my head and the back of my neck. 

I informed Nurse in charge. 

She was not supportive and unexpectedly stated: I do not like people coming to work and reporting being sick. 
I explained that it was first time in 5 years of my service that I fell sick.
But she was dismissive.
My body temperature was 38.5 now. 
She called site office. 
I sat down in Doctor’s office and was pressing back of my neck. 
She asked me to get up as Matron would not be happy to see me like that. 
I asked her if I can go to my break. 
She replied: No, I cannot keep you. I am waiting for site office’s call. Have some Paracetamol. 

I was not able to drive back home and needed treatment. 

The Nurse in charge was not letting me sit, or to go to my break and my condition was getting worse.
 
I asked her permission to go to A&E. 
She replied: It’s up to you. 

Her attitude was inappropriate and she was cruel to give harsh comments. 
I informed her that I was going to A&E 

My backpack and jacket were in the ward and I left the ward with her permission. 

I was attended promptly at A&E. 
They send my bloods and urine sample to lab and did a chest X-ray.  
My temp was 38.9 and heart rate 114.
I was given IV fluids and IV Paracetamol, oral codeine, anti sickness, anti histamine and Ibuprofen. By the morning my Temp was 37.7, BP 94/63 and HR 101. 
 
I had 2 cups of coffee to boost my BP which improved to 108/63 to enable me to pick my stuff from the ward and drive home. 

Doctor informed me that it was a viral illness / string of flue and I have to stay home for the next 2 weeks.

I went to the ward, met both Nurses I worked with in Bay 1 and Bay 2. 

They told me that the Nurse in charge informed them that I had gone home.
 
Nurse in charge was on her break. 
She closed my shift timings from 19:30 to 00:00hrs locked and sent to site office to calculate my wage. 
It was her discretion to let me have my wages for the night when I fell sick and was having the treatment under the same roof, but chose not to.

Later, I discovered that I was not entitled to any sick leave because I was a Bank HCA on zero contract. 

Thereafter, I did not work there and requested Bank Office to block that ward for me. 
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Six Times

I was given a1-2-1 night shift with bed 4. It was reported that he was not eating and drinking and his pad was dry all day. He was drowsy and asleep all day. I knew this patient from my previous shifts. He was an intellectual, well mannered, and soft spoken handsome tall individual in his 70’s and confused at times. It was heart breaking to see him in this state. His accommodation had been arranged with a Nursing Home and he was due to be discharged next morning. 

Another HCA K was 1-2-1 with a Learning Disabilities patient on bed1, with whom I had worked previously. 

I started my shift with cleaning the tables. Other HCA joined and we changed 3 patients. I was giving my patients drinks when a message was delivered that one of us had to go to another ward. K opted to go.
  
Suddenly we heard a very aggressive patient, hitting and kicking people and objects in the next ward…he was with 3 security staff and one night Nurse. 

Nurse in charge came and instructed me to look after whole bay as mail staff was called to support the aggressive patient. 

I took over and successfully managed to support whole bay with two 1-2-1 patients including other two with 2 hourly tilts. 

I thoroughly enjoyed my shift. Bed 1 patient with learning disabilities who needed support of 2 staff members was listening and responding to my requests. I changed him 6 times during the night. He was lifting his bottom for me to remove and place fresh pad. He was turning left and right to enable me to change. I was able to work alone with him successfully. 

I explained to my 1-2-1 patient about the importance of drinking fluids. He responded by having sips of coffee and water. By middle of the night, he was sitting with his eyes wide open and agreed to have a cup of tea. He had 200mls of tea. I was happy with his progress. 

By the morning his pad was soaking wet, he was changed and everything was documented.
 
 My Nurse was very pleased and we finished tilts, observations and morning drinks for patients well before finishing my shift at 07:30. 

It was a very rewarding shift.
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I was on my early day shift in a female ward. There were 2 regular HCAs. They chose their Bays and asked me to work in Bay2 of 5 beds and 4 side rooms. 

My Nurse was nice. We started with serving breakfast. I asked patients in my Bay and noted what they liked in their breakfast. I helped the girls in other bay to make toast. Hydration trolley was not working and there was no hot water to make tea. 

I put the kettle on and HCA stopped me saying: It will take ages. I still made tea and coffee for the patients in my bay. Later Hydration trolley was fixed. 
 
I started giving morning bath to my patients. My Nurse supported Side Room 1 patient to have shower.  In Bay 2, a 1-2-1 HCA was helpful and performed the observations. It was 11.30hrs when we completed all tasks. 

1-2-1 HCA asked me to go for a cup of tea as she had returned from her 10 min break. Other 2 HCAs had already returned from their coffee break and were very discourteous. 

When they returned I went for my drink. 

Lunch time started. I assisted patients with red tray support. 
1-2-1 HCA asked for help and said that her patient with sight impairment and renal failure did not like her and said to her: Stay away bloody cow.
Patient was very confused and on special renal diet. I motivated her and she ate her lunch.
  
It was 13.45hrs when one of the HCAs came to me and asked: Farida would you like to do tilts or will you answer the buzzers?’ 
I replied: I am already doing 2 hourly tilts in my bay. 
She said: We are doing all tilts; you need to answer the buzzers.
  
I answered one of the buzzers and at the same time next buzzer sounded. 1-2-1 HCA was surprised to see me working everywhere. 

I informed the Nurse in charge and went for my 30 minutes break. 

On my return, 2 patients in my bay were on bed pan. As I removed bedpan, I noticed the bedding was wet. 
I asked my Nurse for help. As I was getting equipment ready another Nurse asked: Farida can you give me hand to… 
I explained that I was in middle of changing my patient. 
Whilst we were changing the patient, the Nurses were calling my name: Where is Farida?

I felt surprised and a little confused because it did not appear normal to me. Everyone was calling out for me.

Other two HCAs were doing tilts slowly …killing the time …I believe. 
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Put your Glasses on

I was given 1-2-1 assignment with an Autistic patient having learning disabilities. Day support had been provided by an agency staff. 

I introduced myself and supported my patient, meeting his emotional needs. The patient became settled on reassurance and development of professional relationship. 

I made him hot drink and offered light food before sleep. He opted for hot porridge and ate it all. 

He walked to the toilet with support and then took a long time to go to sleep which was normal for him. I read his notes in his ‘Health Password’ folder. 

Patient got up for his needs, looked at his wrist watch which is a typical behaviour of Autistic people. He asked questions about next morning staff, coming to support him. 

A simple chart about his support requirements was written on a piece of paper and placed by his side. 

He asked if it was raining. My answer was in negation. He said: It is raining. You need glasses. Put your glasses on, with a big smile. 

He was a witty and a very intelligent gentleman of 57 years of age. 

He then went to the Nursing Station and asked a Nurse if it was raining.  She replied: No, it is not raining.
He then asked a second Nurse and she was clever enough to read his mind. She stated: Not now, but it was raining. 

Patient was very pleased and advised me: See, it was raining, you need glasses Farida.

It was a very enjoyable and nice shift. 
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PR Bleed

The same night, when my patient was asleep, I thoroughly cleaned and tided my bay. Nurse in charge commented: Oh I cannot recognise my Bay. It is so clean and tidy.

She then asked me to support Nurses in the other bay to change patients. While I was changing a 52 years old patient with a brain injury under DoLS (Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards) along with a male Nurse, patient had massive PR (Par Rectal) bleed. 

Instead of changing, we actually washed him as blood was all over. I asked the Nurse what it was and he said may be haemorrhoids or internal bleeding. Blood was fresh red. Patient’s observations showed 2 triggers. 
I wondered if Doctors would be called for physical examination and to ascertain the cause of bleeding. 
Thereafter, patient was changed every hour by other staff and Doctors were called. His observation trigger reduced to 1. 
  
I was performing my duties enthusiastically during my 12 hours long shift. 

My 1-2-1 was getting up as per his routine on set times for tea etc. 

On the down side, I was given break after 9 hours at 04:30hrs, ignoring ‘Time Regulations’. 

This needs to be addressed for strict compliance by the Management.       
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Personal Estate 

As I arrived in the ward, a HCA said: We do not have any 1-2-1 patient and you have to work on the floor. 
I contacted the site office and went there in person as I had been assigned 1-2-1 duty. 

Staff checked my booked shift records online and informed: You are 1-2-1 with Mr G. 
He then called the ward and explained that I was 1-2-1 for so and so patient Mr G. 
Ward staff insisted: They do not have any 1-2-1 patient. 
Site office staff asked a direct question: Do you have Mr. G in your ward?  
The answer was: Yes. 
Staff informed that: Farida is booked 1-2-1 with Mr G for the night, I was sent back. 
 
I started my shift in a usual manner. 
I introduced myself to Mr G. 
I put an apron and gloves and started cleaning his table. 

A Nurse came and said: Mr G is not 1-2-1. Site office asked me and I do not like sending you home so I said yes to them. We are short of staff and you will share the work with HCAs. 

I explained to the Nurse that I went in person to site office and this is what they told me. 

In the meantime, a HCA came and started performing observations for Mr G.
 
I informed her that when 1-2-1 staff is allocated to a patient, they are responsible for observations and all care. 

Nurse was still there and HCA said to her: You are wasting your time, if she is not willing to help on the floor, send her back.
   
I returned to the site office and explained why I was back.
 
Site office staff called the ward and informed them: You are not short of staff. Do you need 1-2-1 for the night? 
They said: No! 

This was unacceptable as they were behaving like the Hospital was their own personal estate, not bothered about the needs of the patients. 
 
I was then sent to another ward as 1-2-1 support for a very anxious and confused female patient with a catheter in place, who was not able to sleep all night. 

I supported her to stay on bed for the night. She had 6 drinks of 200mls each during the night and had few bowel movements. 

During the night a patient in a side room deteriorated and I witnessed the best side of my Hospital. 

The patient was in his 60’s. In no time Doctors, Night Nurses and ward Nurses were around the patient. Everyone was working promptly without panicking. 

Maximum level of oxygen was prescribed, Suctioning was performed, IV medication was administered and a Portable X-ray machine was brought. 

Patient returned to life.
 
What an excellent display of team work and professionalism, very much opposite to my earlier experience.
I was impressed. Patient had no family around.
 
Similarly during a previous shift with a 91 years old breast cancer patient who deteriorated. Hospital put every effort to provide her best care and saved her life.
  
I finished my shift and handed over to 1-2-1 female HCA. 

After few minutes whilst passing by the bay, I noticed that my patient’s catheter was on the bed including full water balloon. She must have pulled it with force causing trauma to the bladder.
 
What support was provided by the new HCA, I was wondering? 
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Hopeless Midwife

I started my night shift in a maternity ward. One of the Midwives’ asked me to give bed bath to 3 female patients. Day shift HCA handed over that I have to clean and make a few empty beds. Kitchen and parents room was full of dishes. I was the only one answering the buzzers of 4 Bays and 4 side rooms.

Whilst I was finishing bed bath, Midwife in charge was calling my name loud to escort a patient to the Labour Ward.

During the night, 6 patients were discharged and I cleaned and made the beds and baby cots. I collected cups and dishes from patient tables washed dried and prepared the hydration trolley. Fresh water jugs were provided to the patients

Midwife called me to clean side room because a patient had vomited on the floor.

A few new mothers were in tears to see their babies crying who were not able to latch and requested for breast feeding support. It was 03.00hrs after midnight; I was shattered and making beds alone. None of the Midwives helped me.
  
Midwife in charge asked me to empty the catheter bags. She was sending staff on break and went for her break as well.

At 04.15hrs one of the Midwives’ asked me if I had done observations at 2.00hrs. I replied that nobody had asked me to perform observations. 
She said: We were busy! 
I enquired: Do I have to do observations now? 
She marked 14 patients and instructed me to perform observations.
  
I completed bay 1. One of the patients did not have a wrist band in Bay 2. Therefore, I was not able to scan her name to perform observations which go on to online system. I informed Midwife in charge and requested to print her wrist band. She said: Leave her to the last and I will print one.

As I completed observations in the last bay 4 and still needed to do side rooms, Nurse in charge instructed me: Bring the wheelchair and take the patient on bed 3 to the toilet. 
I informed her that I was still doing my observations. 
She added: But that is more important.
 
This was upsetting and unprofessional. Therefore, I made her aware that: It is 5.00hrs and I have been on my toes for nine and a half hours. You have not sent me on my break. This never happened to me before and now only 2 hours left to finish my shift. 
She said: Finish your observations and go to your break. 
I replied: I will not go to my break as a protest.
I went to my break at 05:40hrs when she asked me again.

It is most unfortunate that some senior Midwives abuse Bank HCAs and violate their right by making them work inhumanly. 
 
I decided not to work in this ward again.
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Hanging Arm

I started my night shift in the middle bay of 4 beds and 4 side rooms. Two of my patients were on half hourly observations. Later, one of the side room patient’s was added for 15 minutes observations because of blood transfusion.

I served hot drinks to the patients in all bays. Bay 3 patient with oxygen mask was sitting in his bed and declined to take hot drink saying he had water and soft drinks. 

I was passing from bay 3 frequently to go to my side room patients. There was a confused Dementia male patient on the left side of the entrance to bay 3 and a tall strong looking patient with oxygen mask on the right side.
 
A HCA started 1-2-1 shift with Dementia confused patient but was withdrawn. This patient was hallucinating and seeing his wife, and coming out from his bed to open the door for her. Every one passing from there was attentive towards the confused patient and was prompting him to stay in his bed. He removed his hospital gown and was walking with a single continence pad on.
 
The HCA looking after bay 3 performed observations at 22:00hrs. After mid night, HCA was taking urine bottles for patients.

Just before 01:00hrs I noticed that left arm of the patient with oxygen mask was hanging down from the bed. First, I thought to adjust his arm on to the bed and then changed my mind not to disturb him as he appeared to be asleep. His oxygen mask was not on.

Just after 02:00hrs I performed observations of side room patients. HCA looking after bay 3 pulled my machine in haste and went to the patient on the right. She put his oxygen mask on and was performing observations when I was passing from there. 

Immediately I saw the Nurse in charge who was looking after bay 3 go to the patient and they closed the blinds. Nurse called Rapid Response Team and informed that patient used a urine bottle at 00:30hrs and when HCA went to check his 02:00hrs observations ... he was dead.
 
Doctor available in the ward checked the patient. Night staff and Rapid Response Team were attending the patient with sad faces and without enthusiasm because patient was already dead. This patient was for call (to resuscitate in case of deterioration) and he and the family was actively perusing treatment.

Thereafter, cardiac arrest protocol was adopted. Announcement was made, more staff arrived and one of the Doctors performed proper CPR on the patient. He was officially declared dead and family was informed. Family arrived and spent some time with the patient. They instructed us to give away all his belongings. 

I and another HCA were assigned washing and preparing the body for mortuary. Patient with many conditions was a tall, strong and handsome gentleman with grey hair in his 70’s.

With reflection, I strongly believe that the HCA’s should sit in their assigned bays instead of the Nursing Station or in the staff rooms during their duty. 
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Concrete

It was my 3rd consecutive night shift in same Bay and same ward. 

A new patient had been admitted during my first night. His IV feed was running at a slow pace and he was Nil by Mouth. He had sticky eyes and periodic cough with a secretions coming out from the side of his mouth. Patient was in continence and his left leg and arm were affected by a stroke. Urinary catheter was in place.

I asked patient to clean his eyes and he refused. Still I wiped one of his eyes gently as yellow secretions were on his face. I took great care while providing patient continence care due to his posture. There were some prominent bruises on upper right side of his groin. Every time we checked him, he was soiled with small, sticky, black, loose pooh. 

It was my 3rd night. We provided patient continence care. I was standing on his left side when he held my arm and asked gently stroking it: Do you remember me? I was on concrete floor in ward X. You left me.

Oh my God, I could not believe my ears. I was pleasantly surprised to know that he was the same fragile patient with 15 litres oxygen who had a fall during my break. I had not recognised him. His condition had improved. At that time the patient was verbalising and his face was covered behind oxygen mask.

I conveyed to the patient that he had made great improvement and how happy I was to see him. I promised to return to the patient for a chat on completion of my tilts.

I went back, explained and reassured the patient that I had not left him that night. Other Nurse took over and I was sent to my break when he fell off from his bed.
  
Smoking addiction might have caused this neglect because the Nurse who took over was a smoker, going out frequently.   
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Massive Bleed

I was working in Bay 3, 4 and side rooms 3, 4 and 5. A male HCA was assigned Bay 1, 2 and side rooms 1 and 2. There was a 1-2-1 HCA with side room 1 patient. 

3 Nurses were on duty. Around 22.50 an emergency alarm went off. It was a 50 years old female patient in Bay 2 bed 5. She was on her bed, excessively pale and was collapsing as I approached. Nurses acted promptly and help was summoned from Cardiac Arrest team.
 
Within no time 2 male Doctors 1 female Doctor, 2 Night Nurses and 4/5 support staff were there. Other 4 patients in the bay were behind the blinds by then.

The patient’s observations were critical; BP 87/49 and Sats were plunging down to 70s. We all were working as a team and patient was given 8 litres oxygen through balloon mask. Immediately, emergency treatment was started. One of the male Doctors took lead. Everyone was following him.
 
Suddenly patient started vomiting fresh red blood. It was everywhere; on her chest, face, eyes, nose, back of her 15 inches long hair, gown, pillows and mattress. There were splashes on blinds, chair and side cupboard. The patient was responding throughout. I used at least 10 towels to clean floor and surroundings. Patient’s gown, big V shape pillow and bed sheets were discarded. I had never seen this much blood vomited in my whole life.

The patient was given 2 bags of blood and one bag of plasma. IV infusion started. Patient’s BP improved to 90/53 and Sats100%.
Doctors made arrangements to perform Endoscopy to check the cause of bleeding. Patient was explained the procedure and she signed consent form.
 
She commented: I hope I won’t die during the procedure. Doctors and Nurses were doing their reporting online; Night Nurses and I were with the patient. I held her hand, assured and complemented: You are a very brave lady and lucky as well. You are in the hospital and got the best support and treatment immediately. You will be fine, just think positive. She smiled and nodded her head.

Patient’s family arrived; husband and daughter were offered hot drinks. Husband was holding patient’s hand; he was explained plan by one of the Doctors. We gave them a few minutes as patient’s BP improved to 103/63 and Sats remained 100%.

Patient was taken to the operation theatre around 00:15hrs. By the morning we discovered that nothing was found in procedure and now she was under observations in HDU (High Dependency Unit) for a day or so.
 
I was extremely happy, content and satisfied with the excellent support and treatment hospital team provided.
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My experience of working with Complex Needs Children Team provided me with a wealth of knowledge including Clinical Skills for every day hands on care. The Supervising Matron was a huge inspiration due to her charismatic personality, support for the team and compassion to make a real difference in the lives of the patients with dedication. This was another world, to which I had not been exposed before. Quickly, we were like a family with a feeling of self-actualisation. This played as a catalyst for me to go into nursing profession. 
It took me a while to decide that I have to survive on a shrunk bursary of £429 per month for the next 3 academic years. However, determination won, defeating the hardships of financial difficulties. 
During my interview, Admission Lead informed that I will be able to complete nursing training within 2 years under APEL (Accreditation of Prior Education and Learning). My just disappointment was that this did not materialise. The Nursing Head informed that the APEL procedure had not been finalised at the time and the APEL chapter was closed for me.
I contacted Clinical Placement Facilitator with regards to a Wider Secondment. She asked me to contact the Manager who confirmed that the Wider Secondment had already closed for the current year and asked me to get advice from the University. I was at square 1 again.
 It was my second disappointment or, rather injustice done to me.
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Rejection of Compassionate Leave Cost Me My Father’s Life
My husband gave me the best gift on my wedding by saying “You are only a few hours away from your Dad, whenever you feel like seeing him, let me know a week before and I will make your travel arrangements.” We were residing in the Gulf at that time and I used to visit my Dad frequently during those years. I had lost my Mum when I was 16. She was admitted to the Hospital for a quick gall bladder operation but, unfortunately, only survived for 9 days after her surgery. 
Later, I moved to UK and it was difficult for me to visit my Dad due to longer distance, higher travel cost and my Mother in Law’s fragile health, whom we used to visit in London every weekend, going on Saturday and return home on Sunday evening. 
My Dad was becoming fragile day by day so I booked my flights to visit him in October. I wrote to the University that I will be visiting my Dad under approved compassionate leave.
Unfortunately, University did not allow me to visit my Dad. I was instructed to visit him in December during the Christmas holidays. Sadly, my Dad passed away on 14 December, only 9 days before my altered travel plans. I saw him for the last time on ‘Skype’ when he was trying to open his eyes with a conscious attempt and said: He is not feeling too well, putting his head on my sister’s lap, who was kissing his forehead, reminding me of the times when I used to kiss my Dad’s forehead, eyes, cheeks and hands on each visit. 
My sister informed me that after my last interaction with my Dad on Skype, he asked her, when I was arriving? She counted and informed him that I shall arrive after 9 days. He nodded his head and said: It will be too late. He was right. He passed away within 2 days of my last conversation with him. 
What a price to pay for University’s advice to defer my travel plans! 
Rest in peace Dad!!
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Unfairness From The Start – Indication Of What Is To Come 
I was excited about getting a Nursing degree in the UK after a long gap since completion of my Masters Degree in the year 1984. My dreams were quickly shattered when our class was given a task to produce 14 handwritten portfolios on different topics. More significantly; we were told to rewrite a page to correct any typos or error. Thereafter, we were given unrealistic volume of work with unrealistic time frames. The logic given was; “Nursing is a stressful job. Therefore, you need enough experience of working under pressure.” 
The next batch of nursing students however was given the task to write only 2 hand written portfolios.
I kept my thirst for knowledge in control on the assumption that it was only the start of 3 years of studies and there will be much good coming out as the course progresses. 
Whilst learning about basic Anatomy in a class tutorial, a picture of a bladder was displayed upside down (by sticking a card) on the white board. We pointed out to the Tutor that it was not looking right and figured out that it was upside down. The tutor was unsure and reluctantly adjusted it when we explained that tubes from kidneys come down to the bladder to excrete urine. He stated: Do not expect that I know everything leaving us in a very disturbed state of mind as he had been tutoring for the last decade. At this point, one of the students added with a smile: Then what are you doing here? Satisfying our need to express how we felt. 
I reflected upon my previous experiences of studying at the University back home; I used to enjoy the enriching and gripping 90 minutes lectures and still wanted to continue when the lecture finished. One of my Tutors had qualified from Cambridge University and was performing Prime Minister’s Economic Advisor role. Another had qualified from Harvard University and had worked for both the United Nations and World Bank. 







[bookmark: _Toc26875836]
The Taster Conference

The University arranged a formal conference called a ‘Community Taster Day’ in the big Function Hall of private service providers, adjacent to the University. 
Patients, parents, carers, students and community representatives were invited to share their experiences of compassionate care provided by University students. There were around 300 people in the hall and formal dinner was served. 
I shared my placement experiences and realised that the message was conveyed effectively as many participants were in tears. 
I was walking back towards the academic blocks after the conference when an elderly lady came from behind, introduced herself and hugged me with the generous appreciation of my compassionate care. 
I was motivated further by this gesture to work in the healthcare system and make a positive change with my humble contribution.
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The Male Catheterisation 
Preparation and presentation of my first academic Power Point Presentation was a unique experience which took place in front of 45-50 fellow students. 
‘The Male Intermittent Catheterisation’ was a bold and challenging selection. This was followed by an open questions and answers session. I met the academic criteria and passed comfortably.
This presentation was about patients with profound learning disabilities who remained unable to pass urine naturally and need intervention. Therefore, intermittent catheterisation is performed with recommended intervals by a trained Specialist Healthcare member of the staff.
I learned and performed this skill under supervision of a Qualified Nurse at my first placement. 
‘Female Intermittent Catheterisation’ was taught during my previous employment with Complex Needs Children Team and I performed it on a frequent basis. 
During my Nursing Training at a special school, I skilfully inserted a straw like tube into urethra of a male child and advanced it gently, as it came up to the bladder, urine gushed out.
This proved a very beneficial experience for me due to the different anatomy of a male urethra which is about 18 cm as compared to the female urethra of only 4 cm. 
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Placement Learning Opportunity (PLO) 1
My first placement was assigned at a Special School; having children aged 3-11with profound learning, communication and physical disabilities including autistic spectrum, multi-sensory impairment and complex medical needs. 
The tools used for communication were objects of reference, photos, symbols, words and Basic Sign Language. Special facilities of Conductive Education, Music Therapy, Soft Play, Multi Sensory, Physiotherapy, Speech Therapy and Hydrotherapy Pool were provided on regular basis. 
School tailored curriculum to meet the diverse needs of children’s own learning pathway and achieved ‘Outstanding’ status by Ofsted. School also had a good resourced Library, Physical Education and Information Technology facilities. Spacious Lawns, Play Areas, Musical Garden and a Covered Play Area specially attract Foundation Stage children. There were two full time qualified Nurses to fulfil the medical needs of pupils.
I thoroughly enjoyed working in a Foundation Stage class alongside the Class Teacher and Support Staff. I achieved all competencies and excellent feedback from the Mentor. She wrote on my online portfolio;
“Farida has shown competence in her ability to liaise with all members of staff and to interact with professionalism. She has both, worked with and cared for the children within our setting and showed both empathy and need for discipline. 
Farida has helped with the nursing care of our children and has shown good observation of their conditions. She had been willing to take part in all activities and has done so efficiently and effectively. She has continued to widen her knowledge of the children and their conditions throughout her placement by reading and asking relevant questions.
By working through her action plan, which showed both depth and breadth of learning, Farida has learned a great deal of new skills which will help her develop herself as a professional.”
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Placement Learning Opportunity (PLO) 2
I thoroughly enjoyed working in a Specialist Respite of 6 Beds for children and young people with Complex Health Needs and Challenging Behaviour. This setting provides Structured Learning and Nursing Care in a safe, supportive and stimulating environment. 
I achieved all competencies and excellent feedback from the Mentor. He wrote on my online portfolio;
“Farida has been an enthusiastic and quick learner while she was at The S during her placement. Farida challenges how and why we do what we do as regards the holistic health and wellbeing of the child and their families.
Farida’s action plan was constructed during the first week and continued to grow to an impressive list. I have read her action plan and confirm that the contents are correct as stated. Farida has administered the drugs through the majority of the routes, oral, tropical, rectal, inhaled injections (insulin) as well as managing drugs and feed via gastrostomy route. Just to note that Farida was very good in this area. Farida has gained knowledge of P.E.G feeding both via pump and bolus, managed skin integrity including stoma sites. Has furthered her knowledge regards Diabetes. Farida has gained knowledge and skills of Epilepsy which was quite prevalent during her stay. 
Farida’s communication skills have further developed and have used different types such as Makaton, schedules, objects of reference in assisting children to make choices. 
Farida has assisted in managing the child who becomes ill during their short term care. Has gained further knowledge of Cerebral Palsy, how it effects the child and treatment to improve movement/posture. She spent time with the Physio. Farida has made herself aware of local and national policies and how these are implemented in the day to day running of the unit. Farida had built a good relationship with the children and their families when they came to the unit.
Farida has worked well at S. I would advise Farida to continue with drug administration and to increase awareness of what the drugs are used for/ groups continue to gain competence in personal care, increase skills/ knowledge of constipation, Epilepsy and the nursing process.
I have no concerns at this point or now as Farida has showed consistency, confidence and competence throughout her placement and is aware of her own limitations.”
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[bookmark: _Toc26866046]Year 2 Placement Learning Opportunity (PLO) 3 and Drug Errors
[bookmark: _Toc26866047][bookmark: _Toc26866716][bookmark: _Toc26875841]Placement 3 was assigned at a Psychotic Hospital for 12 weeks, 30 hours per week with 1 study day per week at University with 2 weeks Christmas break. I worked 380 hours at placement, 20 hours more than the required.
This placement was intense and a completely different experience. The setting was beautiful with huge buildings, large grounds, woodlands and walk ways. I was placed in a Medium Secure ward. On entering the main gate, at the speed limit of 10 mph, there were humps along the driveway, one after another. 
From reception, I had to pass through 9 secured locked doors to reach my ward. Identity badge was exchanged at reception with security alarm and bunch of keys. It normally took 12-15 minutes to reach the ward. Shifts were 12 hours long. I used to start work in the dark and return home in the dark during the winter.
My Mentor was a male Deputy Manager of the ward. I will call him M. One of my class mates started his placement in the same ward at the same time and was assigned a female Mentor. I will call her C. My Mentor was swapped over with C. Mentor M and staff warned me: You will not stand the shouting and yelling of C and will be dead in 3 days. 
C had a reputation of being a perfectionist and tells students off if they failed to comply with her instructions. I started my training with great care. Settling down and learning according to the expectations of my Mentor was a challenge and I was successful in meeting those challenges.  
University’s Link Tutor visited the setting; Mentor conveyed her full satisfaction about my practice and commented on my portfolio: “Farida has made a good start and accepts feedback well. I have been pleased with her progress.” 
This was a sigh of relief for me.
My problems started when I noticed events taking place around me which were not according to the professional standards;
· One patient, with two staff at an arm’s length, was only allowed to go to the dining room when everyone else had left. I noticed, a female staff getting involved in robust physical contact with the patient. This patient allegedly blamed staff for gross sexual acts.
· A patient in his twenties banged his head against the wall in the day room and injured himself. He was restrained by 5 staff members and taken to the seclusion room. He was sitting on the bare floor and still banging his head against the concrete wall. His blood was splashed everywhere. Staff did not restrain him anymore. Doctor on duty was bleeped. Mentor M asked me to get some cotton wool and hand sanitizer to clean the patient’s forehead wound. Whilst I was looking for these, Mentor C enquired what I was doing, I explained and she instructed: No, come with me. We have to wash the wound with saline and do the proper bandage. When we returned to the seclusion room, Mentor M asked: Where I was, in a very harsh manner in presence of other staff. As we finished dressing the wound, a male staff picked up dirty gloves, gauze and a kidney tray with washed wound and put everything on documents which were on the office table and left. To my shock no one paid any attention. I put on protective clothing and disposed it off. 
· The same male staff removed the bin liner after a patient had vomited in it, and asked the lady chef to sniff the vomit putting it on the serving hatch which had been just disinfected.
· The same staff was seen sitting with a female colleague in the staff room and the two of them were touching each other inappropriately. 
I requested Mentor M / Deputy Manager of the ward that I wanted to speak to him a few times but he ignored my requests. The third day I followed him in the corridor and conveyed my concerns to him. 
Next day Mentor C called a meeting and enquired: M told me that you are not happy about some issues; tell me what the matter is? I explained to her how I felt about these issues. She appraised my practice and commented: Well done Farida; you are a professional person and will make a very good Nurse.
During my placement, I learnt about various groups of medicines including ‘Typical’ and ‘Atypical.’ There were 18 patients to administer medication on regular basis in the ward. I was introduced to antipsychotic, anti-depressant, personality disorder, heart failure, diabetes, hypertension, tumour, mood disorders, epilepsy, anti-social behaviour, sexual behaviour, schizophrenia, mania, bipolar disorder, sedation, under active thyroid, palliative pain reduction, anxiety, nausea, vomiting, peptic ulcer, antibiotics, Parkinson disease, anti-cholesterol, eczema, haemorrhoids, multi vitamins, mouth wash, anti-smoking etc. I administered Depot injections under supervision of my Mentor several times. Medication was administered via different routes including oral, sublingual, and inhalation, rectal, tropical, intramuscular and subcutaneous injections. 
Whilst administering medication, I reported two drug errors on two different occasions to my Mentors. I also reported several other concerns to the Trust and University. 
Thereafter, attitude of staff became hostile towards me. Mentor M asked me to write evidence for each competency (175 in total) which was not a norm. He also assigned me a reflective essay of 2000 words despite University Tutor’s disapproval as we were already working on assignments from University to complete within a tight timeline.
This was start of my nightmare! 
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Drug error 1 
I was administering medication under supervision of Mentor C when I noticed that potency of medication available was 50mg whereas the Doctor had prescribed 25mg. I enquired from my Mentor if we were allowed to break tablets to confirm my knowledge. She affirmed that this was not the Trust’s policy because the dosage may change if we break the tablet. Mentor and I ensured that no other patient was prescribed 50mg dose of that medicine by physically checking records of each patient. No other patient was prescribed that particular medicine. I did not administer the medicine. However, it was noticed that 3 tablets from the pack had already been administered. Pharmacy was contacted to check the prescription and verify the dosage. 
I was highly appraised by the Mentor but strangely, she did not invite me to Datix (report online) this incident.
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Drug error 2 
I was helping and learning through observation while a Registered Nurse was administering medication in the clinic room. A patient was administered 1ml of liquid medication instead of 10mls. This medicine was written as 1g by the Doctor. 
I recalled when I noticed a liquid medicine written as ‘1g’, and asked Mentor why Doctor had written 1g instead of 10mls? She replied: He chose to write it this way, you have to use your brain.
I informed the Nurse that the dosage was 10mls and not 1ml. Despite my disagreement and alerting the Nurse that his calculation was wrong, he chose to administer the wrong dose of medication. I further explained to him that I had administered that medication several times under supervision of my Mentor and 1g was equivalent to 10mls. 
He mentioned a common formula: What you have, divided by what you need and decisively said it was 1ml. 
All staff knew that the patient did not like the taste of this medication and it had to be mixed with his other prescribed epilepsy medicine of 20mls. Therefore, a bigger pod had been used to accommodate 30mls liquid medication all together. 
When the patient left, I asked the Nurse: Do you mind if I ask Mentor M about this medicine?  He agreed and I asked Deputy Manager, who affirmed that 1g was 10mls. I informed the Nurse and left the clinic room. 
After a couple of hours, the Nurse came to me and said: You were right Farida, 1g is10mls. 
This patient had a history of head banging. The Registered Nurse, who administered the wrong dose of medication, had been working in the ward for the last 7 months and no one had corrected his error. I was not informed if this incident was Datixed either. 
It was a new day when a patient (with 2 staff on his left and right) allegedly said that he had sex with another patient in the Day Room’s toilet. Full description of the incident was given explaining how he went to the toilet first then the second person came, they locked the door and performed sexual activity. Police was summoned who investigated the incident. 
That night Mentor M instructed me to give handover literally at the last minute. Normally, there were 4 female staff in the ward but no one was on duty that day; Ward Manger had left the job, first Mentor C was on leave, a Qualified Nurse was on maternity leave and another Qualified Nurse was working with a different team at a different schedule. I was the only female staff in the ward; I noticed that some staff members were smiling whilst I was giving the handover. 
Mentor M wrote on my portfolio; Farida also seems to struggle when she is given negative feedback on her practice; Farida needs to be prepared to give handovers and seems to panic when asked to do a handover at short notice.
I attended various CPA (Care Plan Approach) meetings. Individual patients were invited to discuss their progress, needs, treatment etc. During ‘Ward Rounds’ I sat in conference room with MDT (Multi Disciplinary Team) lasting for 3/4 hours. My duty was to complete individual assessment forms and hand over to each patient before they left the meeting room.
As per the norm, there were several groups at PLO3. However, their liking and disliking adversely affected patients. Episodes of aggression, verbal and physical abuse were common. 
Male staff used “F” word all the time. They lacked basic manners and often farted in the ward office; there was no ventilation or widow as office was situated in the middle of the ward.
Often staff played games to trigger patient’s condition if they did not like their named Nurse. They would drag patients down to the risk level by depriving them of certain privileges like calling home, going for walks and smoking in the grounds etc. At times, they deliberately skipped recording the patient's positive activities. These activities would qualify them to arrive on a decreased risk level and enjoy certain privileges. 
This was a gross professional dishonesty and deprivation of human rights of patients!!
I was not happy about the treatment I had received and was receiving after identification of drug errors and requested a meeting with PLO3 Management to convey my concerns to keep the patients safe. A Senior Clinical Quality Manager of PLO3 came to the University to listen to my concerns. Instead of giving me support, the Manager pointed out: No other student ever raised these issues.
I replied: We all are different and see things differently.
 
Clinical Quality Manager failed to acknowledge my contribution and courage to identify serious drug errors and malpractices. He failed to protect me from detriments but escalated these further. He asked my permission to speak to my Tutor (with whom I had already discussed these incidents as and when happened) and to the Ward Manager knowing its consequences. I honestly and truthfully replied: If this is in the best interest of patients and your organisation without realising the serious consequences. Thereafter, I suffered heightened ongoing detriments.
I achieved all required competencies after chasing Mentor, who was reluctant to sign me off despite providing written evidence for each competency without the Tutor’s agreement: It is Mentor’s responsibility to observe the student and sign off competencies that is: Shockingly, grade C+ was awarded after 4 months of the placement which was not required for this placement. 
Multiple unauthorised changes were made on my online portfolio. PLO3 Mentor’s name was removed from her feedback when she specifically mentioned that I accept feedback well.


[bookmark: _Toc26875844]
Placement Learning Opportunity 4 (PART-1)
Placement 4, an ‘Adult Respite’ similar to PLO2, started just after two weeks of PLO3. My ordeal started in earnest.
At previous placements, University used to send 2 or more students at a time. We were 3 students at PLO1, 2 at PLO2 and 2 students at PLO3. However, I was sent alone to PLO4 for obvious reasons. 
Link Tutor made unprecedented 6 visits and met with Manager and Mentor, agenda of which was not known to me. Tutor did not enquire if I was settling in well or facing any difficulties at the placement. 
I booked my shifts same as my Mentor’s and worked 42 hours in the first week. I experienced hostility and omission by the Mentor and staff from the onset. Staff was not responding to my greetings which was very disturbing for me.
Mentor was required to provide written weekly feedback, duly signed by both of us. She provided only 2 feedbacks and discontinued thereafter without any explanation. More significantly, no safety issue was mentioned in those 2 feedbacks, which were later fabricated to discredit me. 
Mentor was very harsh towards me. I was asked to comb the hair of a female patient. I did her hair and applied Vaseline on her lips as per care plan. I managed to separate her forehead bangs, using the Vaseline left on my fingers. One of the male staff complained to the Mentor. The two of them returned and male staff literally pushed my hand away while I was arranging the forehead bangs. Mentor told me off in front of other staff. She remarked about the patient’s ‘funny look.’ She took the extreme step to rewash her hair, sending back the school bus and making new transport arrangements for the patient.
During a meeting with Link Tutor, Mentor also accused me of booking my shifts to suit me and not following her instructions. As a consequence of this, they withdrew 3 of my already achieved competencies and linked these with a follow up Action Plan. 
On one occasion, I was threatened by PLO4 Manager. She asked me what I would do if failed the placement. I will try again was my spontaneous reply. To this she reacted quoting an ex student whom she failed twice and who was now working at McDonald. 

Manager PLO4 also tried to fabricate a safety issue with the intent to fail me with the connivance of Link Tutor. Link Tutor emailed Manager and asked her to confirm about the incident where: If she had not intervened then it could have been a potential Safety issue for the Patient. 
Manager replied that: She had observed me undoing the bolts on the back of a wheelchair. She intervened, told me not to undo the bolts on the back of the chair and ensured the bolts were refastened and re-iterated to me that I should not undo parts of a client wheelchair especially bolts…..as this was a Safety issue. 

These were very serious allegations which could have lead to termination of my Nursing studies. 
I experienced extreme distress while working at PLO4 and used to cry while driving from the placement to home. At one point of time, my husband advised me to quit the Nursing studies. 
I wrote an email to Link Tutor and requested for a change of placement explaining my situation and concluded: Under the circumstances, it is impossible for me to work further at the setting. As such, I kindly request that my placement be changed with immediate effect. I seek the University’s support to complete the course I have undertaken. Link Tutor disregarded my request.
I wrote a second email: I would like to make you aware of my placement issues. Unfortunately, I am not getting the requisite learning and support. I strongly feel that PLO 4 is giving me undue stress and dragging me away from my learning goals. Link Tutor disregarded my 2nd formal written request.
On another occasion, Link Tutor stated that PLO4 staff had accused me of acting as an ‘inspector’ and not as ‘a Student Nurse’ and I had made accusations about PLO4 staff.  I explained to him that I had not made any complaint even though I had witnessed at least 13 malpractices at PLO4, listing the 13 malpractices in my email. This was disliked by both Link Tutor and PLO4, staff.
A meeting was called at the University after my repeated requests for change of placement. Link Tutor disregarded Personal Academic Tutor’s comments: I know your problem Farida, you work on this standard (she gestured her hand high) and when you see people working on this standard (she gestured her hand low), you cannot keep quiet and speak up. Please let things go over your head.  Link Tutor tried to cover up the matter by saying: You are failing at the placement and that is why you are coming up with all these issues.
My Mentor was finally changed. Later I discovered shocking facts about the new Mentor that she was not a qualified Mentor but was used to get the required results to cause me detriments by lowering my grade!
A meeting was arranged in the last week of placement attended by Link Tutor, Mentor and myself. In this meeting, Link Tutor asked Mentor: What grade are you giving to Farida? Mentor showed Link Tutor the feedback forms and said: I have got excellent feedback from families and carers of patients about Farida’s interaction with them.  
Tutor dismissed Mentor’s statement and feedback on my practice from family and carers and said: These are the wrong forms, send them other forms.’ 
He again asked Mentor: You must have decided by now, what grade are you giving?  Mentor put the grading criteria in front of her and said: In many of these, she is A, and if I see this one- that if she achieved the outcome easily, then no because she faced many challenges. However, this does not affect her grade. 
Link Tutor kept on insisting and asked: What grade is she getting?’ 
Mentor seemed uncomfortable and stated: I will give her a safe B. Let me put it on her portfolio. 
Tutor stopped Mentor from posting the grade on my portfolio saying: We will do it later. He then advised Mentor to get my grade from PLO3 even though it was an ungraded placement. It was agreed in the meeting that if a lower grade is received from PLO3, the higher grade will be awarded. 
Before posting the grade, Mentor sent me an email and copied it to Link Tutor and Manager PLO4 with instructions to contact Link Tutor or Manager, if needed. Thereafter, to my shock, Grade D was posted. Link Tutor was instrumental in manipulating and lowering the awarded grade from B to D. 

Link Tutor breached Nursing Regulations by interfering in the assessment of PLO 4 grade by the Mentor. On the contrary, he manipulated her to lower my grade!

I complained to my Personal Academic Tutor about the lowering of my grade. A meeting was convened and I was informed that I have the right to ask the Mentor about my grade change.
 
I enquired from Mentor and she replied: I will meet Link Tutor and will inform.
Mentor informed that she had met Link Tutor and advised me to ask him why my awarded grade had been lowered. 
I asked Link Tutor and he replied that the grade was changed: When other staff members were asked.
I had already requested University to investigate the untrue and defamatory comments made by PLO 4 staff which was used as an excuse to lower my grade. 

I informed my classmates about the lowering of my grade. Class Representative wrote on the closed social media “We cannot let Mentors bully us. We have to form a Support group,” to which all class agreed and a meeting was scheduled. 
 
As we were gathering for the scheduled meeting, we learnt that Class Rep had been called by the Link Tutor. He warned her to stay away from my matter. In this manner, he severed off any support I may have had from my class fellows.


[bookmark: _Toc26875845]
The Appraisal Letter

While I was undertaking practice training at PLO 4, I received a Formal Appreciation Letter from my employer along with the testimony of a patient. This letter had been officially circulated to all the wards of my Hospital where I work. I shared the positive feedback of my practice with University and received messages in response.

My Personal academic Tutor wrote; “Well done this is excellent. This demonstrates how caring and compassionate you are. An example of fantastic nursing care I am so proud of you!”  
PAT and Quality Lead asked my permission to publicise the news of appraisal letter to motivate Student Nurses. 
Personal Academic Tutor wrote to Quality Lead: For info, Being Brilliant
Quality Lead replied: That’s wonderful!  How do we publicise this?? Can we put a copy of the letter (with Farida’s permission and personal details removed) on our new brilliant wall?! 
Personal Academic Tutor wrote to me: Hi Farida, Please see response from XX re your letter. Can we have your permission to publicise this??? 
I replied: It will be an honour for the testimonial to be published.  Credit goes to the University and my Tutors. 
PAT: Many thanks. I will forward this to XX.

Mental Health Tutor / Care Maker wrote: This is fantastic well done
LD Tutor wrote: Well done.
Another LD Tutor wrote: Wow! Well done.
Both documents were displayed on University’s “We Brilliant Nurses” wall. 
Unfortunately, Nursing Head and Link Tutor chose to ignore my achievement. 
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The Care Maker

My heart was touched by the incidents taking place around my work life on every day basis. At times, I was unable to contain my emotions and looked for likeminded people to share my experiences. One of them was my Research Tutor, who, time and again, stressed to me the importance of taking up the role of a Care Maker and makes a positive difference in patient’s experience. 

Unintentionally, I was performing a ‘Care Maker’s’ role and demonstrating Care, Compassion, Commitment, Courage Communication and Competence. I was advised to take up a role of a Care Maker in University’s motivational emails. Finally I decided to undertake this role. I wrote to LD Team and PAT for advice. PAT recommended me for this role. I completed the on-line application.  Mental Health Tutor / Care Maker advised me to provide a copy of application to Nursing Head for authorisation which I complied. I was selected amongst first 1000 Care Makers in the UK. I adopted the proper procedure to step into this challenging role fulfilling all its requirements.

A ceremony took place in London and Student Nurses were invited from the University. A Mental Health Nursing Tutor, who was already a Care Maker and 3 Student Nurses attended the ceremony. I was invited on the stage to share my thoughts and feelings.

The news with our pictures was published on University and Healthcare forums.
I was invited, under the Care Maker’s initiative, to attend a 3 days conference in London to finalise ‘5 Years Forward Plan.’ I gave my input during interactive discussions to finalise the main features, strategies and simulation of this plan.  



[bookmark: _Toc26875847]
The National Song
I was invited to take part in ‘The National Song’ of Care Makers which was successfully launched.

Later, Nursing Head distorted facts about my Care Maker selection to Director Health Education England.
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The Award 
A renowned organisation announced that they were offering a new category of “The Most Inspirational Student Nurse” award. 
There were definitely some people at the University who believed in me since I was getting various emails to submit my name for the award, as ‘Self Nomination’ was allowed.
[bookmark: _Toc26866724][bookmark: _Toc26875849]I submitted my application on the last day and was nominated for the award. The news was published in Local Media. 
I was informed about the award ceremony with the request to provide my ‘High Resolution’ pictures.
I believe the University intervened and stopped my award by informing them that I was under FTP.
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Year 3 Placement Learning Opportunity (PLO) 5 Background
I wrote to my employer, thanked him for the Appraisal Letter and requested his support to accommodate me for remaining 2 placements of the final year. I conveyed my wish to undertake a Qualified Nurse position on successful completion of my studies. He confirmed his support. 
I received email from Community Healthcare Trust ‘Clinical Placement Facilitator’ to attend a meeting. She was not from the same Trust as my Hospital and was the same person who rejected my request for a ‘Wider Secondment’ for Nursing Training. She invited me for a meeting and assured me my next placement.
After about 4 months of the above meeting, I sent a brief email request to CPF to consider my upcoming placement with one of the followings; 
Neonatal Unit (NNU) premature & sick babies with Learning Disabilities
School Nursing 
Dementia Team at the Hospital
 Clinical Placement Facilitator wrote a very harsh reply to my polite request. Her email read: My understanding of LD Nursing course was a concern for her and my request was inappropriate, and she was considering withdrawing her offer of placement.  She copied the email to Nursing Head, Personal Academic Tutor and Link Tutor. 
I replied to her and apologised for any misunderstanding. In her reply, she further blamed me of writing her “repeated emails.” 
I wrote back and confirmed that I had written her only one email. She did not acknowledge my email.
Placement 5 had been published online on University’s website and mine was showing ‘To be confirmed.’ After waiting for 4 days, I wrote to the Link Tutor to enquire about my placement. He confirmed that he did not have any information.
I contacted my employer, suggesting some improvements for the Hospital and conveyed my plans to continue my employment and explained that most of my class mates had already started 20-hour shifts at the settings where they intend to work after qualifying. I added that PLO5 placements had been allocated to all the Class, except mine, which was still pending. I also added that Clinical Placement Facilitator was not helpful in this regard.
My employer thanked me for the suggestions proposed and forwarded my email to Chief Nurse of the Hospital for considering suitable learning opportunities for me. Chief Nurse emailed CPF, suggesting placement with Safeguarding / Dementia team at the Hospital. Chief Nurse wrote an email to me that CPF: “has tried very hard to source a suitable placement for me, there have been some issues with mentor capacity in the community, and Clinical Placement Facilitator is meeting with them again and will notify the University asap.”
At the same date, CPF emailed Nursing Head and Link Tutor to see me under “Cause for Concern” instead of offering me a placement as suggested by Chief Nurse. Next morning I received an email from University to see Year 2 Lead Tutor.
Minutes of the meeting were taken by a Secretary. Lead Tutor briefed that the meeting was regarding my complaint about CPF. 
He asked me ‘How do you know Mr. X, referring to my employer?’ 
I replied ‘We have employer and employee relationship and are work colleagues in the Hospital. My suggestions to improve patient experience have always been welcomed by him.’  Then I showed Lead Tutor a copy of the appreciation letter. 
Lead Tutor commented ‘I have seen hundreds of these letters and you never think an executive is your friend, I know him from XX many years and I assure you that if he will see you in the Hospital corridors, he will never say hello or even recognise you. Writing private letters to executives and complaining about the colleagues can initiate a disciplinary action against you. I am warning you to choose careful words in your correspondence. You complained about CPF and top Nurse of the Hospital wrote to our top management and then it came to the University. CPF is not employed by Mr. X and she has the right to defend herself, she was trying to help you.’ 
I explained: I had no intention to complain about CPF, if you read my email there are other important issues I have discussed. I was invited by CPF and met her, later, she responded very harshly to my polite request. I apologised to her and she further accused me of writing her ‘repeated emails.’ I confirmed that I have written her only one email which she never acknowledged (at this point I read the email). 
Tutor commented: I can see your big bunch of paper records, ‘we are not here to tell you off or to take disciplinary action against you, let us close it here and from now onwards you need to remember to use careful words in your correspondence. 

Apparently, the matter was closed after my clarification but, in reality, it was not.

Start of PLO5  
This placement was a vindictive selection by CPF as she had planned to end my Nursing career. To achieve this objective, she assigned PLO5 under her own jurisdiction as opposed to Chief Nurse’s offer of placement at two wards in the Hospital. 

Accordingly, PLO 5 Mentor did not highlight any deficit in my practice during the first 10 weeks of my placement. CPF was closely manipulating the events taking place at PLO5. Accordingly, Link Tutor was stopped to pay a mandatory visit at placement thus breaching Nursing Training Regulations. On the contrary, Link Tutor visited placement discreetly and finalised ‘12 deficits’ in my practice with PLO5 Mentor and Staff for Midpoint Assessment to fail me. 

More significantly, CPF, Link Tutor, Nursing Head and Mentor overlooked the work I had done with patients which was duly posted on their online progress notes on daily basis. In my opinion, they were confident that there will be no accountability for their actions. 
According to nursing regulations “The Mentor is a key support to students in practice; where students apply their knowledge, learn key skills and achieve the required competence for registration.”  Mentor conducted 2 supervision meetings; work done, work in progress and assignments in pipeline were discussed without any concern.
I was assigned two difficult Caseloads. Both patients had stopped working with PLO5 staff. Caseload 1 was a male in his 50’s living alone with the condition of Schizophrenia and Psychosis. He was assigned by Mentor A. 
Caseload 2 was a female in her 50’s, living alone with the conditions of Schizophrenia, Psychosis, low HB (Haemoglobin) and Obesity. She was assigned by Mentor B.
1st Visit Caseload 1 
Mentor instructed me to arrive at the patient’s flat on the second day of my placement. I complied. He introduced me to the patient and left within 5 minutes giving me instructions to take him to the Hospital for blood test. Mentor did not ask me if I was comfortable being left alone with an anxious male patient, or, if I had appropriate vehicle insurance cover to use my car for business purpose. 
I felt scared and vulnerable as it was my very first experience of being alone with a psychotic male patient. It was not easy for the patient either because with such conditions, patients feel insecure and anxious with new faces. My only experience of working with psychotic patients was at PLO3. At that setting, there were 9 secured locked doors to reach patients, with an individual security alarm with many staff members around at all times. As a student Nurse, we were not allowed to go near patients alone. And here I was, alone in an apartment with a male psychotic patient, meeting him for the very first time without any safety plan in place. 
Whilst controlling my own fear, anxiety and shivers, I was empathising with the patient, who was shaking his leg anxiously and was smoking heavily. He was not able to see his keys or glasses lying in front of him on his coffee table. I avoided making eye contact with him or asking him direct questions. I decided instead to tidy the room coming in and out of the room and kitchen, giving patient a bit of space and time to calm down. I was talking to self loudly “Let me leave the dishes in kitchen,” “I will wipe your table with wet tissue” and “Oh it’s looking good, sun is out now” etc. 
I gradually talked about going to the Hospital for blood test and difficulty in finding parking place there. I accomplished the task successfully with extreme anxiety, taking great care while supporting and comforting the patient at all times.
Epilepsy Training
I was given a task to deliver ‘Epilepsy Training’ at a local bakery in the first week of my placement. Mentor provided obsolete training material whereas the latest training pack was available at the placement which I discovered later. Luckily, I had already completed Epilepsy Training just before starting PLO5 which was valid for 3 years and, as such, was able to complete this task successfully.
Sex Education
Mentor assigned me to deliver Sex Education to a 27 years old female with Learning Disabilities at a local Day Centre. He gave me a booklet with pictures of male and female masturbation and sexual intercourse and a DVD. 
After my first meeting with the patient, Mentor asked for my feedback and specifically enquired if I had explained about female masturbation. I informed Mentor that the patient was dismissive after seeing the pictures and had remarked that it was disgusting. Mentor enquired how I would take this further in my next session to motivate and convince her for female masturbation. 
I asked Mentor: Does she have the right to choose but he kept quiet.
For the next meeting, Mentor instructed me to deliver a session on sexual intercourse to the same female patient and her boyfriend using the booklet. The boyfriend, in his late 50’s, was an employee at the same Day Centre. The booklet started with intimate touching of each other’s private parts, kissing and advancing to intercourse in different positions. The boyfriend was blushing and the female was asking him to look at the pictures. As we concluded the session, the female patient said she was feeling wet and went off to the bathroom. I was in a state of shock about the way I was being trained at PLO5.
PLO 5 Practice Appraisal
During a class tutorial, my Class Representative commented in presence of the Link Tutor: You are doing exceptionally well at PLO5 Farida. I spoke to two of the Nurses and they conveyed this to me. The Class Rep had been assigned her PLO4 at the same setting and was awarded grade A by her Mentor.
Mentor B appraised the success I had achieved for Caseload 2. She rewarded me by assigning me the responsibility to arrange and to Chair the Annual Review Meeting of Caseload 2, which is considered to be a major achievement for any Student Nurse.
Midpoint Assessment Meeting
Midpoint Assessment meeting was scheduled and I had no idea what was coming up because 12 fabricated deficits had been finalised in collaboration by the University and PLO5 staff without my knowledge.
That day, Mentor and Team Manager were in high spirits; smiling, joking and singing whilst going to the meeting room. Mentor gestured me to join them. I followed them in a small meeting room. Manager sat exactly opposite to me and Mentor sat on my right side. 
Mentor opened the meeting by saying: You are the less performing year 3 student we ever had. Five Registered Nurses said you are not up to the standard.
I instantly went into state of a shock, my mouth dried up and Mentor cruelly carried on: You only smile when you go to see the Prime Minister, you are manipulative, you bluffed, you are not ‘meal time sensitive,’ when you came I turned my face away but you were still standing there, you said ‘My Mentor is very good,’ and you over familiarise in this way, you....…. He read all the12 deficits they had finalised. Manager remained quiet and kept staring at me during the meeting. 
Gathering all my energy, I tried to explain the work I had done with my caseloads, training, learning I had undertaken and the positive feedback I had received from Registered Nurses and PLO5 staff. However, Mentor was completely dismissive of my pleas. 
I broke down into tears and witnessed a big smile on the Team Manager’s face. I was inhumanely treated, humiliated, bullied and abused in this meeting. 
The biggest regret of my life is why I had taken all that abuse? Anyone else in my place would have thrown in the towel, left the meeting and given up the Nursing Studies! Finally, the Manager gave me a 2 point Action Plan for the follow up meeting scheduled after 3 weeks. After a day, I was scheduled to attend Roundtable Discussion at No 10.
Midpoint Assessment Response: I sent my response to the University for each deficit Point in my practice;

• BP cuff – failure to understand the process of using and accepting the provision of an obese cuff. She continued to search for her expected solution via several staff members as this was not accommodated by me. This demonstrates a lack of insight of her role as a student.

I visited caseload 2 along with Mentor B to administer Depot Injection. This patient was assigned as my caseload for Weight Management with recommendation to monitor her blood pressure and weight on a weekly basis as the patient suffered with low HB (haemoglobin). This patient had a history of collapsing when outside normally ending up in A&E of the local Hospital. During the home visit, we could not perform BP check because there was only medium BP cuff available in the equipment. It was agreed that a large BP cuff was needed for this patient. On our return, I got a large BP cuff and put it in the equipment box. I was informed that cuff belonged to the Health Action Team and I should liaise with the staff to check its availability and priority of use. This was unusual for me.

I requested Team Manager to get another cuff explaining its need. He suggested getting one from the Day Centre next door. I went to the Day Centre and discovered that Day Centre borrowed the same large cuff when needed and it was the only large BP cuff available at PLO5. I informed the Manager but he remained unconvinced and disputed the need for a second cuff. On the contrary, he asked me to justify the need. He advised to search on internet, compare the prices, and prepare a presentation justifying the need which will then be reviewed for consideration depending upon availability of funds. His proposal was not comprehendible for me. I asked Health Action Team Nurse if I could get a large cuff from the Hospital. She refused saying: They are the different trust and you do not understand how we work. To my understanding, ‘We all work around the patient to keep them safe and provide the best support as Multi-Disciplinary Team. 

I considered it gross negligence on part of PLO5 management for refusing to provide basic equipment to keep patients safe. I believe my repeated protest requests falls under “Qualified Disclosure in Public Interest.” PLO5 distorted facts by writing this point as my deficit how could they justify that why their setting of about 53 staff and a big Day Care Centre had only one large BP cuff? How could they imagine that a Health Care Assistant, who start her every day duties with checking patient’s Blood Pressure, does not know the use of large BP cuff? How on earth could they justify this as a deficit in my practice?
  
•	Use of medical abbreviations – very keen to use standard abbreviations for medical conditions without being able to demonstrate that she knows what they mean or stand for.

This deficit point was raised by a Health Action Team Nurse who raised 3 deficits in total, mentioned during a manual blood pressure practice session. This deficit was related to my Mother in Law who had COPD and had been on oxygen 24/7 for a number of years. When asked what it was, I replied “a prolonged lung disease” but could not describe it as “Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease.” In the Midpoint Assessment meeting, Mentor accused me that I had “bluffed” regarding this explanation and raised it as a deficit in my practice. 

•	Vital signs / observation practice – thought that she knew more than she did. She was evasive with her answers when challenged.

This relates to the above point and was raised by the same Health Action Team Nurse.

•	I was concerned re: data protection - e-mail sent from personal PC identifying SU and address.

A ‘Care Plan Approach’ meeting had been booked with a Nurse when University scheduled a Skype Group Tutorial at the same time.  I emailed the Nurse regarding this meeting. More significantly, in my email, I did not state patient’s personal name or address, or use my personal computer. I wrote patient’s initial “M” and abbreviated the surname. Furthermore, I used my official University’s Personal Computer to send the email.
It is evident that Mentor was finding faults in my practice.

• On a more general note the presentation on social media safety was embarrassing and not at a standard expected from 3rd years both in terms of content and presentation.

“Internet Safety” power point presentation had been assigned to 2 student Nurses from another University attending PLO5 setting at the same time. This work was to be completed during their next placement which was pre-assigned. The 2 Nurses had prepared part of the work to be presented at the last allocation meeting before completion of their placement. 

A day before the presentation, in the afternoon, I was informed by one of the student Nurses that the Team Manager had said: All student Nurses will be presenting the Computer Safety assignment tomorrow. She explained that she showed their assignment to the Manager and his feedback was that it was too wordy for Learning Disability patients and the images needed to be brightened.  Student Nurse added: I am no more working on this presentation and if you want to adapt it, please do so. I explained to her that I was scheduled to attend an evening class that day and will be able to work late at night on this assignment. We agreed and I completed the presentation and emailed to the Student Nurse 20 slides after midnight. It was agreed that each Nurse will present 5 slides. 

Next day, all staff was present as they were specifically invited to attend the student Nurses presentation. During my part, I explained that the presentation had been assigned to me only the previous day in late afternoon. I prepared it at a very short notice during unsocial hours and without any guidelines, either verbal or written from the Mentors. I requested the team to give a realistic timeline and written guidelines for any future work assigned to student Nurses. This was not liked by the Team Manager and Mentor decided to declare it a deficit in my practice. 

•	Use of SU initials within office instead of full name.

Patient’s initials had been used at my previous placements instead of full names. At PLO5, I used patient’s initials but reverted to using their full names when told to do so. Despite this, Mentor decided to raise this point as a deficit in my practice!

•	Could not remember names of clients in supervision.

I visited a patient with the Occupational Therapist once only. I used patient’s first name during a meeting with Mentor as it was a one-off visit. Yet, this was reported as a deficit in my practice. 

•	Over familiar /effusive with staff.

On first day of my placement, Mentor introduced me to the staff and instructed me: “These are the teams. You find out what they do and create your own work.” 

I developed professional relationship with staff from day one. I worked with all the teams and got excellent feedback from them. I had 17 discussions with the Office Manager regarding what I was doing with my caseloads and other patients. I do not remember if I ever said that my Mentor is very good.
 
•	Energised, confident and assertive for the attendance and acquisition of training/certificates (Less so with client working – currently not energised, insightful or dynamic in this area commensurate with a 3rd year student).

I was provided a link about the training and courses available by the Mentor. I booked and attended the training and courses related to my Nursing course. At the start of Year 3, University had sent an email to all students with the available trainings and courses with instructions to enhance nursing skills.

At PLO5, I successfully offered compassionate, empathetic and therapeutic care to the patients and worked more than the required hours. I performed my duties diligently with commitment as a team member, participated in meetings and community activities and attended trainings to enhance my skills including:

Review Meetings, Discussion with colleagues, Loan working, Telephonic contact with clients, arranging visits, Caseload patient for Weight Management, Caseload patient for Medication Management, Driving and supporting clients for blood tests, neck injections, medication and GP visits managing their behaviour and anxieties, Environmental Assessment, Baseline Dementia Assessment, Use of therapeutic communication with empathy, Liaise with team and patients, Epilepsy Training delivered to staff x 2 (Power Point Presentation prepared, hard copies of notes, certificates arranged, Time management and interactive discussion, Participant‘s interest maintained throughout) A unique experience, couple of areas noted for improvement (second week), Mental Health Assessment, Compassion in Practice Planning, Leadership Programme, Frameworki training started writing client progress notes, Depot injections administration, Community Support Team Meeting attended to look for the best way to support patient, Client supported for social visit over coffee and interactive communication, Sign along sign language with SALT (Speech and Language Therapist), Allocation meetings, Housing meeting, ‘Advocacy’ for patient at GP surgery to overcome difficulties regarding PRN, Prepared Timeline of Medication and Behaviour of a patient, Sexual Attitude and Knowledge Assessment (S.A.K) carried out managing patient‘s anxieties, keeping calm by offering comfort breaks, Standing/ Walking Hoist trial session with Physiotherapists, Behaviour Support Assessment, Next strategy planned, discussed and agreed. Resource development assigned for behaviour support, Gradual Progression Achieved in providing structured knowledge of sex education, Multi Disciplinary Team meetings, Care Plan Approach meeting, Presentation on Computer Security by four student Nurses, Fall Prevention, End of Life Care, Manual blood pressure, Problem solving skills developed handling “Alert” for patient’s missed blood test appointment. Team (Mentors and Dr) informed by email that I witnessed the site during previous day‘s home visit and client confirmed his attendance. I managed to speak to Clozaril Nurse at the Hospital who confirmed the patient‘s attendance for blood test. The alert was auto-generated due to the Christmas break, as standard time period was exceeded. Case notes finalised, creating alert for the outcome to the team. Outcome acknowledged and appreciated by Dr and Mentor. Hydrotherapy session with Physiotherapists attended. I supported 5 patients with various conditions of mild to profound learning disabilities along with the team. I learned amazing, individually tailored, person centred support and skills from the team. Interactive communication took place with parents and carers on effectiveness of hydrotherapy, professionalism, excellence of the team and progress they witnessed remained focus of discussion. Home visit, discussed needs, and GP appointment booked straightaway (to request for ‘Well Women Checks’), smear test (missed appointment) re- booked. Patient was given the information and choice about hydrotherapy and obtained consent to join hydrotherapy sessions, offered on weekly basis. A referral prepared to support patient having weight issues with the request to be considered for hydrotherapy with Physiotherapist, analysing how it may benefit the client. I participated in Round Table Discussion at No 10 with Health Advisor of Prime Minister, Director Health Education England, Chief Nurse of England and a group of Care Makers. I presented my ‘Patient Improvement Plan’ Annual Review Meeting was assigned by the Mentor, from preparation to chair it, including inviting/ liaising staff/ carers and booking room, refreshments, date and time. I have offered my services for interpreting at PLO5 and first session was booked with Social Worker. I received excellent feedback from RGN “An excellent piece of work by M and Farida, regarding timeline of events/medication “Gold Stars” on their PAD please!!"

Despite all the above, yet Mentor raised my efforts as a deficit in my practice.

•	Listening skills need honing. 

This deficit in my practice has no basis at all. I started my placement in the first week of November. I had my first Supervision Meeting with Mentor after 4 weeks in November and second one after 8 weeks in December. No deficits in practice or need to improve my listening skills were highlighted until Midpoint Assessment which took place after 13 weeks of my 16 weeks placement.

•	Not picking up on ‘social cues’ within a Team setting - lengthy conversations and insensitivity to staff meal breaks.

A member of staff showed me where the snacks were kept in an open hall, next to the Group Manager. She informed me that members of staff can have these snacks at any time. I clearly remember that one time when I went to grab a snack, a member of staff was getting ready for her lunch. She may have mistakenly thought that I was there to talk to her. I picked up a snack and left the area without disturbing her. 

Farida found it hard to listen to the aforementioned comments and was encouraged to apply the same level of energy, confidence and assertiveness into her direct client work as she currently applies to her accusation of training course, certificates and high profile meetings. 

This is a false allegation without any basis, but used as a deficit in my practice! On the contrary, my achievements were exceptional, evident from my records of successful working with caseloads, feedback from placement Mentors, employer and patients. Recruitment as Care Maker and Nomination for Award all based on my practice. Further evidence emerged when my Class Representative complemented my exceptional practice quoting two PLO 5 Registered Nurses of PLO5 during a tutorial in the University. 
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The No 10 Downing Street (Teleconference) 

A teleconference was arranged to brief us on the agenda of Discussion at No 10 the evening before. I broke into tears when learnt that one point of discussion will be “Problems faced by Student Nurses at their current placements.” It took me a while to absorb this news considering the problems I was facing.

During the teleconference, my proposal to make Nursing Students Assessments ‘Fair and Transparent’ and ultimately ‘Improve Patient Experience’ using Fresh Eyes of Student Nurses was much appreciated. I was asked to bring over hard copies of my proposal for presentation to the delegates at No 10.


The Care Makers Biography

I left a hard copy of my ‘Care Makers Biography’ with my Mentor for his information. I requested Mentor to return my document and he replied: I will put it on your table.’ 
I clarified: I need my document to attend the meeting at No 10. 
Mentor put on his backpack and left the office ignoring my request.  Subsequently, I attended the meeting at No 10 without my document. 
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I attended the Roundtable Discussion at No.10 with 12 handpicked Care Makers from all over the UK. There were top leaders of Health and Social Care Sector. Prime Minister’s Health Advisor, Director Health Education England, Chief Nursing Officer England, NMC Head and many others were in attendance. Part of the discussion was centred the difficulties faced by Care Makers and Student Nurses at their current placements. I was gripped by the theme of the discussion due to my own circumstances. 

The day was full of enthusiasm. I met Chief Nursing Officer England for the very first time and found her to be a polite, caring and friendly down to earth person. We all mingled with each other before leaving ‘Richmond House’ for No. 10. 

I was impressed by the décor at No. 10. It was done to a decent but elegant standard and not lavish, with combination of home touch by lovely friendly cats around.  Coffee was offered, sending a strong message of ‘cuts’ to Care Makers as there were no fancy cookies.

Every one of us was given a fair chance to speak our minds. I touched my situation briefly, presented hard copies of my Patient Improvement Plan and participated in interactive discussions. I suggested that my Patient Improvement Plan could be introduced at a National Level, to save student Nurses from detriments with transparency under a ‘Care Maker Initiative.’ My plan was based on using “Fresh Eyes” of Student Nurses to improve nursing training and ultimately patient care. I was confident that one day, ideas and opportunities to improve the services, mentioned in my plan will be picked up on the national level by decision makers. I had initially chosen this subject for my Dissertation, which was declined by the University. It was an honest and true expression, covering almost all aspects of Health and Social Care issues highlighted by Care Makers. 
Chief Nurse of England advised me to meet Director Health Education England after the discussions. Director Health Education England gave me her business card and asked me to update her about my situation. I was satisfied with the outcome. A tour of No 10 was given and enjoyed by all. 
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4 Hours

One of my case loads (I will call her K) had been booked for morning coffee and thereafter to attend “Well Women Checks” with GP. This patient had previously refused to attend any GP appointment. I spent four hours with her on the day without realising that the next day would be my last day at PLO5.

As I arrived at PLO5, I got the message from the Office Manager that K had called and wanted to talk to me. This call was unexpected because our meeting had been already scheduled. I returned her call, she was anxious because some incident had taken place involving her ex-partner. I reassured and supported K to manage her anxieties. I agreed to pick her up earlier for coffee and to attend GP appointment thereafter. K was very upset and talked about the phone call she had received from her ex husband.

K seemed very anxious. My priority was to meet her changing needs and attend GP appointment successfully. She used to change her mind and leave the GP’s clinic. More time was required to support her and to manage her mood and behaviour according to the new development, keeping her pain and distress at a safe level. We had a light breakfast with interactive communication at a superstore’s restaurant.

To my shock, no GP was available at the time of the booked appointment. I enquired from reception and they had no satisfactory answer. In my opinion, due to K’s non attendance for years, they believed she will not turn-up. Thereafter, they started making arrangements to arrange a GP. I used therapeutic communication with empathy to explain cause of delay to K because she was asking about the time repeatedly. I explained to her about the delay between booked appointment time and the new time for her to be seen.  K attempted to leave the clinic most of the time. I explained to her the importance of seeing a GP and staying healthy. I obtained her consent to accompany her during triage by Nurse and physical examination by the Doctor. She agreed for me to support her during the physical examination.

I went to the Nurse on duty and had a word in confidence to examine under the stomach (skin to skin fold) and groin area of K as she did not let anyone examine her physically. K was holding my hand while Nurse examined her maintaining her dignity. Both under stomach and groin area were infected and bleeding. I reassured and supported K to manage pain and stress during physical examination which triggered further pain.
 
Her request for a female doctor was met and finally K was seen. I requested Doctor if she could access online Hospital records and find out about her latest HB level which was low in the last report. The doctor successfully checked Hospital records and informed that HB was still low. Iron tablets were prescribed, benefitting from Hospital records. Six lots of 2 creams were issued along with thrush medication.

K was explained about the need for follow-up appointments and booked one with her consent, checking my own availability as K needed my support. Medication was collected from the pharmacy next door and dosage was explained to K.
K broke into tears while saying goodbye and thanking me several times for the day we had spent together.

Next day at PLO5, I discussed with Mentor B the outcome, difficulties, and barriers faced whilst supporting K were. I received very good feedback from the Mentor. She guided me about incorporating this information in the Annual Review Meeting which I complied. K’s progress notes were updated which will remain on records for several years.
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The Suspension and Investigation

My placement was suspended in the follow-up meeting attended by Mentor, Link Tutor and myself. Action Plan given in Midpoint Assessment was achieved successfully but was not discussed in the meeting. 

Link Tutor asked Mentor in a relaxed mood: Would you like me to start or will you crack on?’ 
Mentor stated: 5 RGN’s said you are not up to the standard, Specialty Doctor said you are manipulative, your previous placement staff said you are manipulative. 
I tried to explain about the successful achievement of the Action Plan assigned and the feedback received from RGN’s, but all my comments were ignored. When I quoted some feedback which Mentor was copied and which he never acknowledged, Mentor stood up saying: Why should I? That is a school thing “Gold Star”, I do not want to listen, your placement is finished Farida and you leave NOW.
Mentor and Link Tutor had no intention to review the Action Plan as they were there to terminate my placement. 
Names of the 5 RGN’s had not been mentioned in the meeting. Later, a report revealed the names and I was shocked to learn that I had not worked with 3 RGN’s. And with one RGN, I had a brief 30 minutes session. This strategy was used unjustly to victimise me and discredit my practice.   
I was in a state of shock, extremely distressed and approached Speciality Doctor at PLO5 with a counselling request. She initially agreed but when she discovered that it was related to my termination, she refused saying: You will be fine Farida. Thereafter, I consulted my GP who referred me for counselling with Occupational Health Therapist.
Simultaneously, I conveyed the difficulties I had faced to Regulatory bodies, Health Education and Quality Assurance to seek their support and to alert them of the gross wrongdoings I had faced. I informed them that PLO5 termination was unlawful, based on false and fabricated accusations, ignoring the work done with patients, ignoring positive feedback from RGN and staff and a continuation of the problems I faced after my qualified disclosure.
Not a single competency was given and grade F+ was placed on my portfolio despite the fact that PLO5 was not a graded placement and only commentary was required. All this was done by design in collaboration between placement and University staff. 
The University’s Investigations 
However, investigations were initiated by the University, after I publicised my work at PLO5 online and informed higher authorities and regulatory bodies of my difficulties. The reports prepared by Mentor, Manager and Link Tutor were a distortion and misrepresentation of facts.
The Fitness to Practice
First Fitness to Practice was applied when I share PLO 5 Mentor feedback with my class fellows.
Second Fitness to Practice proceedings started when Nursing Head suspended my PLO5 unjustly. She had already conveyed to all staff that she was suspending my PLO5 placement in an email. Nursing Head did not approve of my voicing concerns about Student Nurses facing problems under Care Maker Initiative at No 10. Nursing Head asked me to submit various statements and a Reflective Essay of 2000 words with the same submission date as of my Dissertation. It was a very stressful time for me. However, as detriments escalated, my determination to complete nursing training was strengthened. I worked day and night to fulfil the study, suspension and Fitness to Practice challenges.

The University’s Investigation Report
 
University’s report concluded that my complaints regarding PLO3 were not justified. The investigator covered up the drug errors and denied any wrongdoings by changing statements and records at PLO3. I was not made aware of this fact unless a statement was submitted to Employment Tribunal later. The fact is that drug errors were identified and reported to Mentors, Link Tutor, Personal Academic Tutor, Placement Lead and Clinical Placement Manager. This was documented in various emails, recorded on my Portfolio and never denied. However, all the records and statements were changed at PLO3 to cover up the drug errors. 

PLO3 offered me a compensation of £500 during Employment Tribunal hearing to settle my qualified disclosure. 

Regarding PLO4, investigator had stated in a meeting: Grade change is a serious matter and I am taking it on board and informed that next meeting will be regarding PLO4 investigation, which never took place. I was not informed of any steps taken regarding PLO4 grade change either verbally or in writing and I kept on complaining about my grade lowering at every forum including OIA. Later I got evidence from Head of Pre & Post Registration Nursing that PLO4 Mentor was not qualified to perform Mentoring duties. This is a serious breach of Regulations by University and PLO4 Management. Clearly University manipulated and abused their authority to lower my grade using an unqualified Mentor and doing so, also breached Nursing Regulations. 
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The Patient Improvement Plan

My Dissertation on “Patient Improvement Plan” using “Fresh Eyes” of Student Nurses” outlined below was not approved by the University. My proposal for the Dissertation is outlined below;

Issue: 
· Improving Patient Experience
Nursing placement is a vital part of learning and development. It contributes to produce the best Nurses who start improving the patient experience straightaway.
 
Objective/ rationalisation:
·  It is evident from my personal experience that using my fresh ‘pair of eyes’ and raising some concerns, I experienced victimisation and faced detriments at my recent placements and fear further repercussions.  
The need for Mentor and student to work together as a team, recognising their responsibilities and to treat each other with respect is a prerequisite for successful learning outcome. 
Eliminating the above factors will lead to a positive placement experience, excellent nursing practice and building strong staff and patient relationship. This will give rise to attract more people with right values to join nursing, high retention, low turnover and improved quality care for patients. 

Research method:
· Qualitative method: Data collection and Data analysis via Focus Groups.

Process:
‘Rights, duties and Responsibilities’ form will be signed by the:
Student Nurse
Mentor and 
PAT / Link Tutor
· Student Nurses will apply 6C’s in every day placement practice and electronically post the examples of excellent care provided and the malpractices if any to PAT (Personal Academic Tutor), Link Tutor, Mentor and setting Manager. Both good and bad practice alerts will be created in the records. High level ‘Red Alert’ will be created for serious malpractices and the site will be accessible to related Trust and Regulatory bodies at all times.
Periodic review will be conducted using reflection.
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The Dissertation
At the beginning of my 3rd year, I began working on the dissertation module under supervision of a non LD Tutor. Work on this assignment was continuous throughout the year. I was assigned a Supervisor who had already marked my 5000 words unsupervised research work in the 2nd year which I passed in first attempt.
Now 10,000-word Dissertation topic was duly approved by the Module Lead and I benefited from my Supervisor’s advice by numerous email exchanges and in face to face discussions.
I submitted my Dissertation and the University informed that I had not passed, which was a shock for me. I resubmitted my Dissertation, working carefully on each point of the feedback by the markers. Again, I was informed that I had not passed my second attempt. 

I passed all exams and placements despite facing continuous detriments and achieved 320/360 credits. University had attempted to fail me on other occasions but, somehow, I was able to come out. Now, the University deployed its last resort, that is, my Dissertation of remaining 40 credits to fail me. 

This was University’s own failure because they could not support a Student Nurse to qualify after 3 years of hard work, wasting tax payer’s precious money of about £50,000. 

In nursing training, research work is gradually increased during 3 years i.e. first research assignment is of 2000 words, second assignment of 5000 words and the third Dissertation of 10,000 words. I had passed the first two without any difficulty. 

Nursing Head had assigned marking of my Dissertation to the same Tutor with whom my relationship had broken down. The same Tutor assigned me an unqualified Mentor at PLO4 and used her to lower my grade. The same Tutor had openly threatened me to my face.
 
Sadly, all my complaints about the conduct of marking by this Tutor were dismissed by the University. I had sought support from various staff members before my Dissertation resubmission. My Dissertation Supervisor was conveniently on leave and my Personal Academic Tutor refused to help. I wrote to the Module Lead and Research Tutor to seek their help in absence of support from my Dissertation Supervisor and PAT. No response was received from them, since all concerned staff and Nursing Head were collaborating to ensure that I do not qualify as a Nurse.

Other students who had failed their Dissertation were given confirmation that their resubmission was good enough to pass. As a continuation of detriments, my Dissertation was again assigned to the same Tutor who had threatened me and lowered my PLO 4 grade. He used one of his University colleagues as the 3rd marker, to cover up his wrongdoings, fully knowing that I will protest about assigning him the remarking, an issue I had raised with my Dissertation Supervisor when informed that I had failed the first submission.

One of my class fellows failed her Dissertation resubmission and threatened to leave the course saying: I am leaving this shit out on the social media group. Module Lead immediately passed her, she informed us and celebrated on the social media closed group.

I know that my Dissertation was good enough to pass at the first attempt. Unfortunately, students are bound by the University Regulations and neither Government Institutions can challenge them. One can only challenge “Conduct of Marking” of a Tutor, according to the law. But it is not practiced. 

Both my Dissertations are posted online and accessible for all to assess themselves. 
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The Signing Off Placement
PLO6 setting was the same where I completed my PLO2 and was given excellent Mentor feedback. We were asked to opt for our final signing off placement, preferably a setting where we would like to work after qualifying. I gave my preference. Link Tutor asked me to get approval from the Mentor and forward it to him. I complied but still I was not given the placement of my choice until I provided all the email records. 
I believe I was allowed to progress to PLO6 because of my proactive action in publicising my work at PLO5 and seeking support from external institutions. Nursing Head had assigned me to write a Reflective Essay. I submitted the essay and was told to re-write it as per University’s requirements. Email to this effect was sent to me by my new PAT. Despite their wishes, I reiterated ongoing detriments i had faced in my reflective essay after identifying drug errors. 
My progression to PLO6 was incomprehensible for Nursing Head and Link Tutor since they wanted to terminate my studies much earlier and now they were working on their next plan.
 My placement was unjustly extended as a means of segregating me from my class cohort. The rest of the class qualified earlier and I was put on disadvantage under immense distress, giving me extra work and extending my PLO6 unjustly .Nursing Head had given me a false perception that I will be completing my Nursing studies but planned exactly the opposite.
She had also stated that she will take into account the extra work (regarding production of various statements she had asked, linked to PLO5 Suspension and FTP) and will count it towards PLO5 placement hours (although I had already worked more hours than required at PLO5). Despite her assurance, she extended my PLO6 for a further 6 weeks.
She approved and sent Portfolios of my class fellows for issuance of a PIN to practice as a Qualified Nurses, but left mine out. She further stated (ironically) that I may propose improvements in healthcare after I qualify, commenting on submission of my ‘Patient Improvement Plan.’ Sadly, she was extremely manipulative and working on her plan to ensure that I do not qualify as a Nurse.
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Stripped Off

At PLO6, it was my routine to pay periodic visit to patients in all six bedrooms during my shift. That particular day, I entered in the bedroom of 16 years old male, D. D was a tall handsome wheelchair bound lad with complex needs. He preferred to wear his favourite thick grey jog suit, irrespective of hot or cold weather. His Mum had bought him a few sets of the same clothes.

I was shocked to see that D was sitting on the bare mattress of his bed, wearing no clothes except a continence pad. He seemed embarrassed, anxious and disoriented. No one was around him. I knew that sometimes D refused to be hoisted from his bed to wheelchair or to come out from his room. I talked to him, reassured my support with loads of appreciation and gradually put his T-shirt on. I informed the Nurse looking after him about my interaction with D. She was appreciative of my input.

After a little while, a Support Worker called M was literally shouting and was furious with me for intervening in D’s matter as she and another support worker were dealing with him. My Nurse called me in the office, locked the door and said: We cannot work at the setting without their support, so we have to listen to them and follow what they say.

I was extremely upset and conveyed to the Nurse that I could not remain silent to see such an incident. 
I added: To me this is abuse and patient has been stripped off as a punishment by the two of them. 

My Mentor was not on duty and next day my Mentor asked me about the incident. I explained and he stated that the two support workers were wrong. He knew that I was a ‘Whistle blower’ and the two support workers abused the patient!
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The Award Board and Grades 

The Examination Board the Award Board to determined the final results for my cohort. Nursing Head had reported that my results had not been determined at that point because I had not completed PLO6. This was perhaps one reason why my PLO6 was extended to prevent me from receiving the approval of Award.
 
All my previously achieved results were downgraded. When I queried why my PLO1 and PLO2 posted grade B had been changed to D-, my year 1 online results were deleted by the University. I enquired about University’s policy and directive applicable to my years of study to justify why my achieved grades were revised downward but no explanation was given. 

Later, I discovered that if a student gets decent grades in all modules and fails a single component, then University is obliged to give a minimum pass to that student. To prevent me having this privilege, University deliberately downgraded all my achieved grades and failed me in my Dissertation. 



Grades
Year 1               Assessment                                                            Grade/Credits
Practice Dev-1 -Mandatory Trainings Completed                                 C / 10
(NPR 1016)    -Quiz, First Aid
Achieved score 90/100, yet awarded grade C by LD Tutors.                                                                          


Dev of P& P   -Reflective Communication Essay marked by                     B- /40
                      Non-LD Tutor        
(NPR 1015)   -Annotated Bibliography marked by
                    Non-LD Tutor 
                   -Exam, Objective (Anatomy and Physiology)
Grade B awarded by Non-LD Tutors.

Foundation of –Essay Care Plan D grade by LD Tutor                          C / 20
(NPR 1019)    -Exam Passed
D grade awarded for Essay. 86% marks were required to pass Numeracy exam

PLO1 PLO2 -Competencies Achieved/ Excellent Mentors Feedback               D-/50                                       
(NPR 1017P) D grade by LD Tutor                                            (Revealed in Year 3)                                                                
50 credits module showed ‘P’ (pass) for the past 2 years. Grade D- revealed in ‘Assessments’ document received from Nursing Head related to 3 FTP applied. Grade awarded does not reflect the feedback and all NMC competencies achieved. 

Year 2            
Practice Dev-2 -Mandatory Trainings D grade by LD Tutor                        D / 10                                                  
(NPR 2057)    -Quiz, Patient Handling, score 240/300                                                                               
 Grade awarded does not reflect achieved score and performance.                                                                            

Applied Research -Research Paper marked by                                              C / 20
(NPR 2056)          Non-LD Tutor
Grade awarded by non-LD tutors for Research work of 5000 words prepared without supervisor’s support.

Journey Through –Prezi All marked by LD Tutors                                      D+/ 40
(NPR 2066)        -Audio -Video -Leaflet -Viva  


PLO3 PLO4 All Competencies Achieved/ Grade B awarded.                           D / 50
(NPR2058P) LD Tutor intervened to lower grade B to D
Grade B discussed and awarded amongst Mentor, Student and Link Tutor in the meeting. 

 Year 3               
Practice Dev-3 -Mandatory Trainings (Completed)                                      B- / 10
(NPR 3027)    -Reflective Essay B- New PAT when he was not influenced 
My Personal Academic Tutor retired, new PAT joined and marked my first assignment

Managing -Web Folio* D grade by LD Tutor                                              D+ / 30
(NPR 3030)–Meds Management* D grade by LD Tutor                                               
-Essay Shared Learning* D grade by LD Tutor 
- For Brain/ e-tivity (online)    Grade B- generated by computer  
Meds Management Grade D by LD Tutor.

Dissertation -10,000 words marked by                                                          F /40
(NPR 4003)          Non-LD Tutor / LD Tutor
Dissertation –Resubmission, marked by                                                         F+/40
(NPR 4003)          Non-LD Tutor / LD Tutor


PLO5    F+/ Suspended/ FTP applied LD Tutor                                C /40
No competencies were given. After I publish my work online I was given 82 competencies, failed in 35 and 58 were reported as ‘Not Available’
PLO6               Passed and signed off / C grade awarded 
(NPR 3028P)



[bookmark: _Toc26875860]The Conduct of Marking

Non-LD Tutors awarded fair Grades throughout my 3 years of study i.e. C, B-, B-, B+, B, B 
 
Conduct of marking by LD Tutor after my qualified disclosure revealed application of continuous detriments in the grades awarded i.e. C, C, D, D, D, D-, F, F+ 
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The Formal Complaint, Fitness to Practice (FTP) and Termination

I submitted a formal complaint to the Vice Chancellor of University, highlighting some detriments I had faced during my studies and the unresolved issues. This was dealt by the University with as a Stage 1 complaint. 

The next day I received a letter for the 3rd FTP. At the same time, multiple unauthorised changes were made on my online Nursing portfolio. After 5 weeks, the Letter of Termination of my studies was issued by the University. I wrote to the Vice Chancellor that your office had not acknowledged my formal complaint but terminated my studies without addressing any of my concerns, adding to my distress. Acknowledgement of my Formal Complaint was received thereafter.

3rd Fitness to Practice

The 3rd FTP was initiated on the basis of an email which I had written to the Student Advice Manager upon the recommendation of my Personal Academic Tutor. He had asked me to copy him the email which he then used to refer me to the Nursing Head for the 3rd FTP.

All three Fitness to Practice charges were unmeritorious and Nursing Head manipulated each one to discredit me, segregate me from my class cohort, University staff and Health Education thus ensuring that I do not qualify as a Nurse. The fact is that she used FTP as an excuse to withdraw any support I may have had. Nursing Head did not arrange a teleconference repeatedly requested Health Education Head, but wrote back to her: I was a failing student under FTP, having a distorted perception of self and events to achieve her objectives.

Nursing Head also manipulated Dean School of Health who stated in our last meeting: ‘It’s a shame that you are under Fitness to Practice proceedings, otherwise you could have completed your Dissertation with another University to pass your course.’ 

I wrote an email to Pre and Post Registration Nursing Head asking for help regarding my grade change at PLO4. Instead, she wrote back advising Nursing Head not to award me a Nursing Degree.  This information was revealed in the documents provided in my Subject Access Request under Data Protection Act 1989. She further stated in the email that student must not know that she was assigned an Unqualified Mentor at PLO4. This email was written when my formal complaint was still to be investigated. This is one example of how the University staff collaborates to fail students unjustly.

I was failed in my Dissertation by design and my complaint was not investigated. University hastened to terminate my Nursing studies breaching all rules and regulations and ultimately issued me an alternative degree.



[bookmark: _Toc26875863]The Academic & Termination of Studies Appeals 

I submitted an academic appeal and an appeal against termination of my studies. I requested that my appeal be considered under my formal complaint. My request was not accepted and University to exhausted every form to deny me a possibility to complete my studies. Thereafter, they instructed me to submit Academic Appeal and Appeal against Termination and marked both as Not Upheld.

In my appeal I explained with evidence that there had been an irregularity in the conduct of marking and assessment of my dissertation by LD Tutor. I attached relevant emails to the Appeal Form. I attended a Termination Appeal Panel hearing supported by my husband. During the hearing, I presented the following matters for the Panel’s consideration: The difficulties I experienced at placements PLO3 to PLO6, my objection to the fitness to practise referral after PLO5; The behaviour of Tutor and practice Mentors; my dissatisfaction with marking of my Dissertation by a Tutor who was biased.

The Panel did not uphold my appeal under the Termination Appeal Policy. In my opinion, my appeal was only heard to tick the boxes. University did not want me to complete my studies.

In relation to my appeals, OIA stated: “The evidence cited above indicates that Mrs Mughal wished to appeal on grounds of a successful complaint and we consider that in the circumstances it would have been reasonable for the University to have put the appeal process on hold pending the outcome of the complaint investigations.”
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The Alternative Degree

University’s Award Board announced a BSc Healthcare (ordinary degree) for me on the basis of the credits attained i.e. 320/360. 

They were ever so determined not to let me complete my Nursing Training, even from any other University with submission of a Dissertation. 

My Formal Complaint was still under investigation but the outcome had already been decided by the University. My complaint included conduct of marking detriments and Dissertation was one of them. 

Nursing Head was closing each door for me to complete my Nursing Studies. She had already informed me that: No member of staff was willing to support me for Dissertation in the last meeting. 

I have not accepted or received this degree yet. I studied Learning Disability Nursing for 3 years. 

I will fight for my rights and my Nursing degree on every forum until justice is done.
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The Outcome and Completion of Procedures

My Formal Complaint was not upheld by the University. Ironically, University had already terminated my studies and announced an alternative degree for me. The complaint outcome did not address any of my concerns but was used their procedures to cover up University’s wrongdoings.

In the appeals outcome letter, the Student Disciplinary Officer referred to the timeframe and estimated that complaint investigation may take longer. In particular, he referred to the interviews that would have to be conducted for assessment of the complaint. He wrote: 
“The investigator already has all of the written submissions that you’ve made over the course of the last six months or so, and will examine these closely with a view to determining whom she needs to interview as part of her assessment of your complaint. Since your complaint encompasses some serious assertions about members of staff of both the University and its Placement Providers, it is likely to take some months for the investigator to complete her review, and it is therefore likely that it will be well into the next year before she can come to any conclusions.” 

Despite all the above statements, appeals and complaint outcome proved that nothing had been done in reality! A shallow, biased and an unprofessional outcome report was produced.
 
With reference to the University’s investigations, OIA wrote in their outcome: 
“We observe that between late September and the meeting of December; little progress had been made in the investigation of the complaint. We are critical of this initial period of delay. The December meeting progressed the investigation and we note the four page document recording the Notes of the meeting with the investigator which clarifies elements of Mrs Mughal’s complaint and different aspects of her programme including their assessment. 

It was not until February that Mrs Mughal was notified of the outcome of the investigation. The e-mail notifying her of the conclusion of the investigation specifically referred to the difficult task of assessing the documentation.

We accept that in this case a full investigation process could have been lengthy, particularly if it were necessary to seek information from Placement staff. However, there is no evidence that any such investigation actually occurred. There is no evidence which suggests anyone other than Mrs Mughal was interviewed. We consider that the delay in completing the complaint investigation is not justified by the final outcome report which refers only to Mrs Mughal’s own submissions, and consider that this coupled with the lack of clarity about the interrelation between the different procedures (referred to above) will have caused Mrs Mughal distress and inconvenience.” 

The Completion of Procedure

I protested against the Outcome of my Formal Complaint. University looked briefly at the points reiterated in my email and replied that there was nothing which was not considered. This unjust decision concluded University’s internal process of dealing with my complaint.
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The Appeal against Outcome of Complaint

I submitted an appeal against the outcome of my Stage 1 Formal Complaint in March. The University wrote that my submission was out of time and could not therefore proceed to Stage 2. This e-mail was the ‘Completion of Procedures Letter’ in respect of my formal complaint. Stage 2 investigations were imminent to uncover the responsibility of massive wrongdoings by some staff at the University and Placement settings.

OIA commented: 
“ We have considered Mrs Mughal’s e-mail of March and in order to assess whether the issues she had raised had already been considered by the University we looked at the Report prepared at Stage 1; the initial decision. Whilst it may be correct for the University to have stated “there is nothing there which was not considered” (OIA emphasis) at the earlier stage, we observe that Mrs Mughal’s listed heads of complaint were not all addressed in the outcome Report dated February.” 
OIA further stated: 
“The record of the meeting with the independent investigator in December indicates that the investigator sought to understand the detail of Mrs Mughal’s complaints. Reference is made to Mrs Mughal’s following concerns: • that she had been refused a change of placement after she requested it; • that one of her grades had been downgraded (from a B to a D); • that she had felt a lack of support in her placement; • that concerns she had in PLO4 and PLO5 had not been fully addressed.”

OIA stressed in the next point: “Mrs Mughal’s additional documentation contained in the Red folder contained four clear heads of complaint which were: 66..1. Concerns about suspension from PLO5 66..2. Lack of support and guidance 66..3. Unjust application of Fitness to Practise procedures, 66..4. Changes made to her Pebblepad portfolio.”

OIA stated further: 
“We acknowledge that the evidence provided in the folder is difficult to link to the heads of complaint but consider that the issues themselves are clear. The final report (sent in February) fails to identify the author which we understand to be the independent and impartial investigator (PB). It is in our view difficult to reconcile the tone and content of the report with the record of the meeting with the investigator in December. The tone of the report reads as a critique of the manner of Mrs Mughal’s submissions rather than an impartial evaluation of their validity. We consider above all that the issues of concern Mrs Mughal raised were not addressed at all in the body of that report. We have seen in the documentation the report (of March) prepared at Stage 1 for the earlier complaint by Mrs Mughal and observe that in form and content it differs significantly from this Stage 1 report. We are critical of the failure of this report to set out clearly its basis, its findings and any recommendations that may be considered. We note and accept that some of Mrs Mughal’s complaints had already been considered in the earlier complaint and that she had not escalated that investigation after notification of the outcome. Nonetheless the Stage 1 report of February does not address the specific issues set out in paragraph 66 and we are critical of this.” 

OIA finally stated: 
“We consider that the final decision of the University is misleading inasmuch as the complaint issues may have been “considered” but the University has failed to evidence that those issues were investigated or properly addressed.”















[bookmark: _Toc26875867]PART - 4 The JUSTICE 
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The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS)

I consulted Government’s recommended organisation for early conciliation against University and the 3 Placement settings where I was mistreated.

No conciliation was offered but my matter was accepted. 4 certificates were issued that I had fulfilled legal requirements to file a claim in the Court of Law against the University and 3 Placement settings.















[bookmark: _Toc26875869]The Court of Law

It was a big decision for me to seek justice from a Court of Law. I had made Qualified Disclosures in public interest which had not been investigated by the University and, thereafter, I had started facing continuous on-going detriments. 
  
I was desperate to find legal help and seek financial aid as my husband had been made redundant at the same time and we did not have a large amount of money to pay for legal representation. I knocked every door without any success. I contacted various attorneys to get advice and spent a fortune in doing so. Some of them asked for a fee starting from £2500 at initiation and going up to £15000 to file Appeal against FTP only. Unfortunately, I did not get a favourable response on a ‘No Win No Fee’ basis and paid out another £570 for evaluation of my evidence document. I was unable to meet the legal fee obligations. Therefore, I decided to self-represent my case in the Court of Law and applied for fee exemption.

Finally, I submitted my claim online which was restricted to a brief summary of 300 words against the University and 3 Trusts under Public Disclosure Act 1998. I was asked by the Tribunal to send my detailed claim which I complied. I requested Employment Tribunal to exercise its discretion to cover the period of unlawful acts resulting from my disclosure as it was not reasonably practical for me to lodge a claim without exhausting the University’s internal procedures. 

To fulfil the legal requirements, I exhausted the internal procedures and received a Completion of Procedures letter from the University in April, without having had any of my concerns addressed. 

I submitted my whistle blowing claim against University and 3 Trusts within three months of the date of the act or the failure to act or, where that act or failure is or was part of a series of similar acts or failures, the last of them. There is an exception whereby Employment Tribunals have discretion to extend the time limit for “such further period as the tribunal considers reasonable in a case where it is satisfied that it was not reasonably practicable for the complaint to be presented before the end of that period of three months”. The University rejected my Stage 1 complaint. Background to this rejection was that in September I had made a Stage 1 complaint about on-going detriments and results. Following this, in November, I had been informed that the University’s Assessment Board had determined that I could no longer continue to study on the course as I had not passed my assessments and had, therefore, failed to meet the academic requirements of the course. I was asked to appeal against this letter in accordance with the Student Complaints Procedure. In December, I provided a statement in support of my original complaint of September. The last day to bring a claim in respect of the rejection was three months after February, that is, 1st May. 

However, time limits were subject to the process of ACAS Early Conciliation, which ‘stopped the clock.’ I could only present an Employment Tribunal claim once I had an ACAS Early Conciliation certificate. In March, I initiated ACAS Early Conciliation in respect of PLO3, 4 and 5. I received the ACAS Early Conciliation certificates in April, the limitation date to present an Employment Tribunal claim would be one month after that date – I submitted my claim in May.
 
The University’s online summary of the Learning Disability Nursing BSc (Hon) course states: It gives a registration through the Nursing and Midwifery Council (NMC)” and “is compliant with Nursing and Midwifery Council requirements.” In addition, the Nursing and Midwifery Council website states: Pre-registration Nursing - Learning Disabilities - BSc (Hones)’ at the University is an ‘approved programme. 

Therefore, I believe that work experience and course are covered by section 43K (1)(cb) Employment Rights Act 1996. The fact that section 43K(1)(cb) Employment Rights Act 1996 states “is or was…” means that I would continue to be protected even when I was no longer being provided with such work experience. 

After 2 weeks I received Notice of a Claim, Notice of Preliminary Hearing Case Management and few other support documents from the Court. My claim qualified for hearing and was accepted by the Tribunal. A ‘Remedy Statement’ was also requested by the Tribunal. I submitted detailed claim and ‘Award Request.’ 
At the first Preliminary Hearing, the young Hon Judge was very understanding and realised that I was exposed to a Court of Law for the very first time by self representation and that I was fighting my case against four experienced lawyers from reputable firms.

 ‘Case Management Order’ was issued but was not delivered to me either by post or a soft copy by email. All 4 Respondents had received their copies of Case Management Order. According to this order, I was due to submit “Statement of Disclosures and Statement of Detriments.” I sent 3 emails to the Employment Tribunal requesting a copy of their order but all to no avail. I submitted my “Statement of Disclosures and Statement of Detriments” in absence of Case Management Order after getting a soft copy from one of the Respondents. This point was raised during the Final Preliminary Hearing but dismissed by the Hon Judge saying: Our records show you were despatched a copy.

I submitted the following skeleton document during Preliminary Hearing to support my claim:
Q-1 whether complaints can be brought against the second respondent (the University), given that it is an educational establishment. Employment Rights Act 1996 (‘ERA’) S43K sets out situations, beyond those set out in section 230(3), where the Act deems someone a ‘worker.’ 
S43K Extension of meaning of “worker” etc. for Part IVA
(1) For the purpose of this part “worker” includes an individual who is not a worker as defined by section 230 (3) but who – 
(a) Works or worked for a person in circumstances in which – 
(i) he is or was introduced, or supplied to do that work by a third person, and 
(ii) the terms on which he is or was engaged to do the work are, or were, in practice substantially determined not by him but by the person for whom he works or worked, by the third person or by both of them.
There are two ways in which I would like to submit my relationship with the University covered by S43K.
1. That my relationship with the University falls within the scope of ERA S43K (1) (a). I worked for PLOs in circumstances in which I was introduced or supplied by a third person. The terms on which I was engaged to work for the (PLO and/or the University) were determined by the Nursing & Midwifery Council/ University and/or the PLOs.

Other exceptions detailed in s43K (1) are there for the avoidance of doubt and not to rule out claims under s43K(1)(a) that bear any resemblance to the exceptions.
Case Law: McTigue v University Hospital Bristol NHS Foundation Trust holds that it is not necessary for a claimant to show, where there are multiple organisations involved, which organisation determines their terms of employment to the greatest extent, merely that any organisation substantially determines the terms on which the claimant was engaged to do the work. 
University substantially had control over the terms on which I was engaged to work at the placements. The Nursing Degree and each PLO were governed by the terms of an Honorary Contract and Bursary Agreement entered into between me and the University, signed on 16th Sept 2012 (“The Agreement”). Amongst other things, the Agreement stipulated that during the period of any PLO, I was required to undertake such learning activities as were assigned to me by the teaching staff and manager of any department in which I undertook a PLO and these activities must be carried out in accordance with the directions and limitations outlined by the nominated teacher at that PLO. During a PLO, I was also required to attend and conform to the codes of behaviour and appearance established by the Manager of the PLO and to refer any matters which give concern to the immediate teacher at the time. In addition, I was required to accept the instructions of the teacher appointed to the PLO.
2. And/or in the alternative, I would like to submit that I be deemed a worker by ERA S43K (1)(d).
S43K (1) (d) deems someone a worker where he is or was ‘provided with work experience pursuant to a training course or programme or with training for employment (or with ‘both’) otherwise than – 
(ii) by an educational establishment on a course run by that establishment; and any reference to a worker’s contract, to employment or to a worker being “employed” construed accordingly.
I believe, the effect of s43(1)(d)(ii) is to rule out claims against universities that are purely around academic courses, and not to rule out claims that involve vocational training and work experience, such as my nursing degree. My course was not a typical academic degree, as shown by the six PLOs I attended as well as the vocational nature of my studies.
In essence, the University arranged the work experience at PLO settings who organised my work:
·          The courses were run by other institutions;
·           These institutions directed my work and responsibilities;
·          These institutions graded my work.
Q-2 To what extent, if any, can the Claimant’s complaints be brought against any of the Respondents, given that the Protected Disclosures (Extension of Meaning of Worker) Order 2015, which extended protection to student Nurses who would not otherwise be workers, only came into effect on 6 April 2015 and does not have retrospective effect?
In this regard, I would like to submit that the law was changed to clarify what had already been intended in the passing of the Public Interest Disclosure Act (‘the Act’). At the time the Act was passed student Nurses did not typically achieve their qualifications through nursing degrees at academic institutions as they do now. It was intended that the Act would apply to “Student Nurses” and it was not foreseen that this would be problematic due to their having terms of employment that sat more clearly within the Act’s definition of ‘worker.’
Subsequently the way in which student Nurses achieved their qualification changed and they could no longer rely on their terms of employment that previously made it clear they were to be defined as workers for the purposes of the Act.
The law was hence changed to make it easier for student Nurses to show they were covered by the provisions of the Act. This was not a new protection afforded by the legislature, but a response to the change in delivery of their qualification that had left many unable to argue their employment relationship was covered by the Act.
Q-3 Are any of the Claimant’s complaints out of time, having regard to section 48(3) of the Employment Rights Act 1996?
i. [bookmark: _Toc210123][bookmark: _Toc26866749][bookmark: _Toc26875870]A whistleblowing claim must be presented at an Employment Tribunal within three months of the date of the act or the failure to act or, where that act or failure is part of a series of similar acts or failures, the last of them.
ii. [bookmark: _Toc26866750][bookmark: _Toc26875871]There is an exception whereby Employment Tribunals have discretion to extend the time limit for “such further period as the tribunal considers reasonable in a case where it is satisfied that it was not reasonably practicable for the complaint to be presented before the end of that period of three months”. 
[bookmark: _Toc210125][bookmark: _Toc26866751][bookmark: _Toc26875872]My whistle blowing claim was presented at Employment Tribunal within three months of the date of the act or the failure to act or, where that act or “failure is or was part of a series of similar acts or failures, the last of them.” 

Q-4 To the extent that any complaint was presented after the end of the period of three months beginning with the date of the act or failure (or last act or failure in a series) to which the complaint relates, was it nonetheless presented within a reasonable period in circumstances in which it was not reasonably practicable to present the complaint within the ordinary three month period?

It was not reasonably practicable to bring my claim to Employment Tribunal before exhausting University’s Internal Procedures besides; I was facing continued on-going detriments after my qualified disclosures at PLO3.

I was unaware of how the law would be misinterpreted to favour the Respondents. 4 Respondents were represented by 2 most senior renowned Solicitors and 2 Counsels / Barristers (specialised in courtroom advocacy and litigation), wasting Tax Payers money.  

After 2 weeks, I submitted ‘Chronological Statement of Detriments’ and ‘Evidence of detriments’ to the 4 Respondents and Tribunal. 

At Preliminary Hearing, scope of case was discussed and the next hearing date was given after 10 weeks. Document submission schedule was given by the court. Documents were to be exchanged after 4 weeks, ‘Witness Statement’ after the following 4 weeks and ‘Skeleton Argument’ was to be submitted one week prior to the hearing date. 

During this period, I had no concept of day or night and was only getting few hours sleep. I was ever so content and thankful and thought my difficulties were almost over and I was about to receive Justice in the Interest of Justice. By now, I was literally shattered and exhausted of resisting and fighting the system for the past four years. 

I submitted ‘Statement of Qualified Disclosures’, ‘Evidence of Qualified Disclosures’ and ‘Witness Statement’ sent to 4 Respondents. 6 copies of Bundle of all documents were prepared for the final hearing. 

Schedule of the 2 days of Final Hearing venue and court was changed at the last minute with a new Hon Judge. 

Tribunal Final 2-day Hearing started with well dressed, smartly dressed legal representatives wearing expensive perfumes and carrying leather trolley bags and brief cases were entering the building in a queue with us. I was only supported by my husband. 

Day progressed with ‘bone chilling’ statements by the Hon Judge who hammered me consistently with extremely harsh comments like ‘Problem is You’ pointing his finger at me and ‘suffocating’ me every time I attempted to speak by rejecting my argument, using a yard stick of “was it after ‘15th April 2015’ when the Whistleblowers law came into being?

The Hon judge stated that he will not consider my matter retrospectively. I was wondering why I had been given the hard task of preparing the various statements of thousands of pages for the last 7 months if those were not going to be considered in the Court’s proceedings. 

In the current situation and, on the basis of plea taken by the Hon Judge, acceptance of my Claim for Hearing was a wrong decision by the Employment Tribunal. The basis of my claim was that I had requested Employment Tribunal to cover the whole period of unlawful acts resulting from my disclosure retrospectively as it was not reasonably practical for me to lodge a claim without exhausting the University’s internal procedures. 

The Hon Judge was polite and friendly with legal representatives of the 4 Respondents, exchanging smiles most of the time. However, his way of behaviour towards me was anything except polite. In fact, I felt that on several occasions his attitude towards me was literally hostile. 

I had hoped to get justice from the Court of Law which did not materialise and, on the contrary, I was disadvantaged. The Hon judge did not demonstrate fairness in carrying out his role and fulfilling his responsibilities to deliver justice. He treated me harshly and unfairly and prevented me to speak and reveal the truth in the Court of Law and more significantly, failed to do justice. 

I have lost confidence in the Judicial System. Greater efforts are needed to improve trust to get rid of this vicious circle in the interest of justice.

Injustice attacks and preys on truth by using evil strategies to deprive people of their rights thus not fulfilling their obligations to uphold the law and deliver justice without prejudices.
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The Judgement and Reconsideration 

The Hon Judge dismissed my claim against the University on the first day of the hearing on the grounds that a claim cannot be made against an academic establishment. The Hon Judge rejected my plea that my relationship with the University falls under sections ERA s43K (1)(a) and ERA s43K (1)(d)(ii).

On the second day, my claim against the 3 Trusts was similarly dismissed on the grounds that the new law came into effect on 6 April 2015. 

The Hon Judge rejected my claim on the grounds that the law protects Student Nurses with effect from 6th April 15 and reiterated that he will not accept my argument that the law was already in place but, either, (i) extended or (ii) clarified on 6 April 2015. The Hon Judge rejected my qualified disclosures and plea of a continuous series of on-going detriments which I had faced. He added that there is no protection for Student Nurses for any unlawful act(s) committed against them prior to 6 April 2015. Further, Hon Judge stated that Student Nurses can be subjected to any number of detriments or unlawful acts prior to 6 April 2015, as there was no law to offer them protection.

The Hon Judge wrote his judgement:
1. Section 43-1K of Employment Rights Act 1989 Act which was brought into force by the Protected Disclosures (Extension of Meaning of Workers) Order 2015 on the 6th April 2015 was not enacted with retrospective effect.
2. The Claimant was not a worker within the ambit of these provisions whilst pursuing her studies at the Respondent University. The claim against the Second Respondent is dismissed.
3. On the concession by the Claimant that her claim form contains no complaint against the First and Fourth Respondents that post dates section 43K coming force and on the unopposed application of the First and Fourth Respondents, the claim against them is dismissed.
On the concession by the Claimant that her claim against the Third Respondent contains no complaint that post dates the coming into force the Section 43 K, the claim against them is dismissed. 
Reconsideration of the Judgement application was submitted and rejected by the Court!
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The Flaw  
The Hon Judge’s ruling in my whistle blowing claim clearly highlights the flaw in the current legislation which should be immediately addressed and rectified by Parliament, Secretary of State, relevant institutions and Decision Makers involved in the Healthcare sector. 
Universities and placement settings must be held responsible and accountable for any wrongdoings, unlawful acts or breach of regulations and Student Nurses whistle blowing claims must be considered with retrospective effect. Consideration must be given to the fact that Student Nurses are obliged to complete the requirements of University’s internal procedures before they can file any claim.
I believe the ruling in my claim by the Employment Tribunal Hon Judge will make matters worse for Student Nurses as both the University and placement staff will now believe they have a free hand to act as they wish without fear of any accountability or legal repercussions.
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Recovery From The Shock

A new year started. It took me a long time to recover from the bitter experiences I had faced at the highest pillar of a society, its Judiciary. I had become extremely drained and exhausted after the judgement. I had cut myself off from the outer world. I opted not to have a phone or a watch. I could not come to terms with my feeling of helplessness and failure to get justice at each forum. I wanted to speak out about my experience of attending a Court of Law but was not sure what amounts to a contempt of court. This was the 5th year of my difficulties which were getting worse by the day. 

My husband genuinely became concerned about my health and wellbeing and seriously considered inviting my sister from back home to come and continued to offer me his help and support.

However, I was up and running again, looking for alternative options after couple of months. 
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The Subject Access Request (SAR)

I sent a Subject Access Request to the University and wrote:

“Please provide the following personal information under Subject Access Request that the University holds under Data Protection Act 1998.  
  
1. Internal document /policy to supplement the Assessment & Feedback policy and whether there is a note on my personnel file to evidence the specific reasons recorded in respect of my grades revision at the relevant time. 
2. Marking criteria and any relevant guidelines governing any discretion the University might have to review. 
3. Results / grades for Year 1, 2 and 3 with breakup and how these were constituted including grade D- awarded for NPR-1017P despite excellent feedback from both Mentors and achieving all NMC competencies and NPR-2058P awarded grade B was changed to D. 
4. Any notes on my personal file showing what reason(s) were recorded to support the downgrading of my assessment. 
5. Any note on my file about the removal of my Year 1 online results after I complained about the unjustified grade D-.  
6. Correspondence between University Care Makers. I was stopped by Nursing Head to perform my duties as a Care Maker. 
7. Correspondence between University and award nomination for ‘Most Inspirational Student Nurse of 2014.’ News of my nomination was published in local newspapers.  
8. Correspondence between University and Care Quality Commission regarding my qualified disclosure and on-going continued detriments faced. 
9. Correspondence between University and Nursing and Midwifery Council regarding my qualified disclosure and on-going continued detriments faced. 
10. Correspondence between University and Royal College of Nursing regarding my qualified disclosure and on-going continued detriments faced. 
11. Correspondence between University and Health Education regarding my qualified disclosure and on-going continued detriments faced. 
12. Correspondence between University and Health Education East Midland regarding my qualified disclosure and on-going continued detriments faced. 
13. Correspondence between University and  Head of Pre & Post Registration Professional Practice Education & Training Team as she refused to employee me in her letter written to Nursing Head. 
14. Feedback received by University from PLO3. 
15. Feedback received by University from PLO4. 
16. Feedback received by University from PLO5. 
17. Copy of my NMC  portfolio Year 1, 2 and 3. Unauthorised changes were made on my portfolio by University staff to distort facts. 
18. Copy of final  portfolio submitted to Nursing and Midwifery Council by the University. 
19. Record of total Placement Hours worked during 3 years. 
20. Signed copies of Dissertation Markers feedback (2 for 1st submission and 3 for re-submission. 
21. Copy of Office Manager PLO5 feedback provided to Nursing Head. In this feedback she specifically wrote that ‘Farida stood up for patients’ rights.’ The copy of this feedback was not provided to me by Nursing Head despite multiple requests. 
22. Any note / information added to my accessible data by the University. I remain unable to secure any job. A cheque for £10 and two forms of identification are attached herewith.”   

University did not provide any document to support lowering of my grades. And despite the fact that I specifically requested a copy of feedback of PLO5 Office Manager, University remained silent. 
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The Office of Independent Adjudicators (OIA) and Outcome

I submitted my compliant to OIA about the University’s decision to terminate my studies, without addressing my concerns including grades revised downwards, its decision of unjustly awarding me an alternative degree, Completion of Procedures and additional issues for which there was no Completion of Procedures adopted. 

With regard to my complaint about the University’s decision to terminate my studies, it was noted by OIA that the Completion of Procedures Letter suggests that I wait until the outcome of all outstanding procedures before requesting an OIA review. OIA noted that the University did not set out in the final Completion of Procedures Letter all the details of all the procedures that I had invoked, including the earlier procedures for which the University had advised me to wait before contacting the OIA. It may not have been clear at that time whether the original deadline for submitting a complaint to the OIA still stood. OIA accepted that the University’s advice in the letter explains why I delayed in submitting my OIA complaint in respect of the earlier procedure. Accordingly, OIA did not consider that my complaint was out of time. 

OIA’s investigations lasted for about 10 months. OIA recommended that the University send me an apology and pay me £1500 for my distress. 
OIA concluded:
“We consider that the University failed to address fully, or at all, the complaints raised by Mrs Mughal in its outcome report of 2 February 2016 and that the quality and content of the report did not justify the delay in the completion of the Stage 1 investigation. We are not persuaded that it was reasonable to have applied the strict timescale for the escalation of the complaint to Stage 2 in the circumstances. Furthermore we do not consider that the interrelation between the different procedures was clear to Mrs Mughal and that it would have been appropriate to have suspended the appeal processes pending the outcome of the complaint investigation.
We have concluded that the Fitness to Practise procedures is technically not eligible under the Rules of the OIA Scheme because they were not completed. However we observe that: 
· the University has an obligation to use the Fitness to Practise procedures where it has concerns; and 
· no adverse finding has been made against Mrs Mughal in terms of her fitness to practise as a professional; and 
· the Fitness to Practise proceedings did not have a bearing on the decision to terminate Mrs Mughal’s registration which was made as a result of an exercise of academic judgment.”

In my opinion, OIA’s investigation was flawed. 
OIA omitted all the detriments and hardships I had faced at the University and Placement Settings after my Qualified Disclosure in Public Interest, the abuse I suffered both from both University and Placement staff, the fact that the Nursing Head was determined to fail me, inhuman treatment by PLO5 Mentor and Manager who did not acknowledged my work done with the patients, who failed me in my practice unjustly, my Personal Academic Tutor who tricked me into writing an email and used it to apply FTP, Link Tutor who threatened me and lowered my grade and failed me in my Dissertation.

OIA only considered that University had not followed its internal procedures. 
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The Member of Parliament (MP)

I wrote an email to my MP and requested for his help and support in the light of the findings of OIA;
‘With reference to my various emails I would like to request you to order issuance of my Nursing Degree. In this regard I would like to submit as below;
1. To date, my concerns, in particular the problems I faced at the University and placements after my qualified disclosure in public interest at PLO3 have not been fairly investigated by either the University or any institution.
2. My formal complaint, submitted was not acknowledged for 5 weeks. The next day of which, Nursing Head started proceedings for 3rd unmeritorious FTP.
3. University hastened to terminate my studies without addressing a single concern of my complaint.
4. The basis of my termination was that ‘I had not passed my assessments and failed to meet the academic requirements of the programme’ although I achieved 320/360 credits despite facing problems. Letter of termination was issued prior to investigation of my formal complaint of detriments of unfair assessment of Dissertation and grades.
5. I requested University my appeal be considered under Formal Complaint submitted which was not accepted.
6. University’s investigations of placements PLO3, PLO4 and PLO5 were a cover up of wrongdoings of University and placement staff.
7. The unfair outcome of University investigations resulted in PLO3 drug error records and my online portfolio being unlawfully changed.
8. OIA concluded that University’s investigation of five months fails to address adequately the complaint issues.
9. I would like to quote University’s email written to OIA which is self explanatory; “I confirm that the appellant in this case has been referred to the FtP Policy twice, each at Level 1.  The latter process was stalled by the efforts to resolve her complaints, and then obviated by the fact of the termination of her studies.  I understand that in the (hopefully unlikely) event that she’s reinstated, efforts would be made to complete the second iteration.” This implies University is instigating OIA not to reinstate me, thus interfering in OIA’s decision.
10. I received my Formal Complaint outcome in Feb 2016. Therefore, Termination of Studies letter of Nov 2015 becomes null & void in absence of investigation of my Formal Complaint. 
11. As such, University’s letter of Completion of Procedures becomes null & void in absence of investigation of my Formal Complaint.
12. OIA wrote in its outcome “The University’s decision dated 10 December 2015. The University decided to dismiss both Mrs Mughal’s academic appeal against the grade awarded for her dissertation, and her termination appeal against her withdrawal from her course.” OIA further wrote “At a meeting on 25 January 2016 the Examination Board awarded Mrs Mughal a BSc Healthcare (ordinary degree) on the basis of the credit attained during her studies.” This award is null & void as my Formal Complaint was still under investigation. 
13. Conduct of marking by Link Tutor, with whom my relationship had broken down and who threatened me, is highly questionable. As such Dissertation assessment and results becomes null & void. My Formal Complaint raised this concern. I have concrete evidence how my assessments and grade detriments were planned by the collaborated effort of Clinical Placement Facilitator, Nursing Head, Link Tutor and placement Mentors.
14. University failed to provide justification why my online Year1 results were removed when challenged.
15. Till date, University has failed to provide justification to change all my grades downwards despite Formal Complaint and Subject Access Request.
16. OIA concluded: “We consider that the University failed to address fully, or at all, the complaints raised by Mrs Mughal in its outcome report of 2 February 2016 and that the quality and content of the report did not justify the delay in the completion of the Stage 1 investigation. We are not persuaded that it was reasonable to have applied the strict timescale for the escalation of the complaint to Stage 2 in the circumstances. Furthermore we do not consider that the interrelation between the different procedures was clear to Mrs Mughal and that it would have been appropriate to have suspended the appeal processes pending the outcome of the complaint investigation. We have concluded that the Fitness to Practise procedures are technically not eligible under the Rules of the OIA Scheme because they were not completed. • no adverse finding has been made against Mrs Mughal in terms of her fitness to practise as a professional; and • the Fitness to Practise proceedings did not have a bearing on the decision to terminate Mrs Mughal’s registration which was made as a result of an exercise of academic judgment.”
17.  I have serious reservations about OIA’s investigations. Unfortunately, OIA have omitted major concerns which were and the problems I faced. 
It is evident from the above that University caused me unimaginable detriments of injustice, abuse, immense distress and deprivation of my right to practice as a qualified nurse from the last 2 years and 5 months (from the date when my studies were completed). University should have taken the corrective measures without further loss of time.
I have already written to the respective NHS Trusts to investigate the matter, where I was mistreated and abused by Placement Staff in collaboration with University personnel.
I have not studied BSc Healthcare, the degree which University unjustly decided to award me as I achieved 320/360 credits with the intention to close doors for me to practice as a Qualified Nurse. Each and every excuse of University is invalid and covered in OIA outcome.
I am confident that I am very much capable of providing compassionate care to improve patient experience.
I have not given up and I will not give up until justice has done Sir.

My MP responded very late and informed that he could not help.
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In Confidence
I approached a renowned Healthcare Leader for help and support. He had recently written a report on abuse at healthcare settings. This was due to his genuine passion for justice in healthcare and improving patient care.
My email written to him read: 
‘Hon Judge dismissed my claim against University on day 1 of the hearings on the grounds that a claim cannot be made against an educational establishment. Hon Judge rejected my plea that my relationship with the University falls under sections ERA s43K (1)(a) and ERA s43K (1)(d)(ii); see attachment.

The claims against the 3 NHS Trusts were similarly dismissed on the grounds that the new law which protects Student Nurses came into effect on 6 April 2015. Hon Judge rejected my claim on the grounds that the law for Student Nurses came into being on 6th April 2015 and reiterated that he will not accept the law was either (i) extended or (ii) clarified on 6 April 2015. He added that there is no protection for me for any unlawful act(s) committed by the Respondents prior to this date. As such, I could be subjected to any number of detriments or unlawful acts prior to 6 April 2015. Hon Judge rejected my qualified disclosures and plea of a continuous series of on-going detriments which I faced after my whistleblowing i.e. reported drug administration errors and malpractices (Infection Prevention & Control Violations) at my 2 placements.
I asked his advice on two issues regarding my claim against the University and Multiple Trusts:

First, please advice if a Student Nurse can bring a whistleblowing claim against an educational establishment on the grounds that her/his relationship with the University falls under sections ERA s43K (1)(a) and/or ERA s43K (1)(d)(ii).

A Nursing Degree is not purely academic but involves 50% vocational studies and 50% practice training at local NHS Trusts (Hospitals, Short Term Respites, Community and Mental Health Settings etc.) arranged by the University. The Nursing Degree and practice training are governed by the terms of a Contract and Bursary Agreement between the University and the Student. Can a claim against an educational establishment be dismissed on the basis that Student Nurses are not deemed to be workers?

Second, please advice if a whistlelowing claim can be raised for qualified disclosures made prior to 6 April 2015, given that the new law which protects Student Nurses came into effect on 6 April 2015. The scenario is that a continuous series of on-going detriments ensued after the qualified disclosures i.e. reporting of drug administration errors and malpractices (Infection Prevention & Control Violations). Can a claim be dismissed on the grounds that this new law offers no protection for Student Nurses where disclosures were made prior to 6 April 2015?

Student Nurses are vulnerable and face limitless repercussions, detriments, victimisation and/or unlawful acts committed against them as there is no legal protection prior to 6 April 2015. Further, there is no accountability of University staff and/or practice training staff, if they act dishonestly, breach their employment contract and violate the trust placed on them. Student Nurses are unfamiliar with legal matters and required to exhaust University’s lengthy internal procedures before going to court of law which can invalidate their legal claim due to time constraints.

Is there any legal remedy to overcome the above mentioned barriers?”

I received the below reply from his office:

‘Unfortunately xxx xxxx cannot assist as has not undertaken the course to enable him to take instructions direct from members of the public. To assist you he suggests you approach Public Concern at Work.’ 

Public Concern at Work had already been consulted at each stage and was unable to resolve my concerns.
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The Healthcare Head

Healthcare Head was contacted with details of my matter and requested for help and support. His office replied seeking my permission to write to the University.

Thereafter, I did not hear from Healthcare Head or his office for the next 10 months. 

A final re-request was sent to Healthcare Head. This time I received the below reply: 
 
“I was sorry to read that you feel you have suffered detriment because of whistle blowing. I can, however, assure you that the Department of Health is committed to improving openness in NHS ensuring that whistleblowers are considered an asset and receive proper support.   As part of ensuring that individuals feel safe to speak up, the Government instigated a package of legislative changes to ensure employment law protections extended to student Nurses who, in the public interest, make a protected disclosure concerning their work experience. The legislation was aimed at enabling people to bring a claim against the healthcare provider providing that training.

Ministers want to ensure that the safest and most transparent healthcare system in the world, and I hope it will reassure you to know that the Department is continuing to work with employers, unions and NHS staff to eradicate bullying and harassment in the NHS in order to achieve this
I am sorry I cannot assist more directly, but I hope this reply is of some help.”

I have only faced detriments after my whistleblowing. I have not received any support whatsoever to date. I need the support of Healthcare Decision Makers and Judiciary to revisit my case, hold accountable all those who have mistreated me and give my Nursing Degree which have been denied by the corrupt mafia in place at the University and Healthcare Settings!
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The Department of Health Education 

At the end of 5th year, I contacted Department of Health Education and wrote:
“OIA was contacted about the on-going problems and detriments I faced after my qualified disclosure. I have just received OIA outcome of their investigations lasting about 10 months. OIA has recommended that University send an apology and pay me a sum of £1500 for my distress. I quote below the OIA conclusion;

“We consider that the University failed to address fully, or at all, the complaints raised by Mrs Mughal in its outcome report of 2 February 2016 and that the quality and content of the report did not justify the delay in the completion of the Stage 1 investigation. We are not persuaded that it was reasonable to have applied the strict timescale for the escalation of the complaint to Stage 2 in the circumstances. Furthermore we do not consider that the interrelation between the different procedures was clear to Mrs Mughal and that it would have been appropriate to have suspended the appeal processes pending the outcome of the complaint investigation.

We have concluded that the Fitness to Practise procedures are technically not eligible under the Rules of the OIA Scheme because they were not completed. However we observe that: • the University has an obligation to use the Fitness to Practise procedures where it has concerns; and • no adverse finding has been made against Mrs Mughal in terms of her fitness to practise as a professional; and • the Fitness to Practise proceedings did not have a bearing on the decision to terminate Mrs Mughal’s registration which was made as a result of an exercise of academic judgment.”
OIA’s investigation was flawed and omitted major facts and evidences provided. It is clear now that Nursing Head misrepresented and distorted the facts by writing to you that ‘I was a failing student, under fitness to practice.’

NHS Head was contacted in Feb 2017 and I received an email from Commissioning Head, to seek my permission to write to the University. Thereafter, I did not hear from them for 10 months. I have already sent NHS Head, my second request to investigate NHS placements, where I was mistreated.

University unjustly decided to award me BSc Healthcare degree in lieu of the credits I achieved. I did not study ‘BSc Healthcare.’ I studied BSc Nursing Learning Disabilities for 3 Years.

They also stopped me from qualifying as a Nurse from elsewhere. I believe they are taking this stance on some other premise. Nursing Head declared that ‘no staff member is ready to support me, to complete my course.’ At present, I am working at  my local Hospital as a Health Care Assistant, on zero contract, while my batch mates are ‘Senior Nurses’ now, leading shifts.
Kindly reconsider all my results / grades and the policy which allowed University to revise my grades downwards during the period of my study.

I am a mature person and time is very precious for me. It is now 6th year since I started my Nursing studies. I was assured by the then Admission Lead that I will be able to APEL and complete my studies within 2 years. 
I have not given up and I will never give up till justice is done.”

No response received from the Department of Health Education.
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The PLO 3, 4 and 5

I wrote the below in an email to the Head of PLO3 and 4 Trust:
 
‘I requested Healthcare Head to order an inquiry of the placements where I was humiliated and mistreated.  He advised me to contact the respective trusts with request to conduct a truth finding inquiry. 

My name is Farida Mughal, Student No xxxxxxx BSc (Hon) LD Nursing. I was offered an unconditional place on the above course. Clinical Placement Facilitator declined my request for a Wider Secondment for Nursing Training. This was despite the fact that Admission Lead University of Northampton informed me that I will be completing my BSc (Hon) LD Nursing Degree in 2 years, benefitting from APEL. This was on the strong basis of my Clinical Skills acquired while working with Complex Needs Children Team; I was already on NMC register as a Specialist Nursery Nurse and my Masters Degree was acknowledged by UK NARIC as British Bachelors Degree equivalence.  

I have completed 5 out of 6 placements at your Trust and got excellent Mentor’s feedback and achieved all competencies at PLO1 and PLO2. 
 
My problems started at PLO3 after I identified drug administration errors on 2 occasions at a Psychotic Hospital. Thereafter, I faced continues ongoing detriments at my placements. An attempt was made to fail me at PLO4 on the basis of a fabricated security issue. My awarded grade was lowered from B to D with intervention of University’s Link Tutor by assigning me an unqualified Mentor to manipulate my Grades. He said to my face ‘Farida you look for your corner and I will look for mine.’PLO4 Manager threatened to fail me quoting a student who was failed twice. She further wrote an email correspondence about me that “It will enable her next mentor to assess her competency and give her the realization of her practice.” Consequently, PLO5 was the most humiliating, degrading and abusive experience I ever had in my life. 
 
At PLO4, Link Tutor made unprecedented 6 visits, met Manager and Staff, agenda of which was not known to me. I experienced hostility and omission by Mentor and staff on the onset which was brought to the attention of University. I also complained that I was not achieving learning objectives and requested a change of placement which was denied.  

University sent 2 or more students at one setting but I was sent alone at PLO4. LT informed that PLO4 staff had accused me of acting as an ‘inspector’ and not as ‘a student nurse.’ He stated that I had made accusations about PLO4 staff.  I explained that I had not reported 13 malpractices witnessed at PLO4. Understandably, my reporting of malpractices was disliked by LT and the staff. 
 
My Mentor was changed. New Mentor awarded me grade B in the last week of placement. LT stopped her from posting the grade on my portfolio saying ‘We will do it later.’ Thereafter, grade D was posted on my portfolio after 5 weeks.  
A complaint was submitted with my PAT. In the investigation meeting, I was informed that I had the right to ask the Mentor why my grade was changed. I enquired from the Mentor, she replied ‘I will meet LT and will inform.’ Mentor informed me that she had met LT and advised me to ask LT why I had been downgraded. When I asked LT, he conveyed that the grade was changed when other staff members were asked. This is unjust and conflict of interest as I had reported hostility of staff and malpractices observed at PLO4; and now the staffs were giving untrue and defamatory negative comments which were not investigated by the University despite written complaint.  

When I informed my classmates about grade change, Class Rep stated on closed social media “We cannot let Mentors to bully us. We have to form a support group,” to which all the class agreed. When we were gathering for the scheduled meeting, we learnt that Class Rep had been called by LT who, apparently, warned her to stay away from my affairs. Thus, LT severed off any support I may have had from my class fellows and left me in a situation where I had no trust or support from the University or my class mates. 

PLO4 Mentor showed LT feedback saying ‘I have got excellent written feedback from families and carers of SUs about Farida’s work and interaction with them.’ LT was dismissive saying, ‘These are wrong forms, send them other forms,’ which clearly shows the unfair treatment of LT and his intention to manipulate my assessments causing me distress.  
LT never acknowledged any of my achievements including Testimonials from patients, selection as Care Maker and Nomination for Award etc.
 
Another concern identified at PLO4 was noted when Manager asked me what I would do if failed the placement. I replied ‘I will try again.’ To this she said: “We failed a student, and when he repeated, we failed him again. Now he works at MacDonald’s.” This was an open threat to me and at the same times shows how the staff and LTs misuse their powers.  

I requested Head of Pre & Post Nursing Registration for help to sort unjust lowering of my grade at PLO4. She complained to NH that ‘her colleagues were getting stressed because of my request therefore she will not employ me in her Trust.’  
 
I attended a Roundtable Discussion at No 10 Downing Street in the capacity of a Care Maker and touched my situation briefly as one point of discussion was ‘Problems faced by Student Nurses at their Current Placements.’ I was directed to Director Health Education who requested an email update. On compliance, she sent various requests to the University to arrange a Teleconference amongst herself, my PAT and myself which was ignored by Nursing Head. 

Later Care Regulatory body responded to my complaints and ordered an enquiry. Investigations carried out by the University were a collaborative cover up of wrongdoings by University and placement staff. All records were changed at PLO3 which I discovered during Employment Tribunal hearing. PLO3 offered me a compensation of £500 to settle my claim during Employment Tribunal hearing.  
Nursing Head unjustly asked me to produce various statements linked to her unjust Suspension and FTP and assured me that she will consider these hours towards PLO5 which was suspended 3 weeks earlier. NH did not fulfil her promise and my PLO6 was extended for a further 6 weeks in lieu of PLO5. 

Nursing Head finalised and sent Portfolios of my Cohort for issuance of a PIN to NMC and kept me behind as she had no intension to let me qualify as a Nurse. When I successfully passed PLO6, only last piece of work in Nursing Head’s hands was my Dissertation. She assigned Link Tutor second marking who played an instrumental role in lowering my grade and he failed me. I protested to my Dissertation Supervisor and she assured that he will not mark my resubmission. Yet again, Nursing Head assigned him my resubmission and he failed me again. To hide his guilt, he requested a 3rd marker, Module Lead, the same Module Lead who passed my Class fellow within half an hour when she threatens saying “I am leaving this shit out” on a closed Social Media group of our class. 

The students who failed Dissertation were given OK for resubmission except me. Four members of staff refused to look at my resubmission including my new PAT. 
 
I submitted my Formal Complaint to the Vice Chancellor and next day Nursing Head sent me a letter for 3rd FtP. University issued a ‘Termination of Studies’ notification in Nov 2015 before addressing my Formal Complaint. 

Nursing Head and Link Tutor never acknowledged any of my achievements including Appreciation letter from a Hospital along with a Patient’s Testimony displayed on “WE Brilliant Nurses Wall” of the University with the recommendation of PAT and Quality Lead, my selection as a Care Maker, my nomination as “The Most Inspirational Student Nurse of 2014”, published in Local Media. On the contrary, I believe Nursing Head stopped my award.  
 
Unauthorised changes were made on my online Portfolio, Nursing Head misrepresented the facts to Health Education that ‘I was a failing student under Fitness to Practice,’ and ‘I had a distorted perception of self and events.’ All my grades were lowered to D- without any justification. 

My request to know if any specific note was placed on my personal file and the policy under which my grades were lowered was not entertained, even under SAR (Subject Access Request) of Data Protection Act 1998. 
 
Throughout my difficulties I complained to Link Tutors, PAT, Nursing Head, Dean School of Health, Student Advice Manager, Director Student and Academic Services, Head of Pre & Post Registration Nursing, QAF, CQC, NMC, MP, Parliamentary Ombudsman, PM Health Advisor, No 10, Employment Tribunal, Public Concern at Work and, finally OIA. 
 
I received OIA (Office of Independent Adjudicators) outcome on 23.11.2017 which concluded; 
“We consider that the University failed to address fully, or at all, the complaints raised by Mrs Mughal in its outcome report of 2 February 2016 and that the quality and content of the report did not justify the delay in the completion of the Stage 1 investigation. We are not persuaded that it was reasonable to have applied the strict timescale for the escalation of the complaint to Stage 2 in the circumstances. Furthermore we do not consider that the interrelation between the different procedures was clear to Mrs Mughal and that it would have been appropriate to have suspended the appeal processes pending the outcome of the complaint investigation. 
 
We have concluded that the Fitness to Practise procedures are technically not eligible under the Rules of the OIA Scheme because they were not completed. However we observe that: • the University has an obligation to use the Fitness to Practise procedures where it has concerns; and • no adverse finding has been made against Mrs Mughal in terms of her fitness to practise as a professional; and • the Fitness to Practise proceedings did not have a bearing on the decision to terminate Mrs Mughal’s registration which was made as a result of an exercise of academic judgment.” 
 
I was not subjected to any Fitness to Practice proceedings. Furthermore, no adverse findings were made against me.  
 
Accordingly, I kindly request you to order a fact finding inquiry at the Trust to investigate and determine how those, who were given responsibility and authority to train Nurses, breached all Regulations, abused their trust and treated a nursing student in an inhumane and degrading manner, in collaboration with University staff.’ 

PLO5

I publicised the work I had done on my portfolio. Around this time, Nursing Head decided to remove me from my placement and emailed all staff to this effect. I was unaware of her plans and continued with my efforts to get support. 

I shared PLO 5 Mentor’s comments on “a closed media group of my classmates” and briefed them about my difficulties. Nursing Head used this to apply FTP, to effectively terminate my studies. She emailed me to meet her regarding potential breach of confidentiality and planned FTP for sharing Mentor’s comments with my classmates.

My experience of ill-treatment and bullying was extreme at PLO5 to say the least; I quote my Class Rep’s response regarding PLO5 Mentor comments: 
“I would be mortified with those comments, you must be very strong!”
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The New Dean

I wrote an email to the University’s new Dean: 

“In view of the OIA findings, I was not subjected to any Fitness to Practice proceedings. Furthermore, no adverse findings were made against me. As such, there is nothing which stops me to practice as a Qualified Nurse. 

Therefore, my BSc (Hon) Nursing Degree may please be awarded with retrospective effect. To complete this procedure, I am prepared to submit my Dissertation or my previous submissions may please be re-assessed. Dean School of Health is requested to please make a note of it. 

In case of non-compliance, I will request Healthcare Head and Director Health Education England to conduct a detailed independent truth finding inquiry and not as a cover-up to save the reputation of few individuals. 

Time is of essence for me. Therefore, kindly do the needful on priority.”

No response was received.
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The Timeline and Documentation
1. BSc (Hon) Nursing                            3 Years
2. Formal Complaint                            8 Months
3. Employment Tribunal                     10 Months
4. Office of Independent Adjudicators  8 Months
5. Next 2 years (2018 and 2019) continuously writing to Govt Hierarchy and Regulatory Bodies                            to get my Nursing Degree                2 Years

Following documents were prepared for various stages and investigations:

1. The PLO5 Suspension
2. The PLO 3 and 4 Investigations
3. The Fitness to Practice Investigations
4. The Formal Complaint Investigations
5. The Employment Tribunal Submissions
6. The Office of Independent Adjudicators

Before undertaking a BSc Nursing studies, I was working as a Specialist Nursery Nurse.
During my Nursing studies, I started working as Health Care Assistant in Local Hospital to gain variety of experience. And I have been working in the same role and fighting with the corrupt Mafia of this country for the last 7 years to achieve my Nursing qualification.



[bookmark: _Toc26875888]Deaf And Blind Justice On part Of The Health Education England, Government Hierarchy And Regulatory Bodies
In the year 2019; during Feb-June: I wrote various emails to University’s Vice Chancellor, Dean School of Health and Academic Advisor to resolve my issue.

June-Sept: I applied to another University for submission of Dissertation to complete my Nursing qualification. They wrote to the University for transfer of my credits (320/360). The University declined lied by writing that I was under Fitness to Practice, contradicting OIA (Office of Independent Adjudicators) report. 

Oct-Dec: Health Education England, Quality Assurance Team of Education Department, Nursing and Midwifery Council, Whisleblowing NHS and NMC, Members Parliament including Prime Minister were contacted but all to no avail. 

Dec-Feb: Another investigation by a regulatory body with the same fate. 

Who do I turn to seek justice in this country?   

I have not given up and I will never give up unless justice is done!


438

